Perspectives on Advancing an Inclusive and Sustainable Green Economy in South Africa



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA







Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety © Department of Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment (DFFE)

This publication may be reproduced in whole or in part and in any form for educational or nonprofit purposes without special permission from the copyright holder, provided acknowledgement of the source is made. DFFE would appreciate receiving a copy of any publication that uses this publication as a source.

No use of this publication may be made for resale or for any other commercial purpose whatsoever without prior permission in writing from DFFE.

Citation: DFFE, 2021. Perspectives on Advancing an Inclusive and Sustainable Green Economy in South Africa. DFFE, Pretoria.

Disclaimer: This publication stems from a Green Economy Advisory Group (GEAG) project, pursued in partnership by the Department of Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment (DFFE) of the Republic of South Africa; the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP); the Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU) of the Federal Republic of Germany; and the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit/German Society for International Cooperation (GIZ). The views expressed do not necessarily represent the decision or stated policies of any of the partners, nor of any members of the GEAG. Citing of trade names or commercial processes do not constitute endorsement. Designations employed do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the partners concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

The Third PAGE Ministerial Conference took place in January 2019 in South Africa. This publication arises as an action after the Conference, drawing on the four thematic concept notes produced for the Conference. The PAGE partners are the United Nations Environment Programme, the International Labour Organisation, United Nations Development Programme, United Nations Industrial Development Organisation and United Nations Institute for Training and Research. South Africa is one of the PAGE partner countries.

Cover photo: Grootbos Foundation



Executive Summary

Introduction

Human-induced or anthropogenic impacts on Earth's ecological systems have pushed four of the nine planetary boundaries (climate change; biosphere integrity; land-system change; and biogeochemical flows) beyond their safe limits, resulting in environmental crises in terms of biodiversity loss, ecosystem degradation, and climate change. These environmental crises have significant impacts on human health and well-being, society, and the economy.

Climate disasters can damage or destroy productive capital and the supporting infrastructure, resulting in reduced economic growth, job losses, and poverty traps. It is estimated that climate change impacts cost the global economy US\$650 billion (R9.75 trillion) over just three years (2016–2018) and could increase to US\$54 trillion (R810 trillion) by 2040 (DiChristopher, 2019). Diseases like COVID-19 also have a direct link to continued unsustainable anthropogenic pressures on natural ecosystems and biodiversity, such as deforestation, urban expansion, intensive livestock farming, and wildlife trade.

The South African economy continues to face the triple challenge of high unemployment, poverty, and inequality, further exacerbated by the COVID-19 Pandemic. The country is also one of the most carbon-intensive economies in the world. Coal-based electricity generation, carbon-intensive transport systems, and energy-intensive industries continue to drive unsustainable greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, with limited socio-economic benefits or progress against the triple challenge.

Transitional Risks

While South Africa disproportionately contributes to climate change, it is also vulnerable to both the biophysical impacts of climate change and the various socio-economic impacts from international and local responses to climate change, referred to as transitional risks. The frequency and intensity of extreme weather events, such as floods, fires, and droughts, to which South Africa and the economy are highly vulnerable, are predicted to be on the rise due to an increase in global temperatures emanating from heightened anthropogenic activities. The extended drought between 2015 and 2018 had significant impacts on the economy – reduced maize exports alone, cost South Africa an estimated R12 billion in export revenue, with job losses across different sectors of the economy, from agriculture to tourism. The City of Cape Town almost depleted its potable water supply – referred to as 'Day Zero' (Arp, 2020).

South Africa faces several transitional risks, such as carbon trade barriers that threaten the economy's comparative advantage and international competitiveness; missed funding opportunities; job losses; and increased inequality and poverty. Jobs and livelihoods that rely on carbon-intensive sectors are also at risk and need to be carefully managed through a just transition to a low-carbon economy.

A Just Transition

Recognising the threat of climate change and the development potential of green economy strategies, the South African government has embarked on a sustainable developmental pathway, where social equity, economic development, and environmental sustainability go hand-in-hand. A just transition is critical for addressing South Africa's socio-economic challenges of unemployment, poverty, and inequality, while enabling economic development through environmentally-sustainable policy and business practices.

Green nature-based COVID-19 inclusive economic recovery policies can provide win-win solutions for people, business, and nature, in catalysing the transition to an inclusive sustainable economy. As such, they will not only mitigate the impacts of future environmental degradation, but also uphold the value of nature, upon which economic development and human well-being is dependent. This **Green Economy Technical Report** provides an overview of the following:

- Strategies and policies for a green economy;
- Sustainable finance for a green economy;
- Sustainable consumption and production for a circular economy;
- Economic inclusion within the green economy; and
- South Africa's green recovery from COVID-19.

The report is largely based on the four thematic concept notes from the PAGE 2019 Ministerial Conference, with subsequent additions to align it more closely with the current context.

Strategies and Policies for a Green Economy

South Africa's low-carbon transition needs to be supported by an effective, enabling policy environment. A single policy measure, such as a carbon tax, cannot affect a transition to an inclusive and sustainable green economy on its own. Nor can a single measure effectively address environmental issues while considering other socio-economic implications. Rather, an inclusive mix of comprehensive, progressive, diverse yet complementary and aligned policy measures are required to enable the transition to an inclusive green economy.

Conducive institutional arrangements at the operational level are also required for ensuring effective implementation of policy measures in support of the transition. Such institutional arrangements are critical for all organs of state, and South Africa has multiple channels for facilitating alignment and coordination between different policies and measures. Targeted interventions also need to cater for a variety of different situations and stakeholder readiness and capacity to transition to support policy implementation.

Given the diversity of stakeholders, and their conflicting interests and priorities, **social dialogue is critical for effective policy development and implementation** in South Africa. Engaging stakeholders through participatory social dialogue is critical for overcoming barriers and challenges, and supports the development and implementation of more relevant, resilient, and adaptable policies. **Monitoring and evaluation (M&E)** is also important for measuring the impacts (positive and negative) of different policies and measures and the progress being made in the transition to an inclusive green economy. While South Africa has various M&E frameworks in place, collating knowledge and information from all these sources remains a challenge. The Green Economy Progress (GEP) Measurement Framework could provide a suitable tool for measuring South Africa's progress towards a green economy and could help to address broader M&E challenges. It is also complementary to existing public sector reporting systems.

This report identifies and discusses several barriers to the green economy, including institutional risks and barriers; domestic policy uncertainty and misalignment; political and economic barriers; and transitional risks.

The following **recommendations** are put forward to address these barriers:

- Strengthen governance across all levels of policymaking and government.
- Develop and align all policy to a common future lowcarbon and inclusive economy.
- Improve policy alignment and coordination.
- Develop and effectively implement a centralised data, information, and M&E framework.
- Mitigate transition risks by improving resourceefficiency of exports exposed to potential carbon trade barriers.
- Implement the Sector Jobs Resilience Plans.

Sustainable Finance for a Green Economy

Funding the transition to a low-carbon inclusive economy will need to draw on both public and private sources of finance, redirect finances away from harmful investments, such as fossil fuel subsidies, and develop and implement new innovative financing models. Understanding how to 'unlock' such significant funding is therefore central to the green transition.

There are two main priority areas in considering best practices for unlocking green finance opportunities (both globally and in South Africa). The first is access to new and emerging markets, while the second is improved risk management in buying down risk to enable investment. Both are important contributing factors for long-term sustainability in the financial sector, and both provide new opportunities to promote green finance through the enabling environment and market practices.

Best practice for supporting an enabling environment for sustainable finance includes employing sustainable fiscal policy; developing and implementing international and national standards (such as Equator Principles); and implementing inclusive finance mechanisms.

Best practice with regards to market mechanisms include dedicated green funds; ethical and green banks; natural capital investment; investments in sustainable agriculture, human capital, green infrastructure and innovation and information; credit enhancement and de-risking investments; umbrella facilities and co-investments; and project pipeline support to improve project bankability.

Barriers to green finance identified in the report include a weak enabling environment for sustainable finance; general economic barriers; negative perceptions of green project characteristics and activities; lack of dedicated funding; lack of bankable projects; and a skewed focus on the energy system (for example, by way of higher levels of investment into renewable energy to mitigate climate change relative to investments in water security or biodiversity).

The following high-level **recommendations** are put forward to overcome these challenges:

- Strengthen the enabling environment for sustainable finance.
- Implement best practice and market strategies for the establishment and enforcement of financing accountability frameworks.
- Implement central bank interventions.
- Issue green and other sustainable bonds.
- Strengthen financial partnerships and multistakeholder collaboration.
- Build on lessons from South Africa's Renewable Energy Independent Power Producers Procurement Programme (REIPPPP).

Closing the Loop on Sustainable Consumption and Production for a Circular Economy

The objective of sustainable consumption and production (SCP) approaches is to minimise the environmental impacts of consumption and production behaviour and support socio-economic development within the carrying capacity of the environment. **Improving SCP is critical for decoupling economic** growth from environmental degradation and natural resource depletion. It is the efficient use of natural resources and the minimisation of waste to meet society's needs, without depleting the planet's finite resources, and conserving them for the benefit of future generations. SCP is regarded as being a cross-cutting element of the green and inclusive transition to a sustainable economy, as it cuts across energy, agriculture, manufacturing and construction, extractive industries, water, and waste sectors. Global best practices for SCP include multi-stakeholder engagement; financial incentives and punitive measures; eco-labelling to promote sustainable consumption; corporate sustainability reporting; and sustainable public procurement.

While South Africa does not have a standalone SCP policy framework, it has embedded such policies and measures into various existing policy frameworks, such as the Carbon Tax Act 15 of 2019 and the Waste Act 59 of 2008 (via Extended Producer Responsibility Regulations). Consumers also have a role to play. They need to be empowered to make sustainable choices through knowledge and awareness campaigns and capacity-building.

The most significant **barrier to the uptake of SCP practices** are behavioural barriers for both consumers and producers. These include individual barriers, such as values, trust, knowledge, and awareness; and structural barriers, such as affordability (price), culture, social norms, brand image, and eco-labelling. Given the levels of income inequality, poverty, and unemployment, price and access arguably become deeply entrenched barriers in the South African context, and are beyond the control of the individual consumer.

The following **recommendations** are put forward for strengthening SCP practices in South Africa:

- Reinforce the enabling environment and ensure policy coherence and alignment.
- Develop and provide mandatory sustainable public procurement requirements across all spheres of government, given its purchasing power.
- Host multi-stakeholder engagements to improve policy and to foster collaboration.
- Strengthen expertise and capacity for circular economy practices across sectors, and improve resource allocation to such activities.
- Ensure that effective M&E frameworks are in place, not only for policy implementation but also for monitoring material availability and movement through a circular economy.

Economic Inclusion within the Green Economy: A Case for Small Businesses in a Just Transition

A just transition is broadly accepted as a strategy to ensure that the transition to a low-carbon green economy does not excessively impact workers and low-income communities who currently rely on carbonintensive industries for their jobs and livelihoods. Going beyond this, a just transition also seeks to take advantage of the opportunities for job creation and sustainable economic development offered by the lowcarbon transition. Another critical dimension of a just transition in South Africa is the inclusion of women and youth in the low-carbon economic opportunities and in decision-making platforms. Micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs) play an important role in South Africa's economy and society, by providing income generation and wealth-building opportunities for people who might not be able to access more formal alternatives. Small businesses also focus on local economic activities and services and play a critical role in local economic development, innovation, and social upliftment, and are integral in pervasive adaptation processes that define an inclusive economy. They are more likely to seize opportunities afforded by a green economy and act as bottom-up agents of change. Small-scale and subsistence farming, bioprocessing, waste picking, recycling, upcycling, and green infrastructure, technology and construction, are a few green activities occurring in the informal economy/small business sector in South Africa. **MSMEs are therefore important role players in a just transition to a green economy**.

The potential benefits for inclusive and suitable development from small businesses remain largely unharnessed, despite their significant role in the economy and society. Further, despite government efforts, growth in small business has remained limited over the past 20 years. This has been exacerbated by the impacts of COVID-19 on small businesses. **Special attention needs to be given to designing incentive and support programmes for MSMEs**.

Barriers and risk to MSMEs in the just transition context include generic barriers, such as limited resources, and the additional challenges that come with green enterprises, such as limited public awareness and demand for green products/services; financial and institutional barriers; limited skills and education; and climate change and transitionary challenges.

The following **recommendations** are put forward for supporting small businesses for a just transition:

- Develop and implement a multi-criteria approach for small business support (beyond just economic outcomes).
- Strengthen collaboration through social dialogue, networks, and partnerships.
- Reframe the regulatory framework for MSMEs in the green economy.
- Reframe skills development for a green economy.
- Enhance knowledge and data for small businesses.

A green and just recovery from COVID-19 should also prioritise small business support, to ensure that they continue to play a critical role in the economy and in supporting a just transition.

South Africa's Green Recovery from COVID-19

The COVID-19 Pandemic has had severe impacts on the South African economy, with significant contractions in GDP growth and employment. These impacts have deepened the structural fault lines in the economy and have contributed to the triple challenge of unemployment, poverty, and inequality.

Economic recovery policies for COVID-19 can have significant future impacts depending on the design of these interventions. If an economic recovery policy follows a business-as-usual approach, with more 'brown' interventions, it risks locking the economy into an unsustainable development trajectory. Instead, economic recoveries should prioritise sustainable or 'green' approaches and interventions. These can support an inclusive economic transition and address South Africa's developmental and socio-economic challenges, while simultaneously decoupling economic growth from environmental degradation. South Africa's COVID-19 response broadly follows a three-phased approach:

- Phase 1 has and continues to implement short-term health responses to save lives and curb the spread of the virus.
- Phase 2 involves interventions to support the economy while also controlling health risks, including short- to medium-term responses, such as the reprioritisation of the National Budget and the R500 billion COVID-19 Rescue Package to support workers and business.
- Phase 3 is a medium- to long-term response, aimed at reconstructing and transforming the economy into a sustainable, resilient, and inclusive economy, outlined in the Economic Reconstruction and Recovery Plan (ERRP).

The ERRP aims to rebuild a sustainable, resilient, and inclusive economy through an infrastructure-led economic reconstruction and recovery pathway, with aggressive investments in infrastructure as a means of stimulating various economic sectors.

The ERRP acknowledges the co-benefits of a green economic transition in addressing South Africa's developmental challenges, while also driving economic competitiveness and supporting energy, food, and water security. For example, the ERRP speaks to how green economy interventions in agriculture can strengthen efforts towards resilient and drought-resistant crops, and in turn contribute to food security and the sector's competitiveness.

According to a report by Cambridge Econometrics and PAGE, a more ambitious green recovery relative to the policies set out in the ERRP are estimated to deliver approximately 5% more GDP growth, 0.5% less unemployment, and 23% lower greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions by 2030. Although the current ERRP, if implemented fully, may deliver positive economic growth by 2030.

Conclusion

While South Africa has made significant progress towards transitioning to an inclusive and low-carbon economy, both in terms of the existing suite of policies and action on the ground, it remains a carbon-intensive and unequal economy.

The COVID-19 Pandemic has presented a glimpse into the future impacts of climate disasters, and while its impacts have been devastating, the recovery presents a unique opportunity to catalyse the just transition to a low-carbon economy for the benefit of all South Africans. There are several **financing options** available for funding a larger green stimulus policy:

- South Africa's debt-to-GDP ratio is in line with other developing economies and there is some space to take on more debt without risking a sovereign debt crisis. South Africa has significant foreign exchange reserves that can be used to cover more foreign debt.
- Judicious domestic borrowing, using mechanisms such as green bonds, climate bonds, or the like of COVID-19 solidarity bonds, could support a green stimulus. This can direct finance into sustainable solutions and the resulting debt would at least be 'green' debt, serving environmentallysustainable ends.
- Fossil fuel subsidies should also be redirected to subsidise a green recovery.
- Quantitative easing (QE) is another option for raising finance and tends to have a positive impact on government's debt portfolio, pushing bond yields down and improving the country's fiscal position.

Contents

List of Tables	12
List of Figures	12
List of Acronyms	13
Acknowledgements	15
About PAGE	16
Chapter 1: Introduction	21
1.1 The South African Context	24
1.2 Structure of the Report	27
Chapter 2: Strategies and Policies for a Green Economy	29
2.1 A Clear Vision for Policy Direction	30
2.2 Policy Cohesion and Alignment	30
2.3 Policy Implementation	32
2.4 Social Dialogue is Critical for Policy Development and Implementation	32
2.5 Tool Kits for Decision-Making, Implementation, and Monitoring	33
2.6 Barriers and Risks to an Inclusive Green Economy Transition	35
2.7 Recommendations	37
Key Takeaways	38

Chapter 3: Sustainable Finance for the Green Economy	39		
3.1 The Global Perspective	40		
3.2 The South African Perspective	40		
3.3 Best Practice: Creating an Enabling Environment for Green Finance	42		
3.4 Best Practice: Market Mechanisms	45		
3.5 Barriers and Risks for Green Finance in South Africa	47		
3.6 Signs of Supporting Green Finance in South Africa	49		
Chapter 4: Closing the Loop on SustainableConsumption and Production for a CircularEconomy53			
4.1 Sustainable Consumption, Production, and the Circular Economy	55		
4.2 The Global Perspective	56		
4.3 Sustainable Consumption and Production Best Practices	57		
4.4 The South African Perspective	60		
4.5 Sustainable Consumption and Production (SCP) across Sectors	63		
4.6 Challenges and Barriers to Sustainable Consumption and Production (SCP) in South Africa	65		
4.7 Recommendations for Strengthening Sustainable Consumption and Production (SCP) Approaches in South Africa	66		
Key Takeaways	67		

69

Chapter 5: Economic Inclusion within the Green Economy: A Case for Small Businesses in a Just Transition

5.1 A Just Transition in South Africa	70
5.2 Small Businesses Play a Key Role in the Economy and in a Just Transition	72
5.3 Small Businesses are Critical for a Green Economy	74
5.4 Barriers and Risks for MSMEs in the Just Transition Context	75
5.5 Recommendations for Supporting Small Businesses for a Just Transition	76
Key Takeaways	79

Chapter 6: South Africa's Green Recoveryfrom COVID-1981

6.1 COVID-19: Socio-Economic Impacts	82
6.2 Lessons from Previous Crises	84
6.3 Green versus Brown Economic Recovery	Policies85
6.4 Responding to COVID-19: South Africa's Economic Recovery Policies	89
6.5 South Africa's Economic Recovery and Reconstruction Plan (ERRP)	92
6.6 Financing a Green Recovery	95
6.7 Recommendations	100
Key Takeaways	101
Conclusion	103
References	106



List of Tables

Table 3.1: Summary of Global Green Financing Initiatives	41	Table 5.1: Summary of Skills and Interventions Required for a Green Economy	78
Table 3.2: Sustainable Finance Initiatives in South Africa	43	Table 6.1: Brown vs Green Recovery Policies: Advantages and Disadvantages	87
Table 4.1: Summary of Initiatives that Promote SCP, Developed by PAGE Member Countries	56	Table 6.2: Summary Analysis of South Africa's COVID-19 Rescue Package	91
Table 4.2: Western Cape Government SPP Commitments and Targets Table 4.3: Policies Promoting SCP in South Africa	59 61	Table 6.3: Key Enablers Identified in the ERRP Table 6.4: Countries Implementing Quantitative Easing (QE)	93 98
Table 4.4: Individual and Situational Factors that Influence Consumer Choices	65	Table 6.5: Summary of the Advantages and Disadvantages of Potential Funding Sources for a Green Stimulus	99

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Human Well-Being and Economic		Figure 6.1: South Africa's Excess Deaths and	
Benefits Derived from Nature	23	Reported COVID-19 Deaths	83
Figure 1.2: Carbon Dioxide Emissions Per Capita and GDP Per Capita (2014 Data) for Selected		Figure 6.2: Comparison of Countries' Stimulus Allocation as a Percentage of GDP	90
Economies	25		



List of Acronyms

10YFP	Global 10 Year Framework Programmes
ADAPT	Advanced Data Planning Tool
AODP	Asset Owners Disclosure Project
ASISA	Association of Savings and Investment South Africa
BMU	International Climate Initiative (IKI) of the Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety
BRT	Bus Rapid Transit
CBI	Climate Bonds Initiative
CDM	Clean Development Mechanism
CDP	Carbon Disclosure Project
CICSA	Climate Innovation Centre South Africa
COSATU	Congress of South African Trade Unions
CPLC	Carbon Pricing Leadership Coalition
CRISA	Code for Responsible Investing in South Africa
CSR	Corporate Social Responsibility
DALRRD	Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural Development
DBSA	Development Bank of Southern Africa
DFFE	Department of Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment
DFI	Development Finance Institutions
EAP	East Asia and Pacific
EITI	Extractives Industries Transparency Initiative
EMF	Ellen MacArthur Foundation
EP	Equator Principles
EPWP	Expanded Public Works Programmes
ERRP	Economic Reconstruction and Recovery Plan

ESEID	Economic Sectors, Employment and Infrastructure Development
ESG	Environmental, Social and Governance
ESMAP	Energy Sector Management Assistance Programme
EU-ETS	European Union Emissions Trading Scheme
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations
FCLT	Focusing Capital on the Long-Term
FEDUSA	Federation of Unions of South Africa
FOSAD	Forum of South African Directors-General
GBCSA	Green Building Council of South Africa
GEN	Global Ecolabelling Network
GEP	Green Economy Progress
GFC	Global Financial Crisis
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
GIZ	Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit
GPP	Green Public Procurement
GRI	Global Reporting Initiative
HLPF	High Level Political Forum
ICCC	Intergovernmental Committee on Climate Change
ICT	Information Communication Technology
IDFC	International Development Finance Club
IFC	International Finance Corporation
IIRC	International Integrated Reporting Council
ILO	International Labour Organisation
IMF	International Monetary Fund
IOE	International Organisation of Employers

IPAP	Industrial Policy Action Plan
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IRP	Integrated Resource Plan
JPOI	Johannesburg Plan of Implementation
JSE	Johannesburg Stock Exchange
LEDS	Low Emissions Development Strategy
MEC	Mineral Energy Complex
MINMEC	Ministerial Political Structure
MINTECH	Ministerial Technical Structure
MSME	Micro-, Small- And Medium-Enterprises
NCD	Nationally Determined Contributions
NDP	National Development Plan
NEDLAC	National Economic Development and Labour Council
NEMA	National Environmental Management Act
NEPAD- IPPF	New Partnerships for Africa's Development Infrastructure Project Preparation Facility
NEVA	National Employment Vulnerability Assessment
NSSD	National Strategy for Sustainable Development
PCCC	Presidential Climate Change Coordinating Commission
PDC	Portfolio Decarbonisation Coalition
PES	Payment for Ecosystem Services
PPP	Public, Private Partnerships
QE	Quantitative Easing
REIPPPP	Renewable Energy Independent Power Producers Procurement Programme

SACTU	South African Congress of Trade Unions
SAFTU	South African Federation of Trade Unions
SAMRC	South African Medical Research Council
SARB	South African Reserve Bank
SASB	Sustainability Accounting Standards Board
SCP	Sustainable Consumption and Production
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
SEIAS	Socio-Economic Impact Assessment System
SJRP	Sector Jobs Resilience Plans
SPP	Sustainable Public Procurement
SSE	Sustainable Stock Exchanges
SWH	Solar Water Heater
SWSA	Strategic Water Source Areas
TCFD	Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
UIF	Unemployment Insurance Fund
UNCED	United Nations Conference on Environment and Development
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

Acknowledgements

Partners

South African National Department of Environment, Forestry and Fisheries (DFFE)
Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit/German Society for International Cooperation (GIZ)
United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)
Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety, Federal Republic of Germany (BMU)

South African National Department of Environment, Forestry and Fisheries (DFFE) Dr Jenitha Badul Leanne Richards Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit/German Society for International Cooperation (GIZ) Gabriele Wagner (GIZ Germany) Nondumiso Dumakude (GIZ South Africa) United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)

Claudia Assmann Rowan Palmer

Green Economy Advisory Group Members

Dr Henry Roman, South African National Department of Science and Innovation (DSI) Gerhard Fourie, South African National Department of Trade, Industry and Competition (the dtic) Nonhlanhla Msimango, South African National Treasury Hameda Deedat, National Labour and Economic Development Institute (NALEDI) Saliem Fakir, African Climate Foundation (ACF) Louise Gardiner, International Finance Corporation (IFC) Gaylor Montmasson-Clair, Sustainable Growth, Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies (TIPS) Mike Mulcahy, GreenCape Steve Nicholls, National Business Initiative (NBI) Shanna Nienaber, Water Research Commission (WRC) Pierre Venter, The Banking Association South Africa (BASA)

Secretariat Services by WWF South Africa

Reinhardt Arp Tjasa Bole-Rentel Nokwethaba Makhanya Khodani Mulaudzi Louise Naudé Naledi Ponoane Mkhululi Silandela

Copy-editor: Barbara Hutton Design and layout: Elsabe Gelderblom, Farmdesign.co.za

About PAGE

PAGE

The PAGE Programme

The Partnership for Action on the Green Economy (PAGE) Programme was launched in 2013, in response to a call to action at the 2012 Rio+20 (the UN Conference on Sustainable Development) in Brazil, for governments, business and the United Nations (UN) to support countries transitioning towards a green economy (PAGE, 2019a; PAGE, n.d.).

The goal of the PAGE programme is to prioritise sustainability across economic policies and practices for advancing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (UN, 2015a) and the Paris Agreement (UNFCCC, 2016). It assists participating countries in contributing towards achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and particularly SDG 17. PAGE supports participating countries in reframing their economic policies and practices around sustainable development, for strengthening the ecological foundations of their economies to support job creation and economic growth, while reducing inequality and poverty (PAGE, 2019a). Through innovative partnerships and tailor-made support, the PAGE programme creates scalable models for transitioning partner countries' economies into more inclusive, circular, and sustainable economies of the future.

> governments and stakeholders for the reframing of economic policies



"Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalise the global partnership for sustainable development" (PAGE, n.d.). greener and more inclusive economy by building the capacity of key individuals and institutions

> policy reform through technical support and analysis at macro-economic and sectoral levels

(Source: PAGE, n.d.)

The South African PAGE Country Programme

The South African PAGE country programme commenced in 2016, offering a unique set of tools, expertise, and networks to help South Africa respond to the diverse and rapidly evolving opportunities for 'greening' an inclusive economy. The Department of Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment (DFFE) is the national coordinating Ministry, while the International Labour Organisation (ILO) serves as the PAGE lead agency in South Africa, wherein a PAGE National Coordinator is placed. PAGE supports policy coordination and collaboration, and helps to improve institutional and human capacities. The South African PAGE country programme was originally planned to conclude at the end of 2020, however, with the impact of COVID-19, it was extended to April 2022 (PAGE, 2019a).

THREE PAGE OBJECTIVES IN SOUTH AFRICA:

- 1. **Collaboration and coordination:** Contribute to better policy coordination, strengthen dialogue, and deepen collaboration in green economy policy planning and implementation processes.
- 2. Enabling factors for green opportunities: Identify enabling factors for selected green economy sectors to promote sector reform.
- 3. Enhanced green economy learning: Strengthen capabilities through green economy training, learning, and knowledge-sharing, including support for national learning institutions in South Africa.

Third PAGE 2019 Ministerial Conference



South Africa hosted the Third PAGE Ministerial Conference in Cape Town from 9–11 January 2019 under the theme: Advancing Inclusive and Sustainable Economies (PAGE, 2019a). The Conference provided an opportunity for key stakeholders to assess their progress and achievements, reflect on lessons learnt, and outline a pathway to accelerate the green economy transition. The Conference gathered 585 participants from 48 countries and was structured against **four primary themes** (PAGE, 2019b):

- 1. How to unlock green finance?
- 2. Strategies and policies for a green economy
- 3. Economic and social inclusion
- 4. Sustainable consumption and production (SCP)

Each theme was discussed in a dedicated session, which offered insights from lessons learnt and identified

tangible tools, ideas, structures, and instruments that member countries, business, developmental organisations, and the general public could use in moving forward and making progress in transitioning to a lowcarbon green economy (PAGE, 2019a).

The Conference identified **five key components** necessary for a transition to a low-carbon and climateresilient economy (PAGE, 2019a):

- 1. A shared vision that unites all stakeholders;
- **2.** Strong political leadership to steer the transition at a national and global level;
- **3.** Social dialogue and citizen participation to drive grassroots support for the transition;
- Partnerships to ensure that the transition is implemented across all sectors of society; and
- **5.** The right legislative framework, policies and incentives to regulate, motivate, and drive behaviour change.

The *Third PAGE Ministerial Conference Report* (PAGE, 2019a) captures the proceedings of the Conference and provides a good summary of the discussions and debates over the three days.

Further, event greening measures were implemented with the event's carbon footprint calculated at 1 260 tons of carbon dioxide (tCO_2) (including international flights) in hosting the Conference (PAGE, 2019b). A total of 1 360 tCO_2 was offset through a locally identified carbon offset project – Reliance Compost – and invariably concluded in the Conference being carbon-neutral (PAGE, 2019b). The Conference concluded with the proposed Cape Town Action Pathways.

Cape Town Action Pathways Towards 2030

The document, *Cape Town Action Pathways Towards* 2030, summarises key policy messages and action pathways that are essential for advancing inclusive and sustainable economies and achieving the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (PAGE, 2019c).

These action pathways include (PAGE, 2019c):

1. Re-invent economies as inclusive green economies.

- Redesign linear economic models of production, consumption and investment, for sustainability and circularity.
- Transform the financial system to serve society, and to drive sustainability and social inclusion to achieve the SDGs and the Paris Agreement.
- Mobilise a critical mass of people and institutions that support an inclusive movement – this is essential for changing political, economic, and social systems.

2. Anchor green policies and strategies in collaborative governance.

- Ensure that policies and strategies for a green and inclusive transition promote collaborative governance, based on trust and broad citizen participation and ownership.
- Ensure that long-term development policies and strategies for a just transition are in place – they are critical for managing the employment and social impacts of the transition to a low-carbon and resource-efficient economy.

3. Focus on economic, social and political inclusion.

Ensure that no one is left behind by the transition, by shaping, acting on and reviewing economic, social, and political agendas together with diverse and often marginalised people and institutions.

- Ensure the inclusion of and participation by women and youth for equitable access to the benefits and opportunities resulting from environmental, social, and economic progress.
- Democratise the ownership of the means of production and strengthen cooperation and trust between government, business, labour, and civil society.

4. Create the future of work we want.

- Reorganise economies towards improved resourceuse efficiency, suitability, and resilience.
- Recognise, promote, and protect work as a fundamental aspect of human dignity, livelihoods, and aspirations of all women and men.
- Ensure that there is the necessary policy support for small and medium enterprises who represent inclusive means for creating jobs for low-skilled workers, so that they are able to benefit society beyond just profitgeneration.

5. Strengthen partnerships and multilateralism.

- Ensure that there are multi-stakeholder partnerships, cross-ministry collaboration, strengthened multilateral systems, and effective international cooperation for the transitioning to inclusive and sustainable economies.
- Strengthen partnerships in research, innovation, technology, finance, and investment – they are critical for ensuring evidence-based decision-making and a robust science-policy interface.
- If required, establish new multi-actor approaches to policy implementation on the ground. Joint programming in the PAGE model should also be encouraged with the aim of growing the number of countries supported to achieve the Sustainable Development Agenda 2030.

The Cape Town Action Pathways envisions the following steps to support countries in the pursuit of inclusive and sustainable economies (PAGE, 2019c):

- Strengthen South-South cooperation to promote exchange between current and graduating PAGE countries, including other stakeholders in instilling green economic transitions.
- 2. Enhance PAGE national governance and delivery mechanisms to promote participation of key state and non-state actors, particularly social partners, the private sector, civil society, and youth.
- 3. **Expand and scale-up the PAGE programme** beyond the current 10-year horizon to 2030 to offer services to a larger number of countries requesting support and wishing to continue their respective financial commitments.
- 4. Integrate action pathways into PAGE programming and related programmes, and promote them in global fora, including the UN Environment Assembly, High Level Political Forum (HLPF), and UN conferences on economic and sustainability issues.

About the Report

The Green Economy Transformation in Cooperation with PAGE – Synergies between Low-Carbon Pathways and Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (in short, the GET Programme 2018–2021) is a Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) and UNEPimplemented programme. It aims to improve knowledge and capacity related to green economy approaches and instruments at the international level and in selected partner countries, including South Africa.

The GET Programme activities for South Africa are inclusive of both technical and financial support, primarily to DFFE, in advancing a low-carbon, inclusive green economy. This support is funded through the International Climate Initiative (IKI) of the Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU). In 2018, GIZ provided support to DFFE in planning and preparing for the 2019 PAGE Ministerial Conference. This included consultative stakeholder roundtables and the development of four thematic concept notes, which provided context and a South African perspective to guide the thematic sessions of the Conference.

In addition to the preparatory aspects for the Conference, the GET Programme supported the DFFE in commissioning this report.

This report is largely based on the four thematic concept notes from the 2019 Conference, with subsequent additions to align it more closely with the current context.



Chapter 1

Introduction



The Age of Humans

Since the first Industrial Revolution in the 1800s, human activity and the rapid expansion of the global economy have pushed four of the Earth's nine critical ecological processes beyond their planetary boundaries¹ (Steffen et al., 2015b). Geologists define this new, humandominated geological epoch as the *Anthropocene*, or 'age of humans' (Lewis & Maslin, 2015; Steffen et al., 2015a).

Four of the nine critical ecological processes pushed beyond their planetary boundaries: **biosphere integrity**; **climate change**; novel entities; stratospheric ozone depletion; atmospheric aerosol loading; ocean acidification; **biogeochemical flows**; freshwater use; and **land-system change**.

Anthropogenic impacts on planetary boundaries have resulted in environmental crises in terms of biodiversity loss, ecosystem degradation, and climate change (WWF, 2018a; IPCC, 2018). These crises have significant impacts on human health and well-being, society, and the economy. Climate disasters can damage or destroy productive capital and supporting infrastructure, resulting in reduced economic growth, job losses, and poverty traps (Arp, 2020). South Africa experienced significant economic and job losses during the prolonged drought between 2015 and 2018, with the City of Cape Town almost running out of water completely – referred to as 'Day Zero' (Arp, 2020).

Diseases like COVID-19, have a direct link to continued unsustainable anthropogenic pressures on natural ecosystems and biodiversity (UNEP, 2020; Lorentzen et al., 2020; Conservation International, 2020; Dobson et al., 2020). Continued deforestation, land-use change, and encroachment on animal habitats, reportedly increase the transfer of diseases from wild species to humans. This is thought to be the main cause for the rise in occurrences of new human diseases, such as COVID-19, and highlights the importance of protecting and restoring nature to prevent future pandemics (UNEP, 2020; Lorentzen et al., 2020; Conservation International, 2020; Dobson et al., 2020).

A sustainable or 'green' economic recovery from COVID-19 is therefore paramount. According to Hepburn et al. (2020), traditional, 'brown' recovery strategies, while potentially beneficial in the short-run, risk locking economies into unsustainable pathways in the long-run. This could reinforce economic dependencies on fossil fuels and continued large-scale deforestation, leading to increased environmental degradation and a potential downward spiral to the eventual collapse of natural systems that support human well-being and economic development.

Green, nature-based economic recovery policies can provide win-win solutions for people, business, and nature. According to a World Economic Forum report on the *Future of Nature and Business* (WEF, 2020a), green recoveries can unlock an estimated **US\$10 trillion** (R160 trillion) in business opportunities and 395 million jobs worldwide, by transitioning three economic systems that are responsible for roughly 80% of nature loss:

- Food, land, and ocean use;
- Infrastructure and built environment; and
- Energy and extractives systems.

"The outbreak of epidemics like COVID-19 reveal the fundamental tenets of the tradeoff we consistently face: humans have unlimited needs, but the planet has limited capacity to satisfy them" (UNEP, 2020).

¹ In 2009 the concept of 'planetary boundaries' was introduced as a science-based approach to monitoring and understanding anthropogenic impacts on Earth's ecological system (Steffen et al., 2015b). It defines nine planetary boundaries, or environmental limits, within which humanity can safely operate.

PROTECTING NATURE AND PREVENTING PANDEMICS

Over the last century, **every year has seen an average of two new viruses spill over** from their natural hosts to humans, including some of the most damaging, such as MERS, SARS, HIV, the 2009 H1N1 epidemics, Ebola and COVID-19 (Dobson et al., 2020). The risk of future pandemics is only getting worse, in terms of increasing incidence and human health impact. Increasing interactions between wildlife and people, deforestation and land-use change, combined with a highly mobile and interconnected global economy, is the perfect melting pot for the rise and rapid spread of new pandemics.

COSTS SAVED

According to Dobson et al. (2020):

Preventing future pandemics through actions to reduce deforestation and habitat destruction could carry a gross cost of between US\$22 and US\$31 billion (≈R352 and R496 billion) per year.

- Reducing deforestation carries an additional benefit of reduced greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions of approximately US\$4 billion (≈R64 billion) per year.
- Therefore, net prevention costs would range between US\$18 and US\$27 billion (≈R288 and R486 billion) per year.

COSTS LOST

In contrast, COVID-19 is likely to cost the global economy at least US\$5 trillion in lost gross domestic product (GDP) in 2020 (Dobson et al., 2020), without including the cost of lives lost. These costs also exclude external or additional COVID-19's impacts on healthcare systems, such as increased morbidity, excess deaths, and the loss of intrinsic social benefits from foregone activities due to lockdowns and social distancing (Dobson et al., 2020).



"Nature provides an estimated US\$125 trillion (≈R2 000 trillion) in goods and services per year for the benefit of people and the economy" (WWF, 2018a).

(Source: WWF, 2018a.)

Figure 1.1: Human Well-Being and Economic Benefits Derived from Nature

In addition to protecting nature by avoiding and mitigating disasters, nature must also be protected to preserve the benefits it provides to the economy and to human well-being. All economic activity and human wellbeing ultimately depend on goods and services provided by nature, referred to as 'ecosystem goods and services'² (as depicted in Figure 1.1). It is estimated that nature provides approximately US\$125 trillion (≈R2 000 trillion) per year in goods and services, making it a significantly valuable component of any country's wealth (WWF, 2018a). Therefore, to remain on the current trajectory of continued and unrestrained pressure on the planetary system, to meet humanity's unlimited needs is inconceivable.

1.1 The South African Context

1.1.1 Overview of the South African Economy

South Africa has benefitted from an abundance of natural and mineral resources to become one of the largest economies in Africa. Since the end of Apartheid, the country has made considerable gains towards improving the well-being of its citizens, with improved access to basic services and reductions in poverty (Stats SA, 2016; PAGE, n.d.; DPME, 2014; Stats SA, 2017). However, economic growth in recent years has been slow, with continual high rates of structural unemployment and inequality, exacerbated by the COVID-19 Pandemic.

In South Africa, the 10% highest income earners make 60% of total income.

South Africa is regarded as one of the most unequal countries in the world (Palma, 2016), with a per capita expenditure Gini coefficient³ of 0.65 (as measured in 2015) and where 10% of the highest income earners make 60% of the total income (Stats SA, 2019a).

Inequality in South Africa manifests itself in more than just income – in wealth, gender, age, sector, and geography. Despite marginal improvements to South Africa's structural challenges over the last two and a half decades, the triple challenge of unemployment, poverty, and inequality remain, and COVID-19 has reinforced these structural fault lines.

In contrast to the real economy, South Africa's financial sector is large, sophisticated, and extremely competitive by international standards.

According to the World Economic Forum's latest *Global Competitiveness Report* (2019):

- South Africa's financial system ranked as the 19th most competitive in the world, with a depth⁴ score of 75.6 (ranked 29th) and a stability⁵ score of 92.8 (ranked 32nd).
- The financial system's market capitalisation⁶ is 302% of GDP (ranked 2nd in the world), with domestic credit to the private sector⁷ at 146% of GDP (ranked 10th) (WEF, 2019).

3 The Gini coefficient is a measure of income inequality. The closer to 1, the more unequal income inequality is.

7 Domestic credit to the private sector is the total value of financial resources provided to the private sector, expressed as a percentage of GDP. This indicator is computed as the sum of loans; purchases of non-equity securities; trade credits; and other accounts receivable that establish a claim for repayment provided by financial corporations to firms and households (WEF, 2019).

² Ecosystem goods and services include provisioning (food and fresh water); regulating (air quality, pollination, and climate regulation); supporting (nutrient cycles and soil formation); and cultural (recreation and ecotourism) benefits to humanity.

⁴ Depth is a measure based on domestic credit to the private sector; financing of SMMEs; venture capital availability; market capitalisation; and insurance premium (WEF, 2019).

⁵ Stability is a measure based on soundness of banks; non-performing loans; credit gap percentage; and banks' regulatory capital ratio percentage of total risk-weighted assets (WEF, 2019).

⁶ Market capitalisation is the total value of listed domestic companies, expressed as a percentage of GDP, calculated as the share price of all listed domestic companies multiplied by the number of their outstanding shares. Investment funds, unit trusts, and companies whose only business goal is to hold shares of other listed companies are excluded. Data are end-of-year values (WEF, 2019).



(Source: World Bank, 2014a; and World Bank, 2021.)

Figure 1.2: Carbon Dioxide Emissions Per Capita and GDP Per Capita (2014 Data) for Selected Economies

South Africa has historically been a carbonand resource-intensive economy due to the interdependencies between the mining and energy sectors, dating back to the Industrial Revolution (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). An abundance of low-cost coal reserves and a dominant primary sector based on mining, mineral processing, smelting, and synthetic fuels production, gave rise to this interdependency, known as the 'Mineral Energy Complex (MEC)'.

Today, South Africa remains one of the most carbonintensive economies in the world. Coal-based electricity generation, carbon-intensive transport systems, and energy-intensive industries continue to drive unsustainable greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, causing South Africa to punch well above its weight in terms of its contribution to global GHG emissions. In addition, South Africa's GDP per capita is well below its emissions per capita. This suggests that the economy is not very carbon-efficient, and that carbon-intensive economic development is not driving economic growth or delivering socio-economic benefits.

Figure 1.2 illustrates the size of South Africa's GHG emissions and GDP per capita in relation to other large economies around the world. Not only is the economy vulnerable to climate change, it also disproportionately contributes to climate change.

South Africa's extensive GHG emissions and carbonintensive economy go hand-in-hand with negative impacts on the environment and its citizens. The negative environmental cost⁸ associated with air pollution and GHG emissions from coal-based electricity

⁸ External costs or negative externalities, are negative side-effects imposed onto a third party (or broader society) by the production and/or consumption of goods or services. By definition, these are not accounted for (or internalised) by those producers or consumers and they are a cause of market failure, in that the market price does not reflect the true cost of the goods or services. The external costs of fossil fuels, for example, would include those associated with health impacts from air pollution and climate change, amongst others, along the value chain (Arp & Keen, 2020, p. 1).

The extended drought between 2015 and 2018 had significant impacts on the economy, for example via reduced agricultural output and effects on tourism and business. Reduced maize exports alone cost an estimated R12 billion in lost export revenue, while the City of Cape Town almost ran out of water – what was termed 'Day Zero' (Arp, 2020).

is estimated at R484 000/GWh of electricity (Arp & Keen, 2020). In 2019 Eskom distributed 200 210 GWh of coalbased electricity for local consumption (Eskom, 2019), equating to an external cost of just under R97 billion.⁹

This significant burden is carried by all South Africans in the form of health impacts from air pollution and losses and damages associated with climate change, amongst others.

1.1.2 The Climate Change Threat

South Africa is a water-scarce country and vulnerable to both the biophysical impacts of climate change and various socio-economic impacts from international and local responses to climate change, referred to as 'transitional risks' (Montmasson-Clair, 2019; Arp, 2020).

According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's (IPCC) *Fifth Assessment Report* (IPCC, 2013), and the *1.5* °*C Special Report* (RSA, 2018), climate change is said to increase the frequency and intensity of extreme weather events, such as floods, fires, and droughts, to which South Africa and the economy are highly vulnerable.

South Africa also faces several transitional risks as countries and sectors begin to transition away from carbon-intensive activities. Jobs and livelihoods that rely on carbon-intensive sectors are at risk and need to be carefully managed through a just transition (Fleishman et al., 2020). Exports will begin to face carbon trade barriers (Maguire, 2020) as international trading partners begin to reduce their carbon emissions, including those imported from other countries.

The continued dependence on coal-based electricity and a high trade-to-GDP ratio suggests that most of South Africa's GDP relies on carbon-intensive trade and exports, and is therefore vulnerable to carbon trade barriers (TIPS, 2013; Arp, 2020). In an ever-increasingly carbon-constrained global economy, carbon trade barriers threaten the economy's comparative advantage and international competitiveness.

There is also a risk that South Africa could miss out on critical funding opportunities as various financial institutions are moving away from financing fossil fuelbased activities. The Swedish Central Bank, for example, sold off its Canadian and Australian bonds due to high GHG emissions in both countries (Reuters, 2019; Arp, 2020). Oil and gas companies are also at risk of potential credit rating downgrades due to "poor profitability, volatile prices and increasing pressure from renewable energy", according to Butler (2021).

1.1.3 Transitioning to an Inclusive Green Economy in South Africa

Recognising the threat of climate change and the development potential of green economy strategies, the South African government has embarked on a sustainable developmental pathway where social equity, economic development, and environmental sustainability go hand-in-hand (PAGE, n.d.). This is evident in the various policies and strategies that have been developed over the last several years, including the National Development Plan (NDP); Green Economy Accord; the Carbon Tax Act 15 of 2019; the Climate Change Bill; National Biodiversity Economy Strategy; the National Climate Change Adaptation Strategy; National Waste Management Strategy; and Extended Producer Responsibility Regulations, amongst others.

Within the South African context, an inclusive green economic transition translates into what has been termed as a just transition to an *"environmentallysustainable, climate-resilient, low-carbon economy and just society"*, as outlined by the NDP (RSA, 2011a, p. 199).

⁹ This value is only based on the external costs associated with air pollution and GHG emissions impacts and can be considered an undervaluation of the total external cost associated with coal-based electricity. The total would include external costs associated with impacts across the whole coal-based electricity value chain, including for example, water usage, coal mining, transport, and waste.

A just transition is one that invests in and protects workers and communities who are vulnerable to both climate change and transitional risks (Fleishman et al., 2020). As such, a just transition is critical for addressing both South Africa's socio-economic challenges of unemployment, poverty, and inequality, while enabling economic development through environmentallysustainable policy and business practices (Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019).

Social dialogue and engagement in various policy processes play an important role in the co-development of sustainable policies for the green economy and a just transition (Montmasson-Clair, 2019). Just transition: an environmentallysustainable, climate-resilient, low-carbon economy and just society, addressing South Africa's three socio-economic challenges of unemployment, poverty, and inequality.

1.2 Structure of the Report

This report is largely based on the four thematic concept notes developed for the PAGE 2019 Ministerial Conference:

- Chapter 2 provides a review of policies and strategies for a green economy, specifically with respect to policy direction, cohesion, and alignment for an effective enabling environment. It identifies barriers and risks to an inclusive green economy and concludes with high-level recommendations.
- Chapter 3 reviews best practices for sustainable finance to support a transition to an inclusive green economy. It discusses potential risks and barriers to sustainable finance and concludes with recommendations for strengthening and unlocking more sustainable finance in South Africa.
- Chapter 4 discusses sustainable consumption and production (SCP) practices and the circular economy model. It provides an overview of SCP best practices, reflects on the South African perspective, and investigates the application of SCP in selected economic sectors. The chapter concludes with potential challenges and barriers, and recommendations to overcome them.

- Chapter 5 provides a short introduction to the just transition and how it is framed in the South African context. It discusses the critical role that micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs) play in the economy and in achieving a just transition. An overview of the barriers that might hinder small businesses' ability to transition is provided before concluding with some high-level recommendations.
- Chapter 6 concludes the report with an overview of the impacts of COVID-19 in South Africa, a review of South Africa's economic responses to COVID-19, and builds the case for a green stimulus policy (and potential financing options) for an inclusive recovery from COVID-19.



Chapter 2

Strategies and Policies for a Green Economy

About this Chapter

This chapter provides a review of policies and strategies for a green economy, specifically with respect to policy direction, cohesion, and alignment for an effective enabling environment. It then identifies barriers and risks to an inclusive green economy, before discussing various tools for decision-making, implementation, and monitoring. The chapter concludes with some high-level recommendations.

2.1 A Clear Vision for Policy Direction

Creating a clear national vision for an inclusive green economic transition is critical for providing the framework and overall policy direction for a sustainable and inclusive development pathway (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). Backcasting¹⁰ from a future vision can help develop detailed pathways and roadmaps for managing and achieving an inclusive transition to a green economy (and green economic recovery from COVID-19).

There are several key policy documents that call for, and support an inclusive green economic transition, such as the National Development Plan (NDP), which outlines the need to transition to "an inclusive, low-carbon and climate resilient society" (RSA, 2011a). The National Strategy for Sustainable Development (NSSD) identifies a just transition towards a resource-efficient, lowcarbon and pro-employment growth path (RSA, 2011b) as a key strategic objective for a green economy. Other strategic policy documents have similar statements (Montmasson-Clair, 2019). However, a potential gap exists in that these policy statements do not necessarily constitute a strategic and coherent national vision (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019), and at times tend to position the green economy as a sector or 'add-on' to other developments in the country. This can result in a perceived lack of consistency and coherence across other policy frameworks critical for a green transition, such as mineral resources or infrastructure investment (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019).

It is therefore recommended that similar policy statements or visions of a just transition to a lowcarbon and inclusive economy, be integrated into key policy documents, such as the Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC), Low Emissions Development Strategy (LEDS), the Integrated Resource Plan (IRP), and in the work being undertaken on the development of Sector Master Plans.

2.2 Policy Cohesion and Alignment

South Africa's inclusive green economic transition needs to be supported by an effective enabling policy environment (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). An effective enabling environment requires adequate alignment, coordination, and implementation of complementary and aligned policies and measures to capitalise on co-benefits to reinforce and achieve their various objectives (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). Therefore, policy cohesion and alignment across all government departments and national and provincial policies, particularly with regards to a just

10 Backcasting is a planning methodology of defining a desired future state and working backwards from there to identify policies and programmes required to achieve the vision. It connects the future with the present.

POLITICAL LEADERSHIP AND SOCIAL DEMAND ARE KEY INGREDIENTS FOR A GREEN TRANSITION

The transition to an inclusive green economy cannot be managed by a one-size-fits-all approach. It requires social demand and leadership from the highest levels of government (Montmasson-Clair, 2019). Political leadership must provide clear direction and create opportunities for sustainable economic development, which could foster public support if implemented correctly.

Yet, it is society that instinctively demands, shapes, and reacts to policies – either supporting or resisting them. It is here, at the interface between policy and social demand that interventions must foster awareness and adaptation, create ownership, and catalyse systemic change. Policies that do not engage wider society and its agendas are often perceived to be irrelevant and unnecessary (Montmasson-Clair, 2019).

Several countries have attempted to put sustainable development on their political agendas via presidential committees and super-ministries.¹¹ South Africa recently established the Presidential Climate Change Coordinating Commission (PCCC), which will "coordinate and oversee a just transition towards a low-carbon, inclusive and climate-resilient economy and society" (RSA, 2020b).

transition, is critical for strengthening the enabling policy environment.



However, there is a risk that certain combinations can undermine each other and lead to adverse side effects, which need to be identified early and prevented (Hood, 2013; Hood & Guelff, 2013). PAGE (2017a) identified 32 Acts, policies, and strategies, at both national and provincial levels, that support a green economy transition. However, since these were developed at different times and potentially even in different contexts, they can conflict with each other and weaken the enabling policy environment (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). For example¹¹:

- There is a misalignment between the various sectoral policies with regards to the responsibility for waste collection.
- Challenges still exist on key technology choices in the energy and transport space.
- There is a broader misalignment between South Africa's sustainability objectives and other developmental priorities, which are at times viewed as conflicting priorities.
- There is still substantial support for carbonintensive industries and sectors, as can be seen in the Economic Reconstruction and Recovery Plan (ERRP) and extensive fossil fuel subsidies (Burton et al., 2018; Rennkamps et al., 2018; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). Rather, support should be directed to sustainable and inclusive activities that can simultaneously address South Africa's developmental and environmental priorities.

However, South Africa has made progress in this regard, as is evident in the roll-out of the Renewable Energy Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme (REIPPPP); Bus Rapid Transit (BRT); Expanded Public Works Programmes (EPWP); and Sector Master Plans, amongst others (PAGE, 2017a). Consultation within government also occurs within the cluster and cabinet processes, to ensure alignment and to remove conflicts between policies.

¹¹ For example, France's Ministry of Ecology, Energy, Sustainable Development and Spatial Planning, and Colombia's Ministry of Environment and Sustainable Development (Montmasson-Clair, 2019).

2.3 Policy Implementation

Various policies and measures have been implemented across South Africa to support the green economic transition. These include fiscal- and market-based measures (taxes, subsidies, and trading schemes), and regulatory measures (standards and regulations). Voluntary measures (industrial agreements, voluntary certification, sectoral targets and pacts, and community action) also play a vital role in policy implementation, and often precede mandatory regulations (Somanathan et al., 2014; Montmasson-Clair, 2019).

At times, policies and measures do not account for transitional implications across value chains, impacting their effective implementation. In other words, they do not adequately account for the diverse socio-economic impacts of a transition along a particular value chain, and fail to propose tailored solutions. For example, the industrial development component of the mix of policy measures must simultaneously deal with firms that will benefit directly from the transition, and those that are threatened by it. Yet these constraints and difficulties remain largely unexplored (Montmasson-Clair, 2016). However, the updated National Employment Vulnerability Assessment (NEVA) and Sector Job Resilience Plans (SJRP) should shed some light on transitional employment impacts and strengthen the enabling environment.

Conducive institutional arrangements at the operational level are also required for ensuring effective implementation of policy measures in support of the transition (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). Such institutional arrangements are critical for all organs of state, and South Africa has multiple channels for facilitating alignment and coordination between different policies and measures, for example:

- The Forum of South African Directors-General (FOSAD);
- The Economic Sectors, Employment and Infrastructure Development (ESEID) Cluster;
- The Ministerial Political Structure (MINMEC);
- The Ministerial Technical Structure (MINTECH); and
- The Intergovernmental Committee on Climate Change (ICCC).

Despite these various channels, managing the transition to an inclusive green economy remains a key challenge, with instances of uncoordinated and duplicated work and contested responsibilities (Montmasson-Clair, 2019).

Targeted interventions also need to cater for a variety of different situations. Stakeholders with the capacity to transition on their own, for example, need to be further enabled, encouraged, or nudged in the right direction. Those that have limited capacity to transition need to be pulled up through government interventions to prevent the risk of socio-economic marginalisation as a result of the transition (Montmasson-Clair, 2019).

Therefore, differentiated and coordinated action is critical for addressing South Africa's socio-economic challenges, while gradually but purposefully, transitioning to a carbon-neutral and sustainable economic model (Montmasson-Clair, 2018).

2.4 Social Dialogue is Critical for Policy Development and Implementation

Given the diversity of stakeholders and their conflicting interests and priorities, social dialogue is critical for effective policy development and implementation in South Africa (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). Participatory policy processes can help build key partnerships and multi-stakeholder collaboration. They allow for knowledge-sharing and the articulation of alternative cultural and worldviews, while providing stakeholders with a sense of ownership of a particular policy (Gidley, 2016). Engaging stakeholders through social dialogue is critical for overcoming barriers and challenges, and supports the development and implementation of more relevant, resilient, and adaptable policies (IOL, 2012; Gidley, 2016).

South Africa has a rich history of social dialogue, with the establishment of the quadripartite National Economic Development and Labour Council (NEDLAC) in 1994 and various other social agreements and compacts, such as the Green Economy Accord (RSA, 2011; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). New Acts and policies under development also go through a stakeholder engagement process, before going through the NEDLAC process. Trade unions who manage industrial relations are a key component for a just and inclusive transition to a green economy (ILO, 2010).

LEARNING FROM SUCCESSFUL SOCIAL DIALOGUE IN URUGUAY

Through very successful social dialogues and collective action from state-owned enterprises, trade unions, civil society, academia, and government, Uruguay was able to implement a rapid renewable energy revolution. More than 95% of the country's electricity is now derived from renewable sources. Uruguay is also able to localise the production of renewable energy technology, resulting in significant job creation in a just and inclusive transition to a sustainable economy. This is also thanks to a long-term energy policy (2005–2030) that includes and accounts for both environmental and socio-economic priorities (Sierra, 2016).

2.5 Tool Kits for Decision-Making, Implementation, and Monitoring

There are a variety of complementary tools for decisionmaking, implementation, and monitoring of policy. These include education and information provision; facilitated and enforced implementation; social engagement; and monitoring and evaluation tools (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019).

2.5.1 Awareness, Knowledge, and Capacity are Key Foundations

Information and awareness among stakeholders regarding the following is critical for effective policy implementation:

- Government actions (policy, laws, regulations, support programmes);
- Changing market or social dynamics (market and macro-economic trends, consumption and production patterns, technology advancements);
- Stakeholder initiatives (specific campaigns and projects); or
- Knowledge advancement (analytical tools and methodologies).

It is important to analyse stakeholders' knowledge, awareness, and capacity, to identify any gaps or vulnerabilities that need to be improved and strengthened. Various informative tools, such as websites, reports, awareness campaigns, and social dialogues can help address information and awareness barriers (IEA & IIP, 2012; Reinaud & Goldberg, 2012; Somanathan et al., 2014).

A centralised, accessible information repository (or database) for gathering information and analysing the impacts and progress of the green economic transition would be very useful to support informed decisionmaking, policy coherence, and for informing stakeholders (PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). While there are various reporting/monitoring structures in place, such as the GHG Inventory, Air Quality Reporting Frameworks, and the Waste Information Management System, information is often outdated, incomplete, or scattered across multiple platforms, making it difficult to locate, access, and use (PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). Information about financing opportunities, for example, is not available in a single, up-to-date platform for relevant stakeholders to access, making finance more difficult to acquire. Accessing indigenous knowledge, traditional approaches, community-based projects, and grassroots initiatives for consideration and inclusion into policyand decision-making, also remains a challenge (PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). But this is not unique to South Africa.

EXAMPLES OF CENTRAL INFORMATION AND DATA TOOLS

- Mongolia monitors and maps their progress towards the country's Sustainable Development Vision 2030, their National Development Plan 2016–2020, and the SDGs, using the Advanced Data Planning Tool (ADAPT) – a cloud-based application system that supports critical data collection and analysis (Paris21, 2017).
- Brazil have developed a Carbon Efficiency Index through collaboration between the Brazilian Stock Exchange and the Brazilian Development Bank, which provides stakeholders with market and energy-efficiency information and encourages companies to monitor and disclose their GHG emissions. This tool has supported the development of performance indicators used to measure companies' progress on climate action (Kauffmann et al., 2012).

2.5.2 Monitoring and Evaluation for Evidence-Based Policy-Making

Monitoring and evaluation (M&E) is important for measuring the impacts (positive and negative) of different policies and measures, and the progress being made in the transition to an inclusive green economy. This information is critical for informing and adapting policies to remain relevant, up-to-date with best practices, and for addressing any unintended consequences (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019).

Gathering data and generating information on household and company activities, socio-economic responses to different policies, and managing the transition, is all part of the M&E process (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). Without an M&E process it is difficult to measure the success or failure of different policies and measures, and therefore adapting policies to remain relevant becomes difficult.

The information, knowledge, and M&E required for evidence-based decision-making, although growing rapidly in South Africa, remains a challenge. While government does have databases, they are not centralised in one central repository. There is no central M&E framework for monitoring and evaluating changes in macro-economic and market trends, consumption and production patterns, waste streams, resource-usage, or public and private financial flows (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019).

While efforts have been made to address this gap, collating knowledge and information from different sources remains a challenge (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). Examples of such efforts are:

- National Treasury's Financing a Sustainable Economy Technical Paper;
- Green Economy Review of South Africa's Industrial Policy Framework;
- National Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Inventory;
- Mitigation Potential Analysis;
- Waste Information Management System; and
- System of Environmental and Economic Accounts and Experimental Ecosystem Accounts (Mudombi, 2018).

The Green Economy Progress (GEP) Measurement Framework (PAGE, 2017d, p. 1) could provide a suitable tool for measuring South Africa's progress towards a green economy and help address broader M&E challenges. "UN Environment has developed a Green Economy Progress (GEP) Measurement Framework to help countries evaluate their overall progress towards an Inclusive Green Economy and to enable a cross-country comparison of progress" (PAGE, 2017d, p. 1). This M&E tool could be extremely useful in measuring South Africa's progress towards an inclusive green economy.

2.5.3 Tools for Implementation and Monitoring

Templates, guidelines, methodologies, and manuals are among some of the tools available for supporting effective implementation of different policies and measures (Montmasson-Clair, 2019). South Africa has a number of guidelines and reporting structures to support the implementation of policy, such as the *Technical Guidelines for Monitoring, Reporting and Verification of GHG Emissions*. However, this can be strengthened further by promoting, streamlining, standardising, and ensuring easy access to these guidelines and to the reporting structures (Stafford & Faccer, 2014; PAGE, 2017a; Montmasson-Clair, 2019).

Impact assessment tools, such as the Socio-Economic Impact Assessment System (SEIAS), are particularly important for ensuring an inclusive transition and efficient policy implementation. The SEIAS supports policy design and implementation by identifying the most appropriate action for addressing the root causes of socio-economic challenges, taking into account risks, benefits, and interactions with other policies and regulations. It does so by considering five broad criteria and evaluating policies against them: social cohesion;

EXAMPLES OF SYSTEMS TO MONITOR PROGRESS

Brazil has developed the **Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design Initiative** – a green building rating system that promotes and supports the incorporation of energy-efficiency and sustainable designs into operations and buildings (PAGE, 2016).

South Africa has a similar green building rating system. The **Green Building Council of South Africa** (GBCSA) works with public, residential, and commercial sectors to help them design, build, and operate buildings in a sustainable way (GBCSA, 2017). The rating system works on a one-to-sixstar rating, based on a weighted score across nine categories, including energy; transport; water; emissions; land-use and ecology; and socioeconomic factors (GBCSA, 2017). These rating systems can support policy implementation and monitor progress against policy goals.

security; economic inclusion; economic growth and investment; and environmental sustainability (DPME, 2015a; DPME, 2015b; TIPS, 2017a).

2.6 Barriers and Risks to an Inclusive Green Economy Transition

Despite progress on measures to enable a transition to an inclusive green economy, South Africa still faces various barriers and risks that inhibit the transition. These are grouped into cross-cutting thematic areas related to the institutional and economic barriers below. Others, such as financial barriers, are discussed in subsequent chapters.

2.6.1 Institutional Risks and Barriers

The absence of a clear narrative or vision to coherently guide the enabling environment, means that there is a risk that different stakeholders have divergent understandings about what an inclusive green economy is, what its goals are, and what is required to achieve it (Gulati et al., 2018; Montmasson-Clair, 2019). This can lead to multiple inconsistencies between policies and national departments, which could translate into narrow, fragmented, and isolated implementation by both public and private stakeholders (Zikhali et al., 2016; Gulati et al., 2018).

Another potential barrier is the lack of institutional coordination around aspects of sustainability and the green economy, which can restrict implementation on the ground (Gulati et al., 2018). A concept of an inclusive green economy needs to be adopted and implemented across various ministries at all governance levels. While it is easy to argue for it at a rhetoric level, implementing it will face resistance. Therefore, institutional coordination for an inclusive green economy to achieve South Africa's developmental objectives needs to be strengthened (Gulati et al., 2018).

2.6.2 Domestic Policy Uncertainty

Domestic policy uncertainty also remains a potential barrier. A clear, stable, and coherent policy environment is critical for promoting innovation and the uptake of green technologies (lacobuta et al., 2018). In South Africa, however, several aspects for facilitating a transition to an inclusive green economy remain overly dependent on direct policy interventions. This contrasts with the uptake of policies designed to promote renewable energy and energy-efficiency around the world.

2.6.3 Political and Economic Barriers

South Africa faces a number of political and economic challenges that influence domestic priorities and policies, such as the triple challenge of unemployment, poverty, and inequality (Gulati et al., 2018; RSA, 2011a).

In addition, the legacies of Apartheid remain persistent in the economy and society, and political will to transition to an inclusive green economy is also perceived to be low (lacobuta et al., 2018; Gulati et al., 2018). Addressing these challenges remains a key priority for government, and rightly so. However, the narrow focus on economic and social development could detract from the broader vision of sustainable economic and social development (Gulati et al., 2018).



Despite substantial effort and progress to support the transition to a green economy, South Africa has not shifted from a carbon- and water-intensive economic model. The energy sector is dominated by one stateowned entity, Eskom, and abundant reserves of cheap coal remain an attractive source of energy for powering the economy (Gulati et al., 2018). Vested interests and the persistent dominance of South Africa's Mineral Energy Complex (MEC) can also be considered a barrier to a green economy. The MEC represents a vast amount of capital accumulation centred around powerful vested interests and mineral extraction and processing, presenting a significant political barrier to an inclusive green economy (Gulati et al., 2018). However, the REIPPPP has gone a long way to diversify South Africa's energy mix.

2.6.4 Transitional Risks

South Africa also faces several transitional risks as countries and sectors begin to transition away from carbon-intensive activities. Exports will begin to face carbon trade barriers (Maguire, 2020) as international trading partners begin to reduce their carbon emissions, including those imported from other countries. The continued dependence on coal-based electricity and a high trade-to-GDP ratio suggests that most of South Africa's GDP relies on carbon-intensive trade and exports, and is therefore vulnerable to carbon trade
barriers (TIPS, 2013; Arp, 2020). In an ever-increasingly carbon-constrained global economy, carbon trade barriers threaten the economy's comparative advantage and international competitiveness.

Transitioning away from sectors also threatens the jobs and livelihoods of those people who work in, and communities who depend on, those sectors.

Therefore, while the green economy presents new opportunities for sustainable growth, development, and job creation, it also risks significant job losses. Hence the call for a just transition to ensure that these socioeconomic risks are managed and that the transition does not exacerbate unemployment, poverty, and inequality (Scholtz et al., 2020).

2.7 Recommendations

2.7.1 Strengthen Governance Across all Levels of Policy-Making

The transition to a green economy will require good governance through bottom-up and top-down frameworks to ensure broad participation and to stimulate public support, trust, and confidence. This is particularly important for re-orienting the economy away from unsustainable activities to more equitable and sustainable activities.

2.7.2 Develop a Long-Term Vision for South Africa's Sustainable Transition

Through an inclusive process, clarity and consensus must be reached on a long-term national vision and approaches for achieving South Africa's desired future. The Presidential Commission on Climate Change (PCCC) has been established and can play this role.

2.7.3 Ensure Policy Alignment and Coordination

Policy alignment and coordination to address both environmental and socio-economic perspectives, and to prioritise unemployment, inequality, and poverty must be promoted. This can be achieved by aligning sustainable development policies with international initiatives, such as the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), but tailored to local contexts. Sector Master Plans also provide an avenue for ensuring that industrial policy across key sectors is aligned and coordinated around sustainable development priorities. South Africa's multiple channels for facilitating alignment and coordination between different policies and measures, such as FOSAD, the ESEID cluster, MINMEC, MINTECH, and the ICCC, should be coordinated around sustainable development imperatives.

2.7.4 Develop and Implement a Centralised Data, Information, and M&E Repository

An option for future consideration is a centralised, accessible information repository (or database) for cataloguing green policies, frameworks, regulations, and initiatives; sharing best practices, knowledge, and tools; and outlining key stakeholder engagement opportunities. Such a repository or database should also monitor and evaluate the progress and impacts of different policies and measures for the green transition. It could be built on the back of existing frameworks and housed within Statistic South Africa, or the Department of Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation.

2.7.5 Mitigate Transition Risks

Mitigating transition risks is a critical part of the just transition and can be achieved through various activities. Two high-level recommendations in this regard are to:

- Improve resource-use efficiency (energy and water in particular) of export commodities exposed to potential carbon trade barriers; and
- Mitigate carbon-intensive job and livelihood losses by reviewing the NEVA (Makgetla et al., 2019) and implementing SJRPs (TIPS, 2020a).

Key Takeaways

1. Transition planning is important.

- Co-develop a 2050 vision for an inclusive and sustainable South Africa and backcast to develop clear roadmaps that outline socio-economic transitions across different sectors.
- Build a framework or roadmap for the transition, considering economic, social, and environmental elements in a holistic fashion.

2. Build stakeholder capacity.

Develop the skills base for the transition and build capacity within all stakeholders to host meaningful and inclusive engagement, and enable them to benefit from the transition.

3. Establish transparent information systems.

- Establish a robust and extensive information system – a 'one-stop shop' – on the socioeconomic and environmental dynamics of the transition.
- Design suitable tools and platforms for knowledge-sharing and the co-development of policy by government, the private sector, labour, communities, and civil society.

4. Commit to social dialogue.

Commit to fostering long-term inclusive, continuous, inter-stakeholder dialogue on the vision and management of a just transition, between government and social partners, as well as within government.

5. Improve policy coherence and consistency.

Prioritise the double mainstreaming of sustainability into socio-economic policy and socio-economic considerations into environmental policy, with a focus on operationalising existing policies and improving their coherence and coordination. **Chapter 3**

Photo: Discovery 1, Sandto

Sustainable Finance for the Green Economy

About this Chapter

Chapter 3 reviews best practices for sustainable finance (from both an enabling environment and market mechanism perspective) to support a transition to an inclusive green economy. The chapter further elaborates upon potential risks and barriers to sustainable finance and concludes with recommendations for strengthening and unlocking more sustainable financing options in South Africa.

3.1 The Global Perspective

The global transition to a more sustainable and inclusive global economy comes with a significant price tag:

- An estimated US\$2.5 trillion (R40 trillion) is required to meet the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and US\$13.5 trillion (R216 trillion) to implement the Paris Agreement (UNCTAD, 2014; IEA, 2015).
- These equate to between 7% and 10% of annual global GDP or 25% to 40% of annual global investment (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

While these are separate prices tags, there might be overlap across certain goals, such as climate change mitigation and adaptation. Nevertheless, funding the transition will need to draw on both public and private sources of finance; redirect finances away from harmful investments, such as fossil fuel subsidies; and develop and implement new, innovative financing models. Understanding how to 'unlock' such significant funding is, therefore, central to the green transition. "Sustainable finance is not only about increasing investments through new funding streams but also about finding ways to reorient the world's existing financing streams to be consistent with multiple SDGs at once, that is, to advance some goals without detracting from others" (Kharas & McArthur, 2016).

There are several other noteworthy sustainable financing initiatives that make up a crucial part of the global perspective, which are summarised in Table 3.1 (Kharas & McArthur, 2016).

3.2 The South African Perspective

The National Treasury recently released *Financing a Sustainable Economy Technical Paper* (draft), which was shared for public comment in June 2020 (NT, 2020a; NT, 2020b). The draft technical paper signals that the financial sector recognises its role in supporting the transition to an inclusive green economy, and that there is a need for a framework to measure, manage, and report on sustainable finance initiatives in South Africa (NT, 2020a). The aim of the draft technical paper is to support stakeholders to better understand environmental and social risks from climate change, pollution, resource depletion, and environmental degradation, and the financial sector's vulnerability to them (NT, 2020a). In its current form, it does not cover the full scope of sustainable finance mechanisms, sustainable public sector finance, or broader environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues, such as the environmental

Green financing initiative	Description	
Principles for responsible investment	Six principles which aim to incorporate environmental, social, and governance (ESG) standards into investment practices across 1 500 corporate signatories with more than US\$60 trillion in assets under management (PRI, 2020).	
UN Global Compact	World's largest corporate sustainability initiative – it assists 11 000 companies to integrate ESG issues into their business practices. It also launched the Global Compact 100 Index of responsible companies (UNGC, n.d.).	
Task Force on Climate- related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)	Established in 2015 by the Financial Stability Board, it develops consistent climate- related finance disclosure guidelines for companies, banks, and investors (UNEP FI, n.d.). A Task Force for Nature-related Financing Disclosure is also being developed.	
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)	It promotes sustainability disclosures around the world by assisting companies and governments to understand and communicate their impact on sustainability issues, such as climate change, human rights, social well-being, and governance (GRI, n.d.).	
Equator Principles (EPs)	It provides a risk management framework for more than 80 financial institutions to determine, assess, and manage ESG risks in developmental projects (EP, 2020).	
Sustainable Stock Exchanges (SSE) Initiative	A UN Partnerships Programme which offers a global platform for 48 exchanges from 52 countries to explore how best to advance ESG performance (SSE, 2019).	
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB)	It establishes sustainability accounting and disclosure standards for ESG-related topics (SASB, 2018).	
International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC)	It provides an integrated reporting framework for aligning capital allocation and corporate activities for sustainable development across the financial sector (IIRC, n.d.).	
CDP Worldwide (formerly Carbon Disclosure Project – CDP)	It supports over 800 investors, companies, and cities to identify and take action on environmental risks for a sustainable economy (CDP Worldwide, 2020).	
Carbon Pricing Leadership Coalition (CPLC)	It aims to catalyse action towards successful implementation of carbon pricing around the world, and works with over 100 companies and stakeholders to advance global carbon pricing efforts (CPLC, 2018).	
Portfolio Decarbonisation Coalition (PDC)	It supports financial institutions to withdraw capital from carbon-intensive companies, and currently works with 32 major investors with over US\$800 billion (R12.8 trillion) in decarbonisation commitments (PDC, n.d.).	
Focusing Capital on the Long-Term (FCLT)	It encourages a long-term focus in the global investing market to overcome short- term behaviours and to promote longer-term economic progress across generations (FCLT Global, 2020).	
International Development Finance Club (IDFC)	It establishes guidelines for monitoring and encouraging development banks to finance the implementation of the SDGs and Paris Agreement agenda (IDFC, 2019).	
Scaling-up Climate Finance through the Financial Sector (30 by 30 Zero)	It aims to harness the financial sector in targeted countries to considerably scale-up private sector financing for climate mitigation and adaptation projects in line with Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC) targets (IFC, 2021).	

Table 3.1: Summary of Global Green Financing Initiatives

(Source: Adapted from Kharas & McArthur, 2016.)

risks associated with biodiversity loss. The technical paper is expected to address the broader ESG risks in subsequent phases.

Despite its limitations, the technical paper represents a critical first step in developing a comprehensive approach to sustainable finance in South Africa. It seeks to provide an enabling environment by harmonising and aligning definitions, disclosure standards, and governance approaches for effectively identifying, quantifying, and managing environmental and social risks (NT, 2020a).

There are several other sustainable finance initiatives that make up a crucial part of the South African finance landscape, which are summarised in Table 3.2.

3.3 Best Practice: Creating an Enabling Environment for Green Finance

There are two main priority areas when it comes to best practice for unlocking green finance opportunities (globally and in South Africa) – access to new and emerging markets; and improved risk management in buying down risk to enable investment (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). Both are important contributing factors for long-term sustainability in the financial sector and both have new opportunities to promote green finance through the enabling environment and market practices (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

Creating an enabling environment for green finance will support stakeholders and actors to unlock and utilise green finance to support the transition (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). Institutional frameworks that support an enabling environment for green finance include policy instruments, regulations and standards, labelling, disclosures, mandatory targets, informationsharing platforms, and enforcement mechanisms, such as fines (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). South Africa has many of these in place.

3.3.1 Sustainable Fiscal Policy

Fiscal policy provides institutional framing for sustainable finance through incentive schemes, taxes, and public spending (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). Environmental taxes, such as the carbon tax, form part of a larger group of fiscal policy instruments, referred to as market-based or pricing instruments, which also include carbon pricing mechanism, such as the EU Emissions Trading Scheme (EU-ETS) (European Commission, 2020), and trading mechanisms, such as the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) of the Kyoto Protocol (UNCC, 2020). Revenue generated from these market-based mechanisms can be used to finance sustainable actions, such as renewable energy infrastructure investments or energy-efficiency programmes.

Fiscal policy can also provide incentives to encourage more sustainable economic activities and behaviour through low-interest rate loans, tax exemptions, and micro-finance for such sustainable activities (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). For example, South Africa's Carbon Tax Act provides entities with a 'performance allowance' – a tax exemption for being an industry leader and setting the standard for best practice with regards to greenhouse gas (GHG) mitigation (RSA, 2019).

Direct support in the form of subsidies and feed-in tariffs are also important for financing the green transition and can be funded (or redirected) by environmental tax revenues. South Africa provided subsidies for solar water heater (SWH) instalments as part of the goal to install 1 million SWHs and reduce emissions from coal-powered electricity (NT, 2014; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). Green finance can also be sourced or redirected from harmful subsidies, such as fossil fuels subsidies. However, political will is a critical factor for redirecting harmful subsidies and can be influenced by fiscal pressure and a well-informed public (World Bank, 2017).

Sustainable finance initiatives	Description	
Green Outcomes Fund	A blended-finance vehicle and green financial solution that supports green micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs) and green investment funds by funding environmental outcomes around climate, water, waste, and green jobs (WWF-SA, 2020a).	
Prescient Living Planet Fund	It provides long-term investors with acceptable financial returns within a framework that enhances environmental sustainability, by redirecting investment flows towards sustainable opportunities and away from unsustainable practices (WWF-SA, 2020b).	
WWF-SA and Six Capitals ESG Advisory Partnership	It provides vital assistance to South African investment industry stakeholders in assessing environmental risks and transitioning towards long-term environmental sustainability (WWF-SA, n.d.).	
Sustainable Landscape Finance Coalition	It brings together an extensive community of experts and stakeholders to drive the development of finance solutions for effective and enduring conservation in South Africa (WWF-SA, n.d.).	
Climate Innovation Centre South Africa (CICSA)	It provides business development support to start-ups in the South African green economy, in collaboration with the World Bank's InfoDev and the Development Bank of Southern Africa's (DBSA) Green Fund (The Innovation Hub, n.d.).	
National Green Fund	Established in 2012 under the-then Department of Environmental Affairs; and managed by the DBSA, it provides grant and loan instruments to buy down risk; encourage private sector investment in low-carbon economy initiatives; support research and development and capacity-development initiatives.	
'Driving Force for Change' Youth Pilot Initiative	It provides support to enable youth to become that 'Driving Force for Change' and develop and lead environmental initiatives that put South Africa on a low-carbon and climate- resilient development pathway (DFFE, 2020).	
National Treasury's Financing a Sustainable Economy Technical Paper	It outlines the research and resultant recommendations of a process to establish minimum practice and standards regarding climate change and emerging environmental and social risks. It looks at the approach of international financial regulators and the work of local financial institutions (NT, 2020b). There is also a green finance taxonomy under development in South Africa.	

Table 3.2: Sustainable Finance Initiatives in South Africa

Financial frameworks, such as the European Banking Federation's Green Finance Framework (EBF, 2017) and the UNDP's Development Finance Assessment Framework (UNDP, 2017), have been identified as key knowledge and experience-based responses for managing and unlocking private and public sector finance (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

3.3.2 International and National Standards

International and national standards also form part of the sustainable institutional framework to support a green and inclusive transition. Understanding that the financial sector can be perverse, in that harmful activities in the real economy can generate positive returns in the financial economy, means that the financial sector battles to differentiate between its customers on issues related to sustainability (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). For example, mining and extractives sector companies are extremely damaging to the environment and create significant external costs (Arp & Keen, 2020), but also form an important part of financial institutions' client base in several countries, including South Africa.

In an effort to combat this trend and improve the governance of such companies, initiatives such as the Extractives Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) were established and signed onto by several countries (EITI, 2010). EITI sets standards for improving the governance of the oil, gas, and mining sectors, and has helped inform due diligence standards of international finance institutions, such as the International Finance Corporation (IFC) and private sector initiatives like the Equator Principles¹² (EITI, 2010; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

South Africa's financial sector has been relatively proactive in this regard, with the voluntary adaptation of several financial sector sustainability standards, such as the Code for Responsible Investing in South Africa (CRISA) and the Equator Principles. To date, the largest pension funds and asset owners have adopted CRISA, and four commercial banks are members of the Equator Principles Association (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

South Africa is also a member of the IFCs Sustainable Banking Network and established the Sustainable Finance Initiative to foster collaboration between financial sector regulators and industry associations. Some progress has been made to integrate issues of sustainability and inclusion. The Financial Sector Conduct Authority, and the Prudential Authority, are examples of ensuring consistency and coherence across enabling policies and regulations. A centralised information platform where such regulation can be accessed is also required.

3.3.3 Inclusive Finance

Social inclusion is a critical aspect of the green economy and a just transition (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). To overcome challenges associated with financing social inclusion and protection schemes, the Alliance for Financial Inclusion established a number of multilateral financial inclusion frameworks. Some of these include, amongst others, the Maya Declaration on Financial Inclusion (AFI, 2020a), the Sharm El Sheik Accord on Financial Inclusion, Climate Change and Green Finance (AFI, 2020b), and the Denarua Action Plan (AFI, 2016). They each seek to implement financial inclusion policy solutions, such as providing women with access to quality and affordable financial services while also promoting positive environmental and climate resilience outcomes (AFI, 2016; AFI, 2020a; AFI, 2020b; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

Establishing partnerships for collaboration is another important aspect in the institutional framework for supporting inclusive and green finance and is the cornerstone of SDG 17. The IFC's Sustainable Banking Network (SBN) is one such example of multilateral finance partnerships across several countries, including South Africa, that aims to advance sustainable finance in line with global best practices (IFC, 2020).

In 2014 the World Bank established the Energy Sector Management Assistance Programme (ESMAP) to support countries to reduce harmful energy subsidies, amongst other objectives (ESMAP, 2020).

¹² The Equator Principles set environmental, social and governance (ESG) standards for lending to high-impact companies and activities, such as mining.

3.4 Best Practice: Market Mechanisms

Market practices play a key role in unlocking green finance and are identified as a second pillar (next to the enabling environment) for promoting long-term environmental sustainability and inclusiveness in the financial sector (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). The following section provides a high-level overview of green finance products and services from both the public and private financial sectors.

3.4.1 Dedicated Green Funds

Dedicated green funds are financial mechanisms that invest solely in green economy projects and initiatives, such as renewable energy; sustainable consumption and production; water resources; sustainable transport; and natural capital/ecological infrastructure (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). There are various examples of dedicated green funds, such as the *Maurice Île durable* fund in Mauritius and the South African Green Fund. The latter is funded solely by the South African government, and in 2017 managed to leverage R90 million in additional investments (DEA, 2016). However, given the fact that these dedicated green funds are generally funded through public finance, their longterm sustainability is limited due to fiscal constraints (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

3.4.2 Ethical and Green Banks

Ethical banks are governed by ethical principles and only invest in ethical and sustainable activities. Ethical banks have been found to increase social welfare and mobilise greater local currency funding, as they ultimately match ethical lenders with motivated borrowers, reducing inefficiency caused by the agency issue (Barigozzi & Tedeschi, 2015; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

Green banks, on the other hand, are dedicated to green investments that fill climate change and other environmental investment gaps (Coalition for Green Capital, 2017). While green banks are common in developed countries, such as the Connecticut and New York Green Banks in the USA, they are beginning to emerge in developing countries, such as in Chile, India, Morocco, and South Africa (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

3.4.3 Natural Capital Investment

Investments in natural capital and ecological infrastructure are critical for achieving the SDGs, natural resource security, and climate change mitigation, adaptation, and resilience. These kinds of natural capital investments include payment for ecosystem services (PES), direct rehabilitation and management of critical ecosystems, and investment in protected areas (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

The Seychelles entered into the first-ever payment for marine conservation debt restructuring¹³ with its Paris Club debtors¹⁴ and the Nature Conservancy (The Paris Club, n.d.). The island state's debt was restructured to allow for an inflow of grants, and investment capital was used for marine and coastal ecosystem rehabilitation and management, and climate change adaptation (Convergence, 2017).

3.4.4 Investment in Sustainable Agriculture

The significance of the agricultural sector is often overlooked, both in terms of its environmental impact and its climate risk (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). Ensuring that finances are available to support the sustainable and inclusive transition in the agricultural sector (or sustainable agriculture) is equally critical.

There are a wide variety of financial mechanisms available to promote and support sustainable agriculture, and many of them address risks across the entire value chain (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). Covering crops with shade netting to reduce evapotranspiration, improving efficient water-use (including the clearing of

Debt restructuring in support of environmental sustainability targets is a target indicator under SDG 17 (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).
 The Paris Club is an informal group of official creditors whose role is to find coordinated and sustainable solutions to the payment difficulties experienced by debtor countries (The Paris Club, n.d.).

alien invasive species), and insurance (which is often expensive and therefore can be exclusionary), are examples of the various support mechanisms for which farmers need financial assistance (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

3.4.5 Investment in Human Capital

Green finance also needs to support human capital development for a transition to a green economy and the Fourth Industrial Revolution. Educating, skilling, and reskilling workers who are employed in carbonintensive industries is critical for achieving a just transition. Priority must be given to those most at risk from a transition away from carbon-intensive industries (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

In South Africa, an accountability framework for sustainable investments is being developed in a partnership consisting of the Congress of South African Trade Unions (COSATU); the Federation of Unions of South Africa (FEDUSA); the South African Congress of Trade Unions (SACTU); Sanlam; and the Association of Savings and Investment South Africa (ASISA) (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). The ASISA Foundation offers training in financial literacy and education for labour representatives of retirement fund trustees. This includes training on the use of retirement funds for addressing environmental, social, and governance (ESG) issues (ASISA, n.d.).

3.4.6 Investment in Green Infrastructure

Physical infrastructure for transport, energy, waste, water, and information communication technology (ICT) are critical for any modern economy, but have significant environmental footprints. The *Green Infrastructure Finance: Framework Report* (World Bank, 2012) estimated that an additional US\$80 billion (R1.28 trillion) a year is required for green infrastructure projects in the East Asia and Pacific (EAP) region alone. Infrastructure sectors, therefore, also need to transition to a more sustainable model (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). Sustainable bonds, including green, water, diaspora, and climate bonds, offer a good financing mechanism (Gulati, 2018; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). According to the Climate Bonds Initiative (CBI, 2020) approximately US\$94 billion (R1.5 trillion) worth of green bonds¹⁵ were issued in 2020, worldwide.

3.4.7 Innovation and Information Investments

Investment in innovation, research and development in technology, and in methodologies and approaches for a sustainable transition is critical, and finance to support such innovations is equally important (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). The Global Innovation Lab for Climate Finance is one such finance mechanism supporting innovation, where US\$2 billion (R32 billion) has been raised for innovative, shovel-ready climate investments in India, Brazil, and Southern Africa (The Lab, 2020).

Information for, and transparency of, sustainable finance is also critical. In the finance sector, initiatives like the TCFD, the Asset Owners Disclosure Project (AODP), and the Equator Principles, aim to provide transparent information on sustainable finances to support accountability and good governance. They also set standards for sustainable finance and provide independent oversight thereof (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

3.4.8 Credit Enhancement and De-risking Investments

The private sector can often be reluctant to invest in sustainable projects due to a number of factors, such as high perceived risk, policy uncertainty, and extended tenors. Government, therefore, has an important role to play in enhancing credit and de-risking sustainable investments, particularly in the energy and agricultural sectors (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

¹⁵ This measure is only for green bonds that are aligned with the CBI definitions of green bonds, and a taxonomy thereof is available at: https:// www.climatebonds.net/standard/taxonomy.

For example:

- Public capital can be used to provide credit enhancements and attract private capital to sustainable investments, thereby mitigating the perceived risk and reluctance of the private sector to make such investments.
- Government-owned development finance institutions (DFIs), such as development banks, are key providers of credit-enhancement and partially de-risking investments for the private sector.
- Further de-risking efforts by DFIs can take on different forms, from the provision of long-term grants and concessionary funding to direct investments into sustainable projects (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

3.4.9 Umbrella Facilities and Coinvestments

Some countries have difficulty in sourcing international finance for investments, not necessarily because they are 'bad' investments, but mainly due to the size of such investments. Smaller investments, such as lending to MSMEs, lead to higher transaction costs per US dollar spent and can deter foreign investment (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). To overcome this challenge, foreign investors can provide an umbrella facility to local financial institutions, which can then on-lend to smaller entities and projects.

Co-investment for larger projects can be triggered by DFIs or green banks by providing a minimum financing amount necessary to make the total investment viable for the private sector. This will subsequently encourage the private sector to finance the outstanding amount, which is an important approach for using public finance to leverage private finance (UNDESA, 2012; Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

3.4.10 Project Support for Bankability

A challenge that many projects encounter, is that they seldom reach a stage wherein they become bankable (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019). To overcome this challenge, it is critical that all the technical information supporting the project is robust and descriptive on issues of sustainability. Specialised funds and DFIs generally provide such assistance, using dedicated project preparation funds, such as the New Partnerships for Africa's Development Infrastructure Project Preparation Facility (NEPAD-IPPF) (ADBG, 2020).

3.5 Barriers and Risks for Green Finance in South Africa

3.5.1 Weak Enabling Environment for Sustainable Finance

There is a gap in the enabling environment for the South African financial system, in that there is limited policy that encourages and promotes sustainable finance or the prioritisation of ESG considerations in investment decisions. While there are various international voluntary initiatives that aim to provide such an enabling environment, there is a domestic policy gap in this regard (Gulati et al., 2018). In an attempt to close this gap, the National Treasury has developed a draft *Financing a Sustainable Economy Technical Paper* (under review) and is developing a Green Finance Taxonomy for South Africa. Most sustainable finance mechanisms in South Africa are also limited in that they tend to focus on debt financing for green technologies, and overlook equity and capital support opportunities elsewhere in the green economy (NBI, 2013; Zikhali et al., 2016). This limits the ability of businesses to leverage financial support for sustainable activities or investments in the green economy (Zikhali et al., 2016; Gulati et al., 2018).

3.5.2 Economic Barriers

Several sustainable finance barriers are simply linked to features of the broader South African economy (Gulati et al., 2018). For example, current lending patterns, relatively high pre-COVID-19 interest rates, and a broader lack of access to credit facilities for many individuals



and small businesses restrict investment in any activity. These barriers are further exacerbated when attempting to secure finances for green and sustainable activities (NBI, 2013; Zikhali et al., 2016). General market failures have also contributed to systematic bias in the financial sector's assessment of green and sustainable investment opportunities (Naidoo & Goldstuck, 2016). However, recent interest rate cuts due to the financial impacts of COVID-19 might encourage more businesses to take on debt if they can balance the risk of potential poor returns and increasing interest rates in the medium-term.

3.5.3 Specific Characteristics of Green Projects and Activities

Economic barriers are exacerbated by certain characteristics of green activities, projects, and technologies (Gulati et al., 2018). Most have not yet achieved economies of scale and involve relatively higher upfront investments and expenditure when compared to brown and/or traditional investments. Others may lack commercial viability despite having lower life cycle costs relative to brown alternatives. Lack of awareness, track records, and familiarity with green technologies and activities, may also add to the uncertainty and hence the perceived risk associated with sustainable projects, technologies, and business models, further limiting finance (Gulati et al., 2018).

According to Naidoo and Goldstuck (2016), asymmetric information¹⁶ and underestimating environmental risks is a significant contributor to such a financial barrier. Mainstreaming environmental and social considerations into investing and lending activities is about questioning the nature of returns and shifting mindsets away from maximising short-term profits towards longer-term sustainable value (Naidoo & Goldstuck, 2016).

3.5.4 Lack of Dedicated Funding

The absence of venture capital, coupled with the unwillingness of commercial banks and private equity firms to take on risks associated with new technologies and business models, implies that there is a lack of dedicated funding for the commercialisation and scaling-up of green technologies (Gulati et al., 2018). Technologies that do become commercially viable also

¹⁶ Asymmetric information refers to a situation where the buyer has more information or material knowledge than the seller, or vice versa.

have to compete with brown alternatives for a limited pool of investment capital.

There is also a disconnect between new technology funding needs and investment policies or funding rules of commercial funding institutions, which are often designed to support more conventional projects. Green technologies can also be capital-intensive, making them less attractive investments based on appraisal criteria, including payback periods in the short-term, coupled with their risk-return profile (NBI, 2013; Gulati et al., 2018).

3.5.5 Lack of Bankable Projects

Finance institutions have argued that there is a lack of bankable green and sustainable projects and suggest that this presents the single biggest barrier to the green economy (Naidoo & Goldstuck, 2016). There are too few 'good-quality' projects that have acceptable riskreturn profiles and manageable transaction costs, which speaks to the earlier-mentioned barrier regarding a lack of dedicated green funding options.

3.5.6 The Energy Sector Focus

The majority of private equity funds have targeted lowcarbon projects and therefore indirectly create a focus on the energy sector, concentrating funds in that direction (Montmasson-Clair, 2013). Green economy policies skewed towards low-carbon energy also cause most of the sustainable finance to move towards the energy sector (Gulati et al., 2018). In addition, the energy sector has a proven track record, which lowers the risk profile of the 'new' green technology.

However, while the water, waste, and low-carbon industrial development sectors have received some financial support (Montmasson-Clair, 2013), other sectors, such as agriculture and natural resources, have seen little financial support. Low levels of interest from project developers in these sectors are highlighted as another barrier to finance (NBI, 2013; Gulati et al., 2018). Invariably, more needs to be done in understanding why such low levels of appetite exists in these sectors.

3.6 Signs of Supporting Green Finance in South Africa

As discussed, there are many opportunities for green finance designed to support the transition to an inclusive green economy and to achieve the SDGs. Recommendations to realise these have been made earlier, and are briefly reprised here. Some South African examples follow, but these are by no means exhaustive. Sustainability aspects are already included in many finance vehicles and measures in the country, creating an entry point for stronger green economy criteria and focuses.

3.6.1 Strengthen the Enabling Environment for Unlocking Green Finance

Governments can foster green finance using supportive strategies, such as green fiscal reform; supportive institutional frameworks and policies for green and inclusive finance; and information availability through a centralised green finance information platform. National Treasury first put out a draft *Financing a Sustainable Economy Technical Paper* in 2010, developed in consultation with the Department of Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment, industry associations and regulators. The paper includes recommendations for the finance industry and the financial regulators, disclosures, stress testing and building capacity, and developing a green finance taxonomy. Subsequently, fiscal reforms have been pursued, and a revised draft Technical Paper was released in 2020 (NT, 2020b). As at June 2021, the Draft Green Finance Taxonomy Working Draft Version 1.5 was released (NT, 2021).

3.6.2 Implement Market Strategies for Mobilising Private Finance

Market-based strategies for unlocking and redirecting green finance include dedicated green funds; ethical green banks; credit-enhancing and de-risking strategies by FDIs; co-investments for large projects to encourage private sector investment; and umbrella facilities for local financial institutions to support smaller projects and MSMEs. With such strategies in place, investment can be channelled into green innovation, R&D, sustainable agriculture, human and natural capital, and ecological infrastructure, and into establishing project preparation and bankability support facilities.

South Africa's state-owned Industrial Development Corporation (IDC) first issued a green bond in 2012 to finance clean energy projects. As at August 2021, the IDC; DBSA; Cities of Cape Town and Johannesburg; private banks, Nedbank, First Rand Bank, Standard Bank SA and ABSA; and companies, GrowthPoint Properties and Redstone Solar Thermal Power Plant, had issued green bonds (Boulle, 2021).

Blended finance and co-investment is facilitated by a regulatory framework for public-private partnerships (Treasury Regulation 16 of the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 and Section 120 of the Municipal Finance Management Act 56 of 2003, plus government's Private Sector Participation Framework adopted in 2016), and enacted, for example by the Infrastructure Fund. Sustainability aspects are already included, enabling a stronger green economy filter.

Several South African DFIs have economic empowerment as their mandate, for example: South African Microfinance Apex Fund for survivalist micro and small businesses; Micro Agriculture Finance Scheme of South Africa for the poor; Khula Enterprise Finance for small and medium enterprises; and National Empowerment Fund for broad-based black economic empowerment. These can be 'greened' to a greater extent.

3.6.3 Establish and Enforce Financing Accountability Frameworks

Initiatives to ensure transparency, accountability, due diligence, and good governance on sustainability in the finance sector include the TCFD; GRI; CDP Worldwide; King III and King IV; AODP; Equator Principles; EITI for finance in the extractives industry; CRISA; and IFC. Financing accountability frameworks also encourage financial institutions to prioritise ESG-related matters in their risk and financial decision-making processes.

National Treasury's *Financing a Sustainable Economy Technical Paper* recommends companies' disclosure of climate-related risks and opportunities using the TCFD framework, and many players are driving uptake of this.

3.6.4 Central Bank Regulations Play a Key Role

Regulatory interventions by central banks that reduce information asymmetries and encourage financial institutions to prioritise ESG factors into their risk and decision-making processes, will also help to unlock green finance. Starting with a voluntary approach may be useful for countries that have not yet integrated green finance into central bank regulations.

The South African Reserve Bank has made commitments in this regard through joining the Network of Central Banks and Supervisors for Greening the Financial System.

3.6.5 Green and Sustainable Funds

Sustainable green funds can redirect government funding toward a sustainable and inclusive transition. They can be structured so as to invite private sector co-funding.

The national Green Fund, managed by the DBSA, aims to provide catalytic finance to facilitate investment in green initiatives that will support poverty reduction and job creation.

3.6.6 Finance Partnerships are Important

Unlocking green finance will most likely come from multi-stakeholder initiatives, particularly publicprivate partnerships. Multilateral and national-level frameworks are necessary for ensuring transparency and accountability, and that those partnerships are fit for purpose. Blended-finance platforms and sustainability accounting standards are some of the tools available for implementing such frameworks.

3.6.7 Learn from the Renewable Energy Independent Power Producers Procurement Programme (REIPPPP)

Five strategies for unlocking green finance are demonstrated by the South African REIPPPP, which

attracted private and foreign investment:

- Sustainable public procurement of renewable energy;
- Policy certainty and incentives, such as the inclusion of renewable energy in the Integrated Resource Plan and the renewable energy bidding process;
- Co-financing from international finance institutions;
- De-risking investments through public sector guarantees to attract private finance; and
- A programmatic approach that justifies transaction costs, which tend to be higher for once-off investments.

Perhaps similar approaches in other sectors, such as agriculture, transport, and physical infrastructure, might mobilise finance for greening those sectors.

Key Takeaways

- 1. Create a sustainable environment for green finance.
- Involve all financial policies, programmes, products, and services that support the transition of institutions, systems, and economies to an inclusive and sustainable development pathway.
- 2. Consider the estimated price tags.
- An estimated US\$2.5 trillion (R40 trillion) is needed to meet the SDGs (globally), while the Paris Agreement is estimated to require US\$13.5 trillion (R216 trillion). These will require both new, innovative sources of finance and the redirection of financial flows away from unsustainable investments, such as brownfield investments.
- 3. Promote green and sustainable finance best practice.
- Include strategies, such as sustainable/green fiscal policy, developing and/or adhering to international and national standards, sustainable public procurement, and inclusive finance.

4. Adopt enabling strategies for unlocking green finance.

- Include sustainable public procurement; social transfers; standards setting; integrated planning; accounting for external costs; provision of incentives; and fiscal reform.
- Ensure collaboration between government, the private sector, and civil society.
- Establish mandatory ESG accountability frameworks for the financial sector.
- 5. Create market strategies for unlocking green finance.
- Create dedicated green funds; natural and human capital investment; sustainable agriculture; clean and sustainable infrastructure; clean research and development; information management; coinvestment and umbrella facilities; and de-risking investments and credit enhancement.
- 6. Political will is a critical success factor.
- Political leadership is required for providing incentives to support the redirection of finances away from harmful subsidies and internalising external costs of unsustainable investments.



Chapter 4

Closing the Loop on Sustainable Consumption and Production for a Circular Economy

About this Chapter

Chapter 4 discusses sustainable consumption and production (SCP) practices and the circular economy model. The chapter provides an overview of global perspectives and best practices, and reflects on the South African perspective prior to investigating the application of SCP in selected economic sectors. The chapter concludes by highlighting potential challenges and barriers and puts forward recommendations to overcome them.

PRINCIPLES OF THE CIRCULAR ECONOMY MODEL

In advancing SCP patterns, the circular economy model takes this concept one step further by closing the loop between production, consumption, and waste, for further value addition. The circular economy model is defined by the Ellen MacArthur Foundation (EMF) as a *"framework for an economy that is restorative and regenerative by design"* (EMF, 2017). The restorative and regenerative concepts that underpin the circular economy model are based on the functioning of nature, which is itself circular.

The circular economy model aims to limit the use of new or virgin resources, minimise waste, and account for all material flows within a system, to counter the linear consumption and production model (EMF, 2017; McCarthy et al., 2018; de Kock et al., 2020). It does so by re-designing and re-engineering the system and its components, so that raw materials are used more efficiently, and waste is prevented, eliminated, minimised, or modified to become a secondary resource that can be used again as a supplementary raw material in production. Creating and expanding a secondary resource market provides some degree of import substitution benefits, in that it reduces the demand for virgin material imports, depending on the respective raw materials and finished goods a particular country imports or exports (McCarthy et al., 2018).

Circular economy principles aim to enhance the value of natural capital by improving natural resourceuse efficiency and avoiding unnecessary waste and pollution. Promoting secondary resourceuse and sustainable production practices, the circular economy can also reduce the carbon intensity of the system and support climate change mitigation, adaptation, and resilience efforts (EMF, 2017; McCarthy et al., 2018; de Kock et al., 2020). Transitioning to a circular economy model is critical for deep emissions reductions and for transitioning to a sustainable and inclusive economy (EMF, 2019).

Transitioning to circular production models can also generate various socio-economic benefits, such as cost savings and job creation in the waste economy and new secondary resource markets, which can support unemployment, poverty, and inequality reduction. According to the ILO (2018), between 45 and 50 million jobs could be created globally in the services and waste management sectors respectively, in transitioning to a circular economy model. These job creation opportunities provide a critical buffer against employment impacts of the transition away from unsustainable and carbon-intensive industries.

However, the circular economy model is not without its limitations (Jouni Korhonen et al., 2018). While various socio-economic barriers might exist, such as systemic limitations related to collection, the physical scale of the economy, social and cultural perceptions of waste and governance, and management of waste, there are also physical barriers (Jouni Korhonen et al., 2018). Thermodynamic limitations mean that cyclical systems will always consume resources and create waste and emissions. Different calorific values of waste will have differing impacts on secondary product consistency and quality. Simply put, it is close to impossible to continually recycle something back into a new secondary product without some level of virgin material requirement (Jouni Korhonen et al., 2018).

4.1 Sustainable Consumption, Production, and the Circular Economy

Sustainable consumption and production (SCP) was first put on the map by Agenda 21 during the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED) in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil in 1992 (UNSD, 1992). Agenda 21 identified unsustainable production practices and consumption behaviour as key drivers of environmental degradation around the world, and set out a clear plan of action to reduce these impacts and improve the sustainability of consumption and production behaviours (UNSD, 1992; Schafer et al., 2011).

The objective of SCP is to minimise the environmental impacts of consumption and production behaviour and to support socio-economic development within the carrying capacity of the global environment (UNEP, 2015; UNECA, 2018; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). Improving SCP is critical for decoupling economic growth from environmental degradation and natural resource depletion. It is the efficient use of natural resources and the minimisation of waste to meet society's needs, without depleting the planet's finite resources, and conserving them for the benefit of future generations (UNEP, 2015; UNECA, 2018; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

Like the broader green transition, SCP must seek to address socio-economic sustainability in addition to environmental sustainability (UNEP, 2015; UNECA, 2018; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). Social factors include human rights and gender dynamics; inclusion and equity; safety and security; and decent employment. Economic factors include the cost of goods and services, including secondary resources (discussed below); cost of collecting, reusing, and/or recycling materials; and internalising negative external costs from consumption and production (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). SCP is regarded as a cross-cutting element of the green and inclusive transition to a sustainable economy, because it cuts across energy, agriculture, manufacturing and construction, and extractive industries, and the water and waste sectors.



4.2 The Global Perspective

There are various global initiatives that aim to support SCP, including Agenda 21 (UNSD, 1992) as previously discussed (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). Expanding on Agenda 21, the Johannesburg Plan of Implementation (JPOI) was adopted at the World Summit on Sustainable Development in 2002, which set out an implementation plan for pursuing sustainable socio-economic development (UNDESA, 2005; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

In 2012, at the Rio+20 Conference, the Global 10 Year Framework Programmes (10YFP) on SCP was adopted. The 10YFP provides countries with methodologies and tools for developing national and local action plans for SCP (UNDESA, 2014). In 2015, the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the 17 SGDs were adopted (UN, 2015; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

Achieving SDG 12 requires a clear policy framework, with detailed national and regional plans that promote sustainable livelihoods, efficient resource-utilisation, and effective waste and pollution control. Akenji and Bengtsson (2014) argue that SCP policy frameworks can either be integrated into existing policy structures or implemented as their own standalone policies or goals. There is no right or wrong approach in this regard, but rather, policy frameworks need to be designed to suit the particular country context. Within the South African context, integrating SCP practices into existing policy frameworks could be the preferred option, given the lengthy timeframes, governance, and oversight process involved in new policy development.

PAGE member countries have actively developed and implemented a variety of policy frameworks, initiatives, and projects that promote SCP. Some of these initiatives are highlighted in Table 4.1.

In some African countries, such as Ghana, Burkina Faso, and Mauritius, SCP policies and programmes are in line with the 10YFP and targeted at key national sectors with high environmental impacts and energy consumption. These programmes have been integrated into existing policies and communicated widely to foster awareness and collaboration for long-term success (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).



"Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns."

Table 4.1: Summary of Initiatives that Promote SCP,Developed by PAGE Member Countries

South America		
Uruguay	National Action Plan in SCP	
Peru	Eco-efficiency programmes	
Brazil	National Action Plan in SCP	
Africa		
Burkina Faso	Promotes best practices; sustainable breeding training for forage crops and for livestock; pastoral hydraulic systems development; formulated a law on effective guidance on pastoralism	
Mauritius	Initiated an energy auditing system and energy-efficiency regulations for public procurement; implemented water sector codes and regulations, including water audits and rainwater harvesting systems; implemented a green buildings rating system and guidelines, with amended building regulations; provides financial incentives for sustainable actions	
Ghana	Developed water and sanitation technology transfers; regional training and awareness programmes; safe wastewater reuse programmes; integrated water resource management, including Life Cycle Assessments	
South Africa	Developed circular economy and climate smart agriculture guidelines through the Switch Africa Green Programme and partnered with the PAGE programme for undertaking training on the latter	

(Source: Adapted from Ntulie & Semelane, 2019.)

4.3 Sustainable Consumption and Production Best Practices

4.3.1 Multi-Stakeholder Engagement

Engaging with a wide variety of stakeholders in an inclusive and participatory policy process increases knowledge and awareness of SCP policies and programmes among stakeholders, while also fostering buy-in and commitment from them (Gidley et al., 2009; Gidley, 2016). Participatory approaches also foster multi-stakeholder partnerships and collaboration between government, the private sector, and civil society – critical for policy implementation (Gidley et al., 2009; Gidley, 2016). Multi-stakeholder partnerships can also encourage knowledge-sharing, learning, and technical and financial support for SCP practices and policies (UNEP, 2015; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

4.3.2 Financial Incentives and Punitive Measures

There are various policy tools that can be used to incentivise SCP practices or punish unsustainable practices, including environmental taxes (such as a carbon tax); tax incentives and rebates; grants; and fines. In 2019, South Africa introduced a carbon tax as a financial incentive to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and substitute high-carbon goods and services with less carbon-intensive goods and services (RSA, 2019). Water tariffs are also designed to 'punish' high-water users through a tiered pricing approach. In the City of Johannesburg, for example, the first six kilolitres of water for household consumption are free. Further consumption, from 6-10 kilolitres, is priced at R16 per kilolitre per month, and so each tier increases in price, until those using more than 50 kilolitres of water per month are charged at R53 per kilolitre per month (City of Johannesburg, 2020).

4.3.3 Eco-Labelling to Promote Sustainable Consumption

Like nutrition labels on food packaging, eco-labels provide consumers with information about a product's environmental-friendliness (Dreyer et al., 2016), such as the carbon footprint of the product; if it was produced

THE ONE PLANET NETWORK

The One Planet Network is a multi-stakeholder partnership that supports countries with their 10YFPs implementation of SCP and achieving SDG 12. The network focuses on six key support areas:

- Public procurement;
- Tourism;
- Food systems;
- Buildings and construction;
- Consumer information; and
- Sustainable lifestyles and education (One Planet, n.d.).

The network has produced about 400 technical tools and support resources; fostered 88 production process changes and 20 high-level resolutions, declarations, and outcome documents across its member countries; and implemented over 2 000 SCP initiatives around the world (One Planet, n.d.; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

in a sustainable manner; or if the product/packaging is recyclable or not (UNEP, 2015; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). Including this information on products or their packaging, aims to drive sustainable consumption by providing consumers with the relevant information they need to make more sustainable consumption choices (UNEP, 2015; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

However, eco-labels are only effective up to a certain point, at which point the price of the environmentallyfriendlier product and/or service may pose a potential barrier. Access to and availability of environmentallyfriendly products have also been identified as potential barriers when trying to advance the uptake of such products by consumers (Dreyer et al., 2016). The use of eco-labels as an instrument for shifting consumer behaviour needs to be supported by other policy measures and actions, such as consumer education and awareness-raising campaigns on eco-labels and their different environmental aspects (Dreyer et al., 2016).

4.3.4 Corporate Sustainability Reporting

Corporate sustainability reporting is considered synonymous with other non-financial reporting terms, such as Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and triple bottom-line reporting requirements (GRI, 2020). It also forms a crucial part of integrated reporting, which combines both financial and non-financial performance analyses.

Sustainability reporting supports companies with identifying, measuring, and communicating the economic, social, and environmental impacts caused by their day-to-day activities. It also provides a review of a company's environmental, social, and governance (ESG) performance, and demonstrates the links between a company's strategy and their commitment to a sustainable economy (GRI, 2020).

4.3.5 Sustainable Public Procurement (SPP)

Sustainable public procurement¹⁷ (SPP) has an important role to play in the transition to an inclusive green economy, as it stimulates demand for environmentallyand socially-sustainable goods and services (Testa et al., 2016; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019; Sonnichsen & Clement, 2020). However, it must achieve the appropriate balance between environmental, social, and economic requirements within a particular context (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). It is also a critical avenue for supporting sustainable and inclusive finance for the sustainable transition (Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019).

The Renewable Energy Independent Power Producers Procurement Programme (REIPPPP) is a good example of SPP in South Africa, which not only allows for largescale investment into renewable energy (with associated environmental benefits), but also carries employment and local production benefits. In 2015, the REIPPPP attracted R193 billion in investment, with a net benefit of approximately R4 billion to the economy (Department of Energy, 2015). The programme also includes an ambitious 75% local content commitment.

GLOBAL ECOLABELLING NETWORK (GEN)

GEN is a non-profit association of third-party performance auditors that certify and develop ecolabelling for products and services. GEN highlights three fundamental goals behind eco-labelling:

- To safeguard the environment;
- To support environmentally-sound innovation and leadership; and
- To build consumers' consciousness of environmental issues.

GEN aims to foster cooperation, improve information exchange, and harmonise standards among its members and eco-labelling programmes, through engaging with international organisations (GEN, 2020). Through its various eco-labelling programmes, GEN also seeks to promote eco-labelling for a wider reach. The desired outcome of these actions is to foster greater demand for, and supply of, more environmentally-responsible goods and services (GEN, 2020).

In **Canada**, homeowners could receive a support grant of C\$5 000 for improving the energy-efficiency of their homes through the Eco Energy Retrofit Scheme that ran from 2007 to 2012 (NRCAN, 2014; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

In **Denmark**, the price of water was increased by 150% through various water pricing schemes and taxes, which reduced household water consumption significantly (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

¹⁷ Sustainable public procurement (SPP) is defined as the purchasing of goods and services by government, which generate benefits for society and the economy, whilst minimising environmental damage (Sonnichsen & Clement, 2020). Green public procurement (GPP), on the other hand, is defined as the purchasing of goods and services by government with reduced environmental impact throughout their life cycle (Sonnichsen & Clement, 2020).

This has directly led to the establishment of new factories to service the manufacturing needs for both the wind and solar energy industries in the Western Cape (WCG, 2015).

Clearly outlining commitments and targets into SPP policy can support wider uptake and implementation.

For example, the Western Cape Government established SPP commitments and targets, outlined in Table 4.2, into their procurement policy (WCG, 2015). While the targets themselves might be outdated, they provide a good example of how to foster SPP at a provincial level.

Relevant entity Commitment/Target Provincial Treasury implementing To implement 75% local content in procurement by 2019 (Local Procurement National Department of Trade, Accord, 2011) **Industry and Competition** Western Cape Government (WCG) To position the Western Cape as the green economic hub of Africa and to be the lowest carbon province. WCG and City of Cape Town, as major property owners and users of electricity and water, to take the lead in promoting resource-efficiency (Green is Smart: Western Cape Green Economy Strategy Framework 2013) Western Cape Department of To allocate 30% of budget to the procurement of sustainable technologies **Human Settlements** for housing Western Cape Department of To ensure all new WCG accommodation is certified to a minimum of a 4-Star **Transport and Public Works** Green Star rating (Transport and Public Works Annual Performance Plan 2015/16)

Table 4.2: Western Cape Government SPP Commitments and Targets

(Source: Western Cape Government, 2015.)



4.4 The South African Perspective

South Africa does not have a standalone SCP policy framework, but has instead embedded such policies and measures into various existing policy frameworks, some of which are highlighted in Table 4.3. These have been found largely to apply to the following sectors: energy; transport; agriculture; water and sanitation; waste management; infrastructure and development (green buildings); minerals and resources; manufacturing; and science and technology (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

However, South Africa is only in the early stages of sustainable systems change, and there is still a large degree of uncertainty around the application of SCP policies, measures, and practices across a number of sectors, such as agriculture, infrastructure, and public procurement (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). The REIPPPP in the energy sector provides somewhat of a national benchmark for best practice, despite its many challenges. Those sectors 'lagging behind' in the transition can draw on lessons from the REIPPPP.

The policies listed in Table 4.3 aim to provide an enabling environment for SCP, so that the private sector and micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs) can respond positively to sustainability challenges and the green transition (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).



SPP FOR SUPPORTING THE SECONDARY PLASTICS MARKET

SPP can foster demand in the secondary plastics market (or the market for recycled plastic), and plays an important transitionary function for a circular plastic economy. SPP can drive up demand for, and value of, secondary plastic material, and in turn, increase the collection and recycling of different plastic materials. In doing so, SPP can make secondary plastic more price competitive against virgin plastic, and encourage the wider use of recycled material in plastic packaging and products.

Government could mandate that all problematic and unnecessary plastic types and applications (such

as expanded polystyrene, high-impact polystyrene, and multi-layer laminates) be used in applications for the top layer of bitumen on tar roads, or that all government buildings use furniture made from recycled problematic plastic types. Establishing SPP targets and commitments at all levels of government, from national down to municipality level, can be further supported by other policies and regulations, such as the Extended Producer Responsibly Regulations. While this example is strictly a 'transitionary down-scaling opportunity for recycled problematic plastic', rather than an allinclusive circular solution, it could play an important 'transitionary' role in fostering demand in the secondary plastics market.

Table 4.3: Policies Promoting SCP in South Africa

Sector	Policy	Objectives
Economic development	National Development Plan	It outlines the need to transition to an inclusive, low-carbon, and climate-resilient society.
	Green Economy Accord	It increases green economic activity (which leads to investment, jobs, and competitiveness) and promotes the decoupling of environmental damage from economic growth.
	Industrial Policy Action Plan (IPAP)	It promotes the development, growth, and increased competitiveness of the South African manufacturing sector and the economy's industrial capacity.
	Sector Master Plans (Department of Trade, Industry and Competition)	They aim to accelerate growth across key industrial sectors, while upgrading their technological base and competitiveness.
Energy	White Paper on Renewable Energy Policy (2004)	It investigates the medium- and long-term potential of renewable energy.
	Energy Efficiency Strategy (2005)	It encourages energy-efficiency gains of 12% by 2015.
	Integrated Resource Plan 2019	It includes the electricity infrastructure development plan, based on least-cost electricity supply and demand balance, considering security of supply and the environment.
	Renewable Energy Independent Power Producers Procurement Programme (REIPPPP)	It aims to secure renewable electricity generation from the private sector to supply the national grid.
	National Climate Change Response Strategy	It establishes GHG emissions reduction targets and calls for a coordinated and cooperative response to climate change mitigation and adaptation.
	Carbon Tax	It increases the relative price of carbon-intensive goods and services to encourage a behavioural shift to less carbon- intensive goods and services.
	Climate Change Bill	It legislates climate mitigation and adaptation action across the economy.
	Biogas Report: Facilitation of large-scale uptake of alternative transport fuels in South Africa – the case for biogas (DEA, n.d.)	It facilitates the large-scale uptake of alternative transport fuels in South Africa – the case for biogas.
Environmental management	National Environmental Management Act (NEMA) 107 of 1998	It provides environmental management principles, including resource-efficiency, waste-minimisation, and sustainable procurement.

Sector	Policy	Objectives
Waste management	National Environmental Management: Waste Act 59 of 2008 – National Waste Management Strategy	It sets out regulations for sustainable waste management and a circular economy.
	Extended Producer Responsibility Regulations	Section 18 of the Waste Act extends producers' responsibility for their products and packaging to their end- of-life phase, as a means of promoting circular economy principles.
Water management	National Water Act 36 of 1998	It provides for equitable and sustainable protection, use, development, and management of the country's water resources.
	National Water Resource Strategy (2004)	It promotes integrated water resource management across the country.
Sustainable public procurement	Green Paper on Public Sector Procurement Reform (1997)	It encourages sustainable procurement by organs of state and promotes SCP across the country.

(Source: Adapted from Ntulie & Semelane, 2019.)

Providing an enabling environment allows other economic actors to access new markets and develop innovative, sustainable, and circular products, production processes, and business models. Business concerns over short-term competitiveness issues (such as those surrounding the carbon tax) should be evaluated against longer-term competitiveness issues resulting from no action and continued reliance on unsustainable business practices. However, these concerns must also be balanced against longer-term transitional risks associated with key commodities and sectors that might have high international demand now, but which will decrease in a more sustainable global economy. An example of this is reduced demand for platinum (used in catalytic converters in internal combustion engines) in a world of electric vehicles, which do not need platinum (Kay, 2018).

Consumers also have a role to play and need to be empowered to make sustainable choices through knowledge and awareness campaigns and capacitybuilding (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). Civil society has a large responsibility in this regard, to not only inform and mobilise their constituents, but to hold government and the private sector accountable for the sustainable transition. While civil society has played an important advocacy role for sustainability, their efforts also need to encourage sustainable consumption behaviour from the ground up (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). However, in a society with significant unemployment, poverty, and the highest income inequality rates in the world, influencing consumer choices becomes a significant challenge.



Consumers also have a role to play and need to be empowered to make sustainable choices through knowledge, awareness campaigns, and capacity-building.

4.5 Sustainable Consumption and Production (SCP) across Sectors

4.5.1 Renewable Energy

While renewable energy itself is sustainable and resource-efficient/circular in nature, the technology used to harness renewable energy is not. Wind turbines, solar panels, and batteries of the early 2000s are reaching their end-of-life, and are discarded in landfills (Martin, 2020; Belton, 2020; Chadan, 2020; Shaibani, 2020). The presence of hazardous materials and heavy metals in these components could result in significant pollution and health crises if released into the environment. Therefore, renewable energy technology waste needs to be managed appropriately (Martin, 2020; Belton, 2020; Chadan, 2020; Shaibani, 2020). In addition, the production and installation of these technologies uses significant amounts of finite resources (Gallagher et al., 2017).

However, the cost of recycling is higher than landfill, and the recovered material has a lower value than virgin material, resulting in little interest in recycling these renewable energy technologies (Shaibani, 2020). Closing the loop in the renewable energy cycle is thus the next challenge for industry, specifically with regards to the end-of-life of their products and reducing the pressures on virgin resources (Gallagher et al., 2017). But considering the challenges associated with recycling, these technologies should rather be redesigned for circularity from the outset. According to Gallagher et al. (2017), redesigning technologies for circularity, referred to as eco-design, can improve recycling rates and reduce virgin resource/material usage, thereby reducing natural resource depletion.

4.5.2 Biofuels and the Bioeconomy

Sustainable biofuels present a significant opportunity for sustainable fuel consumption and production in South Africa. Biofuel feedstocks are agro-based and thus present an opportunity to create more jobs in the labour-intensive agricultural sector, thereby stimulating economic development in rural and urban farming areas (Fakir et al., 2019). For example, diversifying the sugarcane industry to produce biobased fuels and chemicals, offers a critical solution to save jobs that are threatened by cheap sugar imports. More jobs can be created by producing bioenergy crops on 'remain land' – land available for biofuel feedstock production once food and environmental sustainability criteria have been considered. Between 80% and 180% of the domestic aviation fuel demand in South Africa can be satisfied by bioenergy crops grown on this remain land (Bole-Rentel et al., 2019).

Further jobs can be created in the collection and extraction of feedstock, which can also be used to produce sustainable biofuels, such as from forestry residues and invasive alien plants. The bioeconomy also offers new opportunities for developing new industries and skilled jobs based on the different processing technologies for biofuels production. These industries will require the expertise of engineers, scientists, and technicians from various disciplines (Bole-Rentel et al., 2019). However, it is important to remain cognisant of

BIOFUEL APPLICATION IN SOUTH AFRICA

Since 2013, Sunchem International has promoted the use of sustainable biofuels in South Africa, with inaugural biofuels flights between Johannesburg and Cape Town on South African Airways (SAA) and Mango Airlines taking place in 2016 (Sunchem International, 2020). The feedstock they use for the biofuel is called *Solaris tobacco*, a nicotine-free tobacco variety, that is grown by both commercial and community farmers in Limpopo.

The *Reya Foya* project was launched in 2017, to introduce Solaris-based biodiesel into the groundhandling operations at OR Tambo International Airport, with the long-term view of scaling-up feedstock and infrastructure to achieve a fully localised value chain for biojet and green diesel production in South Africa (RSB, 2019). unintended consequences and potential trade-offs. For example, resources (agricultural land, water, energy) could be redirected to the production of biofuels rather than food products, which could potentially have adverse impacts on food security.

4.5.3 Water Resources Conservation and Management

The sustainable use of water resources in consumption and production is critical if South Africa is to avoid another 'Day Zero'¹⁸ threat. SCP strategies for improved water resource conservation and management need to be applied throughout the water value chain, from catchment areas right through to the tap and beyond.

SCP strategies for improved water resource conservation and management:

- Ecological water resources, or water in nature, need to be conserved through integrated water resource management policies, water stewardship programmes, and protecting Strategic Water Source Areas (SWSAs) above and below ground. Programmes focused on the clearing of alien invasive species and ecological infrastructure maintenance and rehabilitation, can support water conservation in SWSAs and provide shovel-ready employment opportunities (WWF-SA, 2016; WWF-SA, 2018b).
- Physical water infrastructure (for storing and transporting) needs to be upgraded and effectively maintained to reduce and prevent water leakages (WWF-SA, 2016; WWF-SA, 2018b). Leakages can either be from infrastructure failures, such as leaks, or evaporation from large shallow dams. Floating solar panels on dams and irrigation canals, for example, provide a unique opportunity to reduce evaporation and provide sustainable energy to run irrigation systems (Caboz, 2019). Infrastructure also needs to be designed to offer water recycling opportunities that all productive sectors can implement, with the support of policy and legislation to do so (UNEP, 2015; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). Water pollution and treatment technologies and repair systems are also essential for more sustainable water-use.
- Water consumption and reuse by productive sectors and households needs to be improved upon through

various water-use efficiency strategies. For example, the use of drip irrigation rather than flood irrigation for agriculture, and retrofitting buildings and housing with grey water systems (WWF-SA, 2016; WWF-SA, 2018b). Water-use efficiency and recycling incentives and programmes, such as consumer awareness programmes, harsher penalties for over-consumption, and improved water pricing strategies, can all support more sustainable water-use (UNEP, 2015; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

4.5.4 The Agricultural Sector

Sustainable and climate-resilient agriculture is vital for ensuring that the world's basic nutritional requirements are met, while reducing the environmental impacts of the sector (UN, 2017; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). The application of SCP principles in the agricultural sector can enhance the regenerative capacity of the natural resource base for improved productivity, without disrupting nutrient balances and basic, yet critical, ecological cycles (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). SCP practices may also call upon local indigenous knowledge, and thereby protect socio-cultural elements of rural communities.

The Food and Agriculture Organisation of the UN (FAO) and the UN Environment Programme (UNEP) jointly established the **FAO-UNEP Food Systems Programme** to improve resource-use efficiency and reduce pollution from the food system, while also addressing food and nutrition security (FAO-UNEP, 2012).

The Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural Development (DALRRD), and other relevant national departments, such as National Treasury; the Department of Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment; and the Department of Trade, Industry and Competition, need to drive the implementation of SCP strategies.

^{18 &#}x27;Day Zero' was the projected date that the City of Cape Town would run out of water during the prolonged drought between 2015 and 2018.

This should be an inclusive process, working with a broad range of stakeholders, from farmers to food processors, to brand owners, to retailers, and consumers. Again, multi-stakeholder collaboration is essential for not only implementing SCP strategies, but financing them as well (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019). SCP strategies should be taken further and applied throughout the agricultural value chain – from seed to table. This will support sustainable processing and transportation of agricultural products, reduce food waste, and provide employment opportunities, decent wages, and good working conditions for all along the food value chain (UN, 2017; Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

4.6 Challenges and Barriers to Sustainable Consumption and Production (SCP) in South Africa

Increasing the uptake of more sustainable and circular consumption and production systems depends largely on the willingness of producers and consumers to engage in greener practices and behaviours. A significant challenge in this regard is influencing consumer and producer behaviour (Ntulie & Semelane, 2019).

Joshi and Rahman (2015) investigated consumer choices related to household management, food choices, and transport behaviours for work, leisure, and travel, to examine the extent of green purchasing. The research found that sustainable consumer choices are influenced by individual and situational factors, summarised in Table 4.4.

Table 4.4: Individual and Situational Factors thatInfluence Consumer Choices

Individual factors	Situational factors
 Values 	 Social norms
 Personal norms 	 Culture
 Emotions 	 Price
 Habit 	 Availability/accessibility
 Perceived effectiveness 	 Product attributes and quality
 Trust 	
Knowledge/awareness	 Brand image
U	Eco-labelling

(Source: Joshi & Rahman, 2015.)

Drivers of sustainable choices were found to be environmental concerns, knowledge and awareness, product attributes, and subjective norms. Barriers to sustainable choices were price, availability, and lack of trust (Joshi & Rahman, 2015). Given the levels of income inequality, poverty, and unemployment, price and access arguably become deeply entrenched barriers in South Africa that are beyond the control of the individual.

Therefore, policies and measures should address these barriers, such as subsidising the production of sustainable products, or taxing the unsustainable ones. Policies like sin taxes, or the carbon and sugar taxes, are designed to do just that – provide a price signal to consumers (and producers) and increase the relative price of unsustainable products (those with a high sugar or carbon footprint), so that they substitute for the now relatively cheaper sustainable options. The key issue is that the alternative sustainable option needs to be available and accessible to everyone, otherwise environmental tax policies may have perverse outcomes for lower income-earning individuals (Dorband et al., 2019).

Other non-market policies can also drive consumer awareness on environmental issues and the impacts on their daily lives. Such awareness programmes should ultimately aim to create a culture of sustainability among all South Africans, so that they choose products with less plastic packaging, or reduce red meat in their diets, for example.

4.7 Recommendations for Strengthening Sustainable Consumption and Production (SCP) Approaches in South Africa

4.7.1 Policy Frameworks and Instruments

Gaps in existing policy frameworks need to be identified, while SCP objectives also need to be mainstreamed across national policies. It is imperative to ensure that policy instruments that support or enable SCP are aligned across related sector policies and national departments. Products and services also need to be identified and targeted by policy interventions. For example, there should be a national list or register of key natural resources (and where they come from) upon which the South African economy depends, and which are of high strategic value in a low-carbon global economy. A similar list of secondary resources that are of strategic economic value also needs to be developed and matched against the first. This will help identify where the strategic opportunities lie for a circular economy transition.

4.7.2 Sustainable Public Procurement (SPP)

The implementation of SPP policies and strategies in the public sector is an option to be considered. SPP should be the minimum standard for procuring goods and services across all sectors and levels of government. SPP can play a critical role in catalysing SCP and in supporting secondary markets where applicable (such as in the case of recycled plastic).

4.7.3 Inclusive Policy Processes and Multi-Stakeholder Collaboration

Inclusive social dialogues and active communication of SCP programmes are critical for informing stakeholders, fostering collaboration, and implementing policies. Multi-stakeholder partnerships and collaboration among value chain actors are vital for knowledge-sharing and implementing best practices.

4.7.4 Capacity-Development and Resource Allocation

Sustainable finance solutions are needed to support and encourage business to implement SCP strategies. This includes allocating resources to capacity-development, consumer awareness campaigns, and training, educating, and reskilling workers, to take advantage of SCP opportunities and the Fourth Industrial Revolution. Investments from both the private and public sector into research and development of new technologies or production processes that can improve SCP, is also critical.

4.7.5 Monitoring and Evaluation

Monitoring and evaluation (M&E) in the context of SCP is important for evaluating the effectiveness of different SCP policies and strategies. Changes in consumption and production patterns need to be tracked against the implementation of related policies and measures. For example, measuring the change in national GHG emissions in relation to the carbon tax, which would be achieved through the reporting mechanism in the Carbon Tax Act. Utilising targets and indicators from the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) can support M&E when defining appropriate indicators that become challenging. Global SCP reporting initiatives, such as the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) or the Johannesburg Stock Exchange's (JSE) Carbon Disclosures for listed companies, are critical for measuring progress at the company level.

Effective M&E of resource and material flows throughout the economy could be used in conjunction with a national register of strategic natural, primary, and secondary resources, to develop a life cycle optimisation platform. Such a platform would track and monitor the availability and cost of waste materials that could be used as secondary inputs elsewhere in the economy.



Key Takeaways

1. Integrate sustainable consumption and production into existing policy frameworks.

Sustainable consumption, production, and circular economy frameworks can either be implemented as standalone policies or integrated into existing policies. Given the timeframes, governance, and oversight process for new policy development, integrating sustainable consumption and production into existing policy frameworks is recommended.

2. Promote multi-stakeholder collaboration.

Multi-stakeholder partnerships for collaboration within, across, and between value chains (vertically and horizontally) is critical for formulating and implementing sustainable and circular consumption and production frameworks and policies.

3. Global reporting initiatives drive corporate sustainability.

- Cleaner production has been identified as a 'lowhanging fruit', depending on the sector, given the various climate change and global reporting initiatives that are already in place to drive private sector sustainability.
- 4. Consumers can be key drivers of change.
- With support from government and business, consumers can become key drivers of sustainable consumption and production. A balance of punitive measures and incentives can help influence consumer behaviour to be more sustainable.
- 5. Sustainable public procurement has a key role to play.
- Sustainable public procurement can support secondary material markets by driving up demand and value. It is also a critical avenue for supporting sustainable and inclusive finance for a circular economy transition.



Chapter 5

Economic Inclusion within the Green Economy: A Case for Small Businesses in a Just Transition

About this Chapter

Chapter 5 provides a short introduction to the background of a just transition and how it is framed in the South African context. It further elaborates on the critical role that micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs) play in the economy and in achieving a just transition. An overview of the barriers faced by small businesses that might hinder their ability to transition and take advantage of the opportunities from the transition, is also provided, before concluding with some high-level recommendations.

5.1 A Just Transition in South Africa

The concept of a just transition was born during the 1970s in the USA labour movement in an effort to end environmental damage that was threatening jobs. It was later pursued in labour and civil society advocacy and linked to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) in the 2000s (Scholtz et al., 2020). This advocacy led to the just transition issue being included in the preamble to the UNFCCC Paris Agreement of 2015:

"The Parties to this Agreement ... [t]aking into account the imperatives of a Just Transition of the workforce and the creation of decent work and quality jobs in accordance with nationally defined development priorities..."

The just transition concept was introduced to South Africa when the Congress of South African Trade Unions (COSATU) adopted it as part of their resolution on climate change during their Tenth National Congress in 2009 (COSATU, 2009). In 2011, the Central Executive Committee of COSATU adopted a Policy Framework on Climate Change, which was comprised of 15 principles for *A just transition to a low-carbon and climate-resilient economy: A call to action* (COSATU, 2011; COSATU, 2012).

By the mid-2010s, the just transition had evolved into a much broader set of principles and ideals on how to best manage the employment impacts of a transition to an inclusive low-carbon economy. The South African Federation of Trade Unions (SAFTU) addressed the issue of a just transition at the Working-Class Summit of unions and civil society organisations which it convened in July 2018 (SAFTU, 2018), and the Federation of Unions of South Africa (FEDUSA) has since developed its own policy on climate change. More recently, the concept of a just transition is gaining traction within government and the private sector (Scholtz et al., 2020).

A just transition is broadly accepted as a strategy to ensure that the transition to a low-carbon green economy does not excessively impact workers and low-income communities that currently rely on carbon-intensive industries for their jobs and livelihoods (SAFTU, 2018). However, different actors have differing understandings of the complexities of a just transition (Godinho, 2019). These vary from a focus on active labour market policies to manage the transitional impacts on workers, to those who extend the concept to achieving a more inclusive and just socio-economic system more broadly, and some who question whether a just transition can be achieved in the current capitalist system.

For the purposes of this report, the just transition can be understood as the recognition that active labour market policies are necessary but insufficient to secure an inclusive transition to a low-carbon green economy on their own, and must be complemented by industrial, spatial, and regional economic policies (Scholtz et al., 2020).

5.1.1 Framing a Just Transition in South Africa

The just transition debate in South Africa has traditionally focused on the electricity sector – transitioning from coal-based electricity to renewable electricity generation – and the implications thereof for workers and communities along the coal value chain (Scholtz et al., 2020). While the transition will likely cause job losses along the coal value chain, renewable energy will not only reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and mitigate climate change, but also have the potential to create jobs, sustainable livelihood opportunities, and potentially open new manufacturing opportunities in South Africa (Scholtz et al., 2020). The just transition is about navigating potential trade-offs and ensuring that the benefits outlined above, are equally distributed for the benefit of South Africa's developmental priorities.

However, there is a misconception that job losses in fossil fuel value chains must be replaced by renewable energy jobs (Scholtz et al., 2020). On the one hand, job losses in the mining sector are not only the result of a low-carbon transition. They are also caused by other drivers, such as changes in international resource markets and increased automation from the Fourth Industrial Revolution. On the other hand, different sectors will face different levels of exposure to transitional risks, and their potential for growth and job creation will also be different. Therefore, employment opportunities may not lie in the same sector in which job losses occur (Scholtz et al., 2020). Key would be the creation of new green jobs, such as mine rehabilitation, renewable energy, sustainable/climate smart agriculture, and green manufacturing. Also of relevance, would be the extent to which existing local ownership,¹⁹ socioeconomic, and enterprise development requirements under the Renewable Energy Independent Power Producers Procurement Programme (REIPPPP) should be reconfigured to support the migration of workers into renewable energy (Scholtz et al., 2020).

The just transition is also critical outside the energy sector. Carbon-intensive manufacturing may also experience job losses. But the green economic transition also provides an opportunity for innovation that could drive and support new industries and services with accompanying new jobs (Scholtz et al., 2020). For example, South Africa's vehicle manufacturing sector needs to transition towards the production of electric vehicles in response to global market trends or risk leaving the industry stranded. However, this might also cause negative impacts in the platinum industry as

SUMMARISING THE NEED FOR A JUST TRANSITION IN SOUTH AFRICA

The transition to a low-carbon economy presents a risk to labour in fossil fuel-based and carbonintensive industries, particularly along the coalbased electricity value chain (Scholtz et al., 2020). Given the existing high unemployment rate in South Africa, which has been further exacerbated by the COVID-19 Pandemic, the transition will need to be carefully managed through skills development, employment, and social protection programmes, to minimise negative employment impacts.

Going beyond this, a just transition also seeks to take advantage of the opportunities for job creation and sustainable economic development offered by the low-carbon transition (Scholtz et al., 2020). Policy coordination and alignment with just transition best practices will be required to strengthen the enabling environment and benefit from a just transition process.

Financial resources will also need to be sourced and/or redirected into different aspects of a just transition, such as skills development and employment programmes. Innovative sustainable finance mechanisms for a low-carbon, green economy, such as the Green Outcomes Fund or green/climate bonds, can be tailored to support the employment objectives of a just transition. For example, the inclusion of employment requirements to the Green Outcomes Fund or developing specialised just transition bonds, can be used to finance reskilling and employment programmes in high-risk sectors and communities (Scholtz et al., 2020).

¹⁹ Please refer to the work done by Project 90 for more on renewable energy ownership (Project 90, 2018a; Project 90, 2018b; Project 90, 2018c).

lower production of internal combustion engines will reduce global and local demand for platinum – another transitional risk (Kay, 2018). A just transition will again require that such interactions and trade-offs along different value chains are mapped and prepared for, including investment in the necessary infrastructure and skills development. For example, the use of platinum in hydrogen fuel cell vehicles could offset the negative impacts of reduced demand for platinum in internal combustion engines (Moodley, 2018).

Similarly, a just transition is critical for agriculture and the broader food system. Agriculture is the largest employer of unskilled workers in South Africa (Scholtz et al., 2020; Stats SA, 2020), and contributes significantly to anthropogenic environmental degradation and climate change. The sector also disproportionately bears the brunt of climate change, manifested in persisting drought in some instances, and extreme rainfall in others (Scholtz et al., 2020).

Another critical dimension of a just transition in South Africa is the inclusion of women and youth in the low-carbon economic opportunities and in decisionmaking platforms. Women continue to face exclusion, discrimination, and disproportionate exposure to socioeconomic vulnerabilities (ILO, 2017a). Climate change and transitionary responses to it risk increasing gender inequality, as they disproportionately impact women and overlook their specific needs. Addressing gender dynamics is an integral part of climate action and can contribute to achieving gender equality and promoting effective mitigation and adaptation measures (ILO, 2017a; Scholtz et al., 2020).

Youth are also critical stakeholders in the just transition, as they face disproportionately high levels of unemployment and will bear the brunt of future climate disasters and socio-economic impacts of transitionary risks. Youth voices are increasingly being heard in the climate space through mobilisations, such as Fridays for Future, Youth for Climate, and Youth Strike 4 Climate (Scholtz et al., 2020). While a just transition must seek to minimise the negative employment impacts of a green economic transition, it must also seek to address youth and gender inequalities, and look to empower young people and women.

5.2 Small Businesses Play a Key Role in the Economy and in a Just Transition

Micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs) play an important role in the economy and society, which differs fundamentally from the role of large corporations (Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). Small businesses provide income generation and wealth-building opportunities for people who might not be able to access more formal alternatives. In contrast to large businesses that generally serve and engage in international markets, small businesses focus on local economic activities and services, and play a critical role in local economic development (Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). MSMEs are, therefore, important role players in a just transition to a green economy.

In most countries, MSMEs are an important source of income for most of the population. In many developing countries, employment and earnings generated by small businesses contribute to lifting people out of poverty (Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). In Mongolia, for example, MSMEs account for two-thirds of businesses, contribute approximately 20% to GDP, and employ approximately 70% of the labour force (PAGE, 2014).

"An economy with a larger share of SMMEs will generally enjoy a higher economic growth rate" (Ming-Wen, 2010).

While small businesses can contribute to poverty alleviation in South Africa, they are mostly informal and essentially survivalist, generating limited additional employment and low incomes (TIPS, 2017). While employers and employees in the formal sector
typically earn relatively decent wages, self-employed people in the informal sector generally earn less, by comparison.

Globally, small businesses provide a key pathway to inter-generational development and upliftment. In most developing economies, a large share of the population earns a livelihood from small family businesses in agriculture and retail (Page & Söderbom, 2015; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). This plays a key role in social upliftment and inter-generational progress through long-standing family assets, market connections, and an expanded local customer base. Small businesses also play a critical transitionary role for young people entering into the employment market. However, there are concerns relating to the longevity, financing, and quality of jobs created by MSMEs for youth (Page & Söderbom, 2015; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019).

The presence and function of small businesses are also impacted by policy decisions and laws. In South Africa, small businesses and associated markets were suppressed under Apartheid through restrictions on land ownership, access to credit, to infrastructure, and to formal education and training. These negative impacts have persisted into democratic South Africa, which has a smaller class of established small businesses, relative to its peers (TIPS, 2017; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019).

Small businesses also support economic innovation and are integral in pervasive adaptation processes that define an inclusive economy (Groepe, 2015). MSMEs offer a wide range of local business actions that provide crucial insights for innovation and adaptation in support of technological and social change, productivity, and market access. MSMEs are subject to strong competition and have scant opportunities to extract rents. To

SMALL BUSINESS INNOVATION

Small businesses worldwide have seized opportunities associated with the digital and clean-tech revolutions. **Ghana-originated** mobile app, *Farmerline*, provides data on market prices, weather, and evolving farming techniques to smallholder farmers across Africa, helping increase harvests and incomes for more than 200 000 farmers in four countries (World Bank, 2014b).

There are many other examples of small businesses that have produced significant and bankable innovations through executional excellence, such as local livestock marketing in **Kenya** (Burns & Worsley, 2015) and smallholder dairy hub production and aggregation models in **East Africa** (Omondi et al., 2017).

survive and thrive, small businesses must be versatile, innovative, adaptive, and entrepreneurial (Groepe, 2015). New and emerging small businesses tend to exploit technological or commercial opportunities neglected by more established companies, and often introduce new business models to the market (OECD, 2015). The contribution to economic growth from MSMEs comes mainly from the prevalence of innovative entrepreneurs.

Understanding the critical role that small businesses play in the economy highlights their significant role in a just transition to an inclusive green economy in South Africa. They are particularly important for low-income earners, youth, and women, who are most vulnerable to both the impacts of climate change and various transitionary risks. Therefore, prioritising support for small businesses within the broader green economic transition, is critical.

In 2015, South Africa's formal sector earnings for employers and the self-employed ranged from R8 000 to R12 000 per month for MSMEs. Informal employees, on the other hand, earned a median monthly income of only R4 000, while the informal self-employed earned just over half as much (TIPS, 2017).

5.3 Small Businesses are Critical for a Green Economy

Small businesses are central to a green economy, as their positive impacts extend beyond economic development (GEC, 2017; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). If guided closely, they generate material socioeconomic and environmental benefits in line with sustainable development. Green, inclusive, and more resilient economies cannot be achieved without empowering MSMEs as innovative local actors to deliver socio-environmental transformation (GEC, 2017).

MSMEs can be extremely influential in the just transition in that they tend to be more willing to adopt broader innovative green strategies rather than incremental green practices with short-term results (Nulkar, 2014; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). They are more likely to seize opportunities afforded by a green economy and act as bottom-up agents of change. Social enterprises, which apply commercial strategies to improve financial, social, and environmental well-being, are illustrative of this.

Similarly, grassroots green enterprises are key adopters of radical environmental innovations (often neglected by established firms) in the production and manufacturing of environmental goods, services, and technologies (Marks & Hidden, 2017; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). Such enterprises are at the forefront of climate responses and innovations, both adaptation and mitigation, building resilient and adaptive community structures and processes. Grassroots enterprises can also play a role in strengthening productive and social networks, and in developing more inclusive pathways to sustainability (Mohamed, 2018; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019).

This is true both in the formal and informal economy. Small-scale and subsistence farming, bioprocessing, trade, waste picking, recycling, upcycling, green infrastructure, technology, and construction, are a few green activities occurring in the informal economy (Smit & Musango, 2015; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). Importantly though, harnessing the potential of informal activities does not imply the need for formality. Sustainable development of the informal sector relies rather on wide-ranging approaches, such as sustainable

THE IMAI FARMING COOPERATIVE

The Imai Farming Cooperative in rural **Limpopo in South Africa**, aims to reduce food waste by preserving and adding value to vegetables, which would otherwise be thrown away. It targets predominantly female farmers, by providing training on organic farming practices, as well as helping them with rainwater harvesting, food preservation, and training in business skills. The cooperative provides an income to 21 people and has helped increase household income. The initiative has managed to secure a market with supermarkets for their products and has strategic partnerships with the University of Limpopo, as well as government agencies (SEED, 2015).

livelihoods, community-based natural resource management, the recognition of indigenous and local knowledge, ecosystem-based adaptation, and grassroots green entrepreneurship (Mohamed, 2018).

There is, however, a divide in developing countries between the informal and formal sector businesses that participate in the green economy. For example, many informal jobs created through ecosystem restoration (such as invasive alien clearing or waste management) provide additional income, but develop few skills and only offer short-term/seasonal jobs rather than a career (Smit & Musango, 2015).

5.3.1 Small Businesses are Being Left Behind

The potential benefits for inclusive and suitable development from small businesses remain largely unharnessed, despite their significant role in the economy and society. According to the International Organisation of Employers (IOE), it is often forgotten that 'just transition' does not only apply to multi-national corporations, but is above all about the small businesses who struggle to adapt without help, incentives, and support (Marinkovic, 2019). South Africa recognises the important role that small businesses (notably cooperatives, rural and township enterprises) can play in the green economy and in bringing about sustainable development (DEA, 2017). The National Development Plan Vision 2030 forecasts that by 2030, no less than 90% of new jobs will be created in small and expanding firms. In addition, a key aspect of South Africa's approach to the green economy transition is the strong emphasis on social inclusivity and pro-employment (Musyoki, 2012; PAGE, 2017a). This is not only evident in several policy frameworks, financing mechanisms, and incentives, but also in the establishment of the dedicated Department of Small Business Development. The government also hosts several programmes in support of small businesses, such as the Department of Trade, Industry and Competition's Incubation Support Programme and Black Industrialists Scheme (Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019).

The National Development Plan Vision 2030 forecasts that by 2030, no less than 90% of new jobs will be created in small and expanding firms.

Despite government efforts, growth in small business has remained limited over the past 20 years in South Africa. The number of employers and self-employed people in small businesses has stagnated, and the numbers they employ, their incomes, and the structure of production, have also stagnated (TIPS, 2017; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). This has been exacerbated by the impacts of COVID-19 on small businesses, and special attention will need to be given to designing incentive and support programmes for MSMEs. A green and just recovery should prioritise small business support to ensure that they continue to play a critical role in the economy and in supporting a just transition.

5.4 Barriers and Risks for MSMEs in the Just Transition Context

5.4.1 Generic Challenges and Barriers to Small Businesses

Small businesses face several challenges related to their size, limited resources (skills sets, access to information, technology, and finance), unfavourable policy, and industry and market conditions. In some cases, they also must compete with larger enterprises, and this can limit their ability to grow, scale-up, and take advantage of regional and global value chains (OECD, 2018; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). Generally, the entrepreneurial ecosystem has the following gaps:

- Mismatch between capacity support and funding;
- Fragmented support;
- Early-stage funding gap; and
- Lack of coordination between initiatives (UNEP-WCMC, 2012; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019).

In addition, a focus on export markets places onerous compliance standards onto small businesses, which are uneconomical given their small scale.

5.4.2 Additional Challenges for Green Enterprises

Other challenges include:

- Markets for sustainable goods and services tend to be small and difficult to access. Public awareness of such products and services, and their associated benefits is also low, thus hindering demand (SEED, 2014).
- The absence of sustainable public procurement requirements and targets means little public spending is channelled into small sustainable businesses, further constraining market access (PAGE, 2017a).
- Small businesses generally have poor information and little knowledge about the green economy approach, its benefits, and opportunities (OECD, 2015; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019).

5.4.3 Finance Barriers

Small green businesses also struggle to access funding, partly due to their innovative and unproven nature, and a lack of collateral. For example, 70% of small

businesses in developing countries identify access to finance as a critical barrier, while 15% report that they are underfinanced (UNEP-WCMC, 2012; SEED, 2014; UNEP, 2014).

5.4.4 Limited Skills and Education Barriers

Small businesses in the informal sector are generally run by people from previously disadvantaged backgrounds with limited skills and business experience. Therefore, poor human capital, limited start-up skills, and low levels of education become barriers to success for small informal businesses. This prevents such businesses from capitalising on economic opportunities and growing their enterprise, and they are greatly limited within the green economy space (UNEP-WCMC, 2012; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). More broadly, the transition to an inclusive green economy will need new skills among the labour force (Gulati et al., 2018), which will require investments in developing these new skills to make workers ready for the green transition.

5.4.5 Climate Change and Transitionary Challenges

Small businesses can be a vehicle for achieving a just transition, however, they are also among the most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change and the transition to a low-carbon economy, and especially when drastic shifts occur within markets (Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). Small businesses require finance, capacity-building, and an enabling policy environment to be able to survive and build resilience during the transition. The IOE believes that not enough focus is being placed on small businesses in the just transition (Marinkovic, 2019). Without a shift and balance in existing power dynamics and the support of strong government policies and incentives, small businesses are at risk of being left behind in the transition to a lowcarbon economy.

5.4.6 Institutional Barriers

South Africa faces a challenge in deciding how, where, and who to channel the necessary small business support to, given the many differences between formal and informal small businesses (SEED, 2014; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). Channelling support to the 'bottom of the pyramid' does not lend itself favourably to traditional business and finance institutions, and is generally regarded as a high-risk investment. In addition, South Africa's venture-capital market is not very well-developed, while finance institutions do not offer suitable finance vehicles that are easily accessible for MSMEs, particularly those located in rural areas (Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019).

5.5 Recommendations for Supporting Small Businesses for a Just Transition

5.5.1 Develop a Multi-Criteria Approach

Despite growing awareness of the importance of MSMEs and increasing political will to intensify support for them, their development remains hindered by several factors. A reframing of small business support and development is required, one which aligns with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), Paris Agreement, and the ideals of an inclusive green economy. Historically, MSME support has been focused on economic outcomes, with little to no attention on the social and environmental benefits they generate. A multi-criteria approach to small business support is therefore recommended, to place greater focus on socio-economic and environmental dynamics that underpin small business.

5.5.2 Develop Social Dialogue, Networks, and Partnerships

Social dialogue is an important aspect of supporting small businesses in generating green and decent work (ILO, 2011; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). Small enterprises are often nested within communities, with shorter supply chains that often contain more embedded services. A local business cannot survive without the support of people in the area, and as such, the idea of value takes on broader dimensions (Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). Securing and maintaining their support is critical. There is an inherent power dynamic that requires regular participatory dialogue to navigate. It is also necessary to give small businesses a voice in government processes, so that they have more influence in policy (PAGE, 2017a).

Networks and partnerships are important in developing and maintaining mutual and symbiotic relationships amongst different stakeholders. Collaboration between a wide range of stakeholders in the public and private sector, as well as with civil society stakeholders, creates shared value (PAGE, 2017a).

5.5.3 Reframe the Regulatory Framework for MSMES in the Green Economy

Small businesses face significant regulatory burdens and have little incentive or support to implement sustainable practices (Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). Strategies that promote small business participation in the green economy should provide both insight and traction for the development of environmental solutions. Unleashing the knowledge and enthusiasm of small green enterprises to participate in crafting smart policy, would gain both appropriate and owned solutions that are likely to spread organically.

A South African campaign called **LABELWISE** promotes eco- and sociallabels and stimulates the demand for products that are environmentallysustainable and produced, using best labour practices in the farming, tourism, forestry, and marine sectors (LABELWISE, 2018).

A national MSME promotion agency, which channels all government and private sector support to small businesses, could facilitate and support regulatory requirements of small businesses. In addition, sectorspecific green certification (of business practices) and eco-label schemes (for products and packaging), coupled with adequate incentives, can result in enhanced demand for green business practices (SEED, 2014; OECD, 2015; DEA, 2017; Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019).



5.5.4 Reframe Skills Development for a Green Economy

Overcoming skills and education barriers will require targeted education and training programmes and significant finance. Skills development itself needs to be directed beyond business and financial training only, and should also include training that enhances social and environmental returns (Montmasson-Clair & Mudombi, 2019). SDG-aligned business incubation should also be supported. For example, in Guyana, small business development initiatives are underway to provide opportunities for capacity-building through dedicated procurement, subsidies, and credit guarantee programmes targeting small businesses (ILO, 2017).

Skills also need to be developed for different aspects of the green economy, including skills related to resourceuse efficiency, low-carbon industry, climate adaptation and resilience, and natural resource management (Gulati et al., 2018). Table 5.1 provides a summary of different skills required for these four areas of the green economy.

5.5.5 Enhance Knowledge and Data

The progress, impact, and contributions of MSMEs to sustainable development is unclear due to data and information limitations, as well as the absence of a broader M&E framework. This also makes it difficult to assess the impact of different policies, measures, and support programmes on MSMEs, and the inclusion of youth and women in the green economy. Therefore, it is recommended that these elements be included in a broader, centralised data, information repository, and M&E framework, as discussed in Chapter 4.

Skills Intervention Strategic business management skills: To build resource-efficient business models, leading to bottom-line benefits, and preparing for new regulations. Business/financial accounting skills: For carbon and natural environment accounting. Skills supporting resource-use Skills to design and adopt technologies, products, and processes: To increase resourceefficiency efficiency, including lean manufacturing. Project management skills: To implement resource-efficiency. Operator level actions: To maximise resource-efficiency. Skilled scientists and engineers: For lower-carbon forms of energy. Skilled technicians: To install energy-efficiency measures and retrofit in households and Skills supporting businesses. low-carbon Skills to design and adopt technologies, products, and processes: To minimise carbon industry emissions. Skilled operators: To minimise carbon emissions (e.g. driving in a fuel-efficient manner). Scientific and technical skills: e.g. to model and interpret climate change projections. Risk management skills: e.g. to assess future resource availability. **Skills supporting** Skills to design and adopt technologies, products, and processes: To improve climateclimate-resilience resilience. Skilled operators: To improve climate-resilience (e.g. retrofitting water-efficient technologies in households and businesses). Accounting skills: For the natural environment. Environmental impact assessment skills. Skills to manage Skills to design and adopt technologies, products, and processes: To oversee natural assets. natural assets Planning skills: To interpret environmental legislation targets, ecosystem services, design, management, and land-use planning.

Table 5.1: Summary of Skills and Interventions Required for a Green Economy

(Source: Gulati et al., 2018.)

Key Takeaways

- **1.** A just transition will reduce transitional impacts in carbon-intensive sectors.
- A just transition is broadly accepted as a strategy to ensure that the transition to a low-carbon green economy does not excessively impact workers and low-income communities that currently rely on carbon-intensive industries for their jobs and livelihoods. It seeks to minimise transitionary impacts on employment, poverty, and inequality, while also taking advantage of different opportunities for sustainable development.
- 2. Small businesses play a key role in the economy and in a just transition.
- Small businesses are particularly important for lowincome earners, youth, and women, who are most vulnerable to both the impacts of climate change and to various transitionary risks. Small businesses can also generate material socio-economic and environmental benefits that are in line with sustainable development.
- Prioritising support for small businesses within the broader green and just transition, is critical for achieving a greener, fairer, and more resilient economy.

3. Small businesses are being left behind.

- Despite the government's recognition of the critical role that small businesses can play in the green economy, and the various structures in place to support them, various obstacles and barriers still exist that prevent their growth and development.
- 4. Implement a 'do no harm' approach to small businesses.
- Ensure small businesses are included and participate meaningfully in public policy- and decision-making processes via social dialogue.
- Recognise and enable small businesses, through a smart regulatory and policy environment that enables sustainable market creation, promotion schemes, public procurement, certification, eco-labelling, and other incentives for green business models.



Chapter 6

South Africa's Green Recovery from COVID-19

About this Chapter

Chapter 6 provides an overview of the health and socioeconomic impacts of COVID-19 in South Africa. It reflects on lessons from previous financial crises, makes the case for a green stimulus policy, and reviews the R500 billion COVID-19 Rescue Package and the South Africa Economic Recovery and Reconstruction Plan (ERRP). The chapter concludes with a review of potential financing options for a larger COVID-19 stimulus package.

6.1 COVID-19: Socio-Economic Impacts

The COVID-19 crisis sent shockwaves through the global economy with devastating health, socio-economic, and environmental impacts. By September 2021, the virus itself had infected over 219 million people, over 4.5 million lives had been lost, and it had placed extreme pressure on healthcare systems around the world (Worldometer, 2021; TIPS, 2020c; WHO, 2020; Etyang, 2020).

To curb the rate of infection and combat the virus globally, countries imposed varying degrees of national and/or regional lockdowns – primarily placing restrictions on people's movement and economic activity – which have ultimately disrupted local and global supply chains. Subsequently, such actions have caused financial and socio-economic crises (Betti & Ni, 2020).

If the socio-economic impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic present a glimpse into the future impacts of climate disasters²⁰ (which are expected to cause significant damage to productive capital, property, and infrastructure), then the fundamental question is: will we transition away from the pre-COVID-19 status quo to a

Global infections have increased beyond **219 million** and the death toll continues to increase beyond **4.5 million** (Worldometer, September 2021). more inclusive, sustainable, and resilient economy that not only mitigates future disasters, but also enhances our adaptive capacity and resilience to them?

6.1.1 Health Impacts of COVID-19 in South Africa

The Pandemic is not only placing increased pressure on healthcare systems directly, with high infection and mortality rates associated with the virus itself (Etyang, 2020), but the Pandemic and associated lockdowns are also having significant indirect impacts on public health via a 'multiplier effect' (as indicated by excess mortality rates). An overwhelmed and severely under-resourced healthcare system that is unable to treat both COVID-19 patients and patients suffering from other existing comorbidities, such as non-communicable diseases, is contributing to this apparent 'multiplier effect' (WHO, 2020; Etyang, 2020). It is assumed that people with existing co-morbidities may be avoiding necessary medical consultations out of fear of contracting the COVID-19 virus, and are thus not receiving the critical treatment that they need (TIPS, 2020c).

In turn, lockdowns and job losses might also be preventing people from accessing the treatment they need. Even high-income countries, with relatively wellresourced healthcare systems, are witnessing increased pressure on their healthcare systems, due to high COVID-19 infection rates (Etyang, 2020).

20 Climate disasters can be understood as meteorological disasters that have been influenced by anthropogenic-induced climate change, such as severe hurricanes, droughts, floods and fires (Arp, 2020).



(Source: SAMRC, 2021, https://www.samrc.ac.za/reports/report-weekly-deaths-south-africa.)

Figure 6.1: South Africa's Excess Deaths and Reported COVID-19 Deaths

South Africa has emerged from its third wave of COVID-19 infections, with a total of over **1.9 million cases and more than 60 000 deaths** (Worldometer, 2021; Department of Health, 2021). As of 28 June 2021, the recovery rate in South Africa was lower than the global average (91%) at approximately 89% (Worldometer, 2021; Department of Health, 2021).

There is evidence to suggest that South Africa is also facing somewhat of a multiplier effect in terms of excess pressure on the healthcare system, as indicated by the excess in mortality rate (Figure 6.1). According to the South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC), deaths from natural causes (excluding trauma-related deaths, such as motor vehicle accidents), that were not directly attributed to COVID-19 infections, increased by approximately 7 500 deaths at the peak of the first wave and 15 000 at the peak of the second wave (SAMRC, 2021). This pattern is in line with international experiences in Europe, South America, and Asia. Some of the reported excess deaths are considered to be fatalities from unconfirmed COVID-19 cases, while others might be the result of people avoiding or not being able to access treatment and/or medication (TIPS, 2020c).

6.1.2 Socio-Economic Impacts of COVID-19 in South Africa

The COVID-19 Pandemic has had a unique economic impact in that it has simultaneously reduced supply (workers cannot go to work either directly due to infection or indirectly due to restrictions/lockdowns) and demand (consumers are self-isolating, in lockdown, or have lower disposable income due to job losses) for goods and services, both domestically and globally. The virus has impacted all sectors around the world, from tourism to manufacturing, research to agriculture (Letzig, 2020).

The economic outlook for South Africa is quite bleak, with the central challenges being large-scale job losses and lower incomes, which weigh down any economic recovery due to lower demand (TIPS, 2020c).

According to the South African Reserve Bank (SARB, 2020), real GDP decreased by 16% during the first wave of infections,²¹ equivalent to an annualised decline of 51%. The third quarter of 2020 saw the largest rebound in real GDP since quarterly records began in 1960, with an annualise rate of 66% (SARB, 2020).

²¹ The first wave of infections is closely aligned to the impact of COVID-19 between the first and second quarter of 2020.

However, despite such a rebound, and with the second wave of infections through the fourth quarter of 2020 and the first quarter of 2021, GDP is expected to decline once more (SARB, 2020). **GDP is only expected to return to 2019 levels by 2023 at best** (TIPS, 2020c).

Beyond the impacts on GDP, the economy also experienced an output gap of approximately 7.9% for the first three quarters of 2020, relative to the same period in 2019 (SARB, 2020). Unemployment surprisingly declined from 30.1% in the first quarter of 2020 to 23.3% in the second. However, due to the national lockdown, people who lost their jobs or who were already unemployed during that time, were unable to search for jobs and were, therefore, categorised as 'inactive' and not counted in the official unemployment rate.

The third quarter saw unemployment increase to 30.8%, while the fourth quarter saw unemployment increase further to 32.5% (SARB, 2020; Stats SA, 2020).

Inflation dropped to its lowest level since 2005, to 2% during the first wave of infections, but did not spread equally across consumer goods. Food prices, for example, increased by 4.5%, and as a result, have negatively impacted poorer households more so than affluent ones (TIPS, 2020c). The SARB is also concerned that administered prices, such as electricity prices, will continue to increase inflation further, despite lower aggregate demand, effectively writing the perfect recipe for stagflation. This underscores the critical importance of transitioning to renewable energy sources (TIPS, 2020c). Inflation has since stabilised around 3.2% (SARB, 2020).

GLOBAL ECONOMIC IMPACT OF COVID-19

Without any physical damage to, or destruction of productive assets and infrastructure, the COVID-19 Pandemic is expected to cost the global economy approximately US\$28 trillion (~R420 trillion) in lost output over 2020 and 2021 (Elliot, 2020; IMF, 2021). Other estimates suggest that global economic growth contracted between 3% and 6% in 2020 (CRS, 2020; WB, 2020a; IMF, 2021). This is despite the largest fiscal and monetary support programmes in human history, totalling approximately US\$12 trillion (~R180 trillion) in global government support (Elliot, 2020; IMF, 2021). In the long run, the crisis could leave deep scars across the global economy through lower levels of investment, fragmentation of global supply chains, and the erosion of human capital due to deaths, unemployment, and lost schooling (WB, 2020).

6.2 Lessons from Previous Crises

In general, when the economy is operating at close to full capacity, or during periods of growth, economic multipliers²² tend to be close to zero (DeLong et al., 2012; Hepburn et al., 2020). During crises or recessions, economic multipliers tend to be relatively high and can pull the economy out of crisis, if investment is directed to the right channels with high multipliers.

Depending on which economic theory countries or institutions subscribe to, governments can either employ austerity or expansionary measures. Austerity measures include decreased public spending to increase savings and manage debt, which is in line with neo-liberal economic theory. This may be followed by a reluctance to invest and spend during a crisis due to high levels of uncertainty and concern about affordability, which prompts economic actors to take undesirable actions (DeLong et al., 2012; Hepburn et al., 2020). Such actions might include, laying off workers, reduced investment by businesses and governments, and reduced consumption by consumers. Banks may even reign in credit. Keynesian theory suggests that this can be a self-fulfilling strategy for delivering a weaker economy (with significant socio-economic impacts) through what is known as

²² Economic multipliers are broadly defined as economic factors that, when increased or changed, cause increases or changes in many other related economic variables.

the 'Keynesian multiplier'²³ and 'accelerator'²⁴ effects (DeLong et al., 2012; Hepburn et al., 2020).

In contrast, if governments employ a counter-cyclical strategy, wherein expansionary policies are employed during an economic crisis or recession, Keynesian economic theory suggests the negative reinforcing feedback loop may be arrested (DeLong & Summers, 2012; Hepburn et al., 2020). Employing expansionary policies during economic slowdowns have been found to generate economic multipliers of between 1.5 and 2.5 (Auerbach & Gorodnichenko, 2012; Blanchard & Leigh, 2013), and even as high as 3 in some cases (IMF, 2014; Mourougane et al., 2016; Hepburn et al., 2020). Increases in government spending is said to be more effective for driving economic growth when compared to tax reductions, and may deliver higher multipliers, while direct household support programmes, such as the COVID-19 relief grant, are also said to perform well (Hepburn et al., 2020). Reducing interest rates also provides an opportunity for targeted investments to drive higher economic multipliers (Hepburn et al., 2020). However, expansionary policies might require governments to buy back debt from the financial sector, and take on more public debt, which increases the debt-to-GDP ratio, increasing the cost of debt, and in the worst-case scenario, leading to a sovereign debt crisis.

With that said, no crisis is the same and neither are the economies on which they impact. Hepburn et al. (2020)

suggest that COVID-19 expansionary policies might have lower multipliers, compared to the Global Financial Crisis (GFC) in 2008, for example. Given the high degree of uncertainty around COVID-19, economic actors might be precautionary in their behaviour and reduce their spending. In addition, fear of the virus may also result in reduced social activities and travel, making it difficult to target public expenditure in areas with a high marginal propensity to consume, both reducing consumption multipliers. Economic expectations shaped by health risks, rather than financial concerns, may also make COVID-19 stimulus strategies less effective (Stiglitz, 2020; Hepburn et al., 2020).

Despite these potential differences, there may still be useful lessons from previous crises, especially with respect to climate and environmental impacts of previous stimulus strategies. Hepburn et al. (2020) reviewed 196 fiscal recovery policies that were implemented after the GFC and found that only 63 could be considered as 'green', while the remainder were either 'colourless' or 'brown'. The review found that green stimulus policies had several advantages and co-benefits over traditional brown stimulus policies. The key lesson here being, that any economic stimulus policies need to be green and drive sustainable economic development, rather than reinforce the dependence on unsustainable economic development.

6.3 Green versus Brown Economic Recovery Policies

Implementing economic recovery policies for COVID-19 can have significant future impacts, depending on the design of the interventions. If an economic recovery policy follows a business-as-usual approach, with more brown interventions, it risks locking the economy into an unsustainable development trajectory (Hepburn et al., 2020; Hallegatte & Hammer, 2020; Barbieri et al., 2021). While brown recovery policy interventions might be attractive in the short-run, and relatively easier to implement, their long-term impacts on the environment and society do not necessarily justify short-term gains. Brown stimulus approaches have the potential to increase average global temperatures by 3 °C or more, which promises to deliver future crises with potentially similar socio-economic impacts, as observed with the COVID-19 Pandemic, if not worse (Hepburn et al., 2020; Zenghelis et al., 2020; WWF, 2020; OECD, 2020; Barbieri et al., 2021).

²³ The Keynesian Multiplier asserts that an increase in private consumption expenditure, investment expenditure, or net government spending, will increase GDP by more than the initial amount of the increase.

²⁴ The accelerator effect is a Keynesian concept, which stipulates that an increase in national income, as measured by GDP, would result in a proportional increase in capital investment spending.

Instead, economic recoveries should prioritise sustainable, green stimulus approaches and interventions. These can support an inclusive green economic transition and address developmental and socio-economic challenges, particularly in South Africa, while simultaneously decoupling economic growth from environmental degradation (Hepburn et al., 2020; Fleishman et al., 2020; TIPS, 2020b; WWF, 2020; Barbieri et al., 2021). Such a green approach will not only provide long-term value generation and mitigate future disaster risks, it will also provide a range of socio-economic cobenefits and build a more equitable and resilient society (Hepburn et al., 2020; Fleishman et al., 2020; TIPS, 2020b; Barbieri et al., 2021).

These co-benefits are, however, dependant on how and where the recovery interventions are directed. Given South Africa's vulnerability to climate change, various transitional risks and increasing unemployment, poverty, and inequality challenges, a green recovery approach presents a significant opportunity to embrace and drive fundamental and lasting change.

A green recovery in South Africa can address the country's developmental challenges while simultaneously reducing the economy's environmental impact and improve its resilience to climate change (TIPS, 2020b; Barbieri et al., 2021). Table 6.1 provides a summary of the advantages and disadvantages of both green and brown economic recovery policies.

For every US\$1 million invested in renewable energy, there are **three times as many jobs** created compared to the same investment in fossil fuels (WWF, 2020).



Table 6.1: Brown vs Green Recovery Policies: Advantages and Disadvantages

	Advantages	Disadvantages
Brown recovery policies	They are relatively easier and quicker to implement given existing institutional frameworks, knowledge, finance channels, and expertise.	They reinforce economic dependencies on fossil fuels, exacerbate climate change, and lock-in to unsustainable economic development.
	They provide employment protection in carbon- intensive and environmentally-impactful industries.	They increase contribution to ecosystem degradation, unsustainable natural resource consumption, waste generation, and biodiversity loss.
	Deregulation of environmental standards makes investment and implementation of brown strategies quicker and easier.	They increase health impacts from fossil fuels, climate change, and future pandemics.
	They provide more certainty regarding financial risks and outcomes of brown investments.	They increase risk of future disasters from environmental degradation, such as floods, droughts, fires, and pandemics.
	They are relatively higher short-term gains.	They erode natural capital and ecosystem services upon which economic development and human well-being depends.
Green recovery policies	They decouple economic development from GHG emissions and environmental degradation for sustainable development.	They are potentially more challenging to implement in the short-term due to uncertainty, lack of institutional frameworks, and limited awareness about where and what to invest in for highest returns and impact.
	They protect the value of natural capital, improves ecosystem functioning and resource- use efficiency, minimise waste and pollution, and enhances biodiversity and climate resilience.	Lack of bankable projects and a track record of sustainable finance, lead to higher perceived risks, technology uncertainty, and potentially higher start-up costs.
	They enhance job creation, business development and community upliftment, which contributes to poverty and inequality reduction and stronger social cohesion.	Sustainable conditionalities can potentially be a barrier to accessing loan and credit facilities.
	They provide health benefits and education improvements.	Environmental regulations and standards can slow the speed of implementing sustainable projects and investments.
	They improve energy, food, and water security.	Present potential employment impacts in carbon- intensive and high environmental impact sectors.

(Source: Portugal-Pereira et al., 2013; Bollen, 2015; Bryan et al., 2016; Andersen, 2017; Quam et al., 2017; Wustemann et al., 2017; Hepburn et al., 2020; Karlsson et al., 2020; Zenghelis et al., 2020; TIPS, 2020b; WWF, 2020; Barbieri et al., 2021.)

THE CASE FOR A GREEN ECONOMIC RECOVERY IN SOUTH AFRICA

When designing economic recovery policies, there are several factors to consider, including positive social and environmental impact; long-run economic multipliers; speed of implementation; contributions to the productive asset base and national wealth; and affordability (Hepburn et al., 2020; Ramey, 2019; OECD, 2020; WWF, 2020).

What to aim for in green economic recovery policies and packages:

- Aim to stabilise expectations, steer investment into productive channels, and restore confidence.
- Channel investment into a productive and balanced portfolio of sustainable social, human, physical, and natural capital, that is consistent with the SDGs and the Paris Agreement (Hepburn et al., 2020; Zenghelis et al., 2020).
- Focus on protecting and enhancing natural capital, including biodiversity; ecosystems and productive soils; clean air and water; and climate change mitigation and adaptation (Hepburn et al., 2020).

- Place climate at the centre of the green recovery policies – this has several co-benefits, such as improved resource-use efficiency; reduced waste and pollution; job creation; and improved energy, water, and food security.
- Ensure that they can be implemented relatively quickly, such as commercial and residential energy-efficiency. Energy-efficiency retrofit programmes are shovel-ready and employ a significant amount of blue-collar labour, which is critical for South Africa.
- Natural capital spending is quick to implement, such as expanding parkland areas, afforestation, investment in ecological infrastructure, and enhancing urban and rural ecosystems. Again, it provides several opportunities for lower-skilled labour, while easily meeting social distancing requirements (Houser et al., 2009; Bowen et al., 2009; Hepburn et al., 2020). It also allows for the implementation of Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) under the Paris Agreement, and so provides shovel-ready investment opportunities that are aligned with international climate goals (Hepburn et al., 2020; WWF, 2020).

"As we work with our social partners to develop an urgent economic recovery programme, we are determined that we should not merely return to where we were before the Pandemic struck. We are instead looking at actions that will build a new, inclusive economy that creates employment and fosters sustainable growth" President Cyril Ramaphosa (The Presidency, 2020).

6.4 Responding to COVID-19: South Africa's Economic Recovery Policies

South Africa's COVID-19 response has broadly followed a three-phased approach (RSA, 2020a):

- Phase 1: The on-going implementation of short-term health responses to save lives and curb the spread of the virus. This includes interventions, such as national lockdowns, mass screening and testing programmes, and other COVID-19 restrictions.
- Phase 2: Interventions to support the economy while also controlling health risks. This phase can be understood as a short- to medium-term response and includes interventions, such as the reprioritisation of the National Budget and the R500 billion COVID-19 Rescue Package to support workers and business.
- Phase 3: A medium- to long-term response, aimed at reconstructing and transforming the economy into a sustainable, resilient, and inclusive economy (RSA, 2020a).

The following provides an overview of South Africa's medium- and long-term responses, specifically focusing on the R500 billion COVID-19 Rescue Package and the Economic Reconstruction and Recovery Plan (ERRP). It concludes with a review of potential finance opportunities for a COVID-19 economic stimulus.²⁵

6.4.1 A Review of South Africa's R500 Billion Rescue Package

In April 2020, the President announced a R500 billion (≈10% of GDP) COVID-19 Rescue Package for South Africa, which included both tax relief measures and 'reprioritised spending' across different priority areas, as outlined in Table 6.2 (IEJ, 2020b; Isaacs, 2020). To give effect to the rescue package, the National Budget was restructured and a Supplementary Budget was tabled in June 2020.

A SNAPSHOT OF GLOBAL STIMULUS POLICIES

In response to the impacts of COVID-19 and national lockdowns, governments around the world have implemented various significant monetary and fiscal recovery policies of approximately US\$10 trillion²⁶ (Cassim et al., 2020).

- The USA's GDP declined by an annualised rate of 33% in the second quarter of 2020 (IMF, 2020a), with an estimated decline of between 4% and 10% for the fourth quarter of 2020 (CRS, 2020). In response, the USA passed three main stimulus policies totalling roughly US\$2.8 trillion (≈R45 trillion) (Alpert, 2020), or approximately 12% of total GDP (IMF, 2020a; Cassim et al., 2020).
- The European Union (EU) approved a €750 billion (≈R14 trillion) fiscal stimulus package (Dendrinou et al., 2020; IMF, 2020a; Alpert, 2020) to address an estimated decline in real GDP for 2020, of between 8% (CRS, 2020) and 15%, in the worstcase scenario (Willcox, 2020).
- The United Kingdom (UK) forecasts a 30% reduction in GDP for the first half of 2020 (CRS, 2020) and announced various stimulus measures (IMF, 2020a) equating to approximately 14.5% of GDP (Cassim et al., 2020).
- Emerging markets and developing economies are also implementing significant stimulus policies (Figure 6.2), such as Malaysia (19.1% of GDP), Thailand (8.5% of GDP), China (7.6% of GDP), India (2.8% of GDP), and Brazil (1.6% of GDP).

(Source: ODI, 2020; and IEJ, 2020a.)

26 Information and data on country stimulus policies varies depending on whether both fiscal and monetary measures are combined in estimating total value of stimulus responses.

²⁵ Since South Africa's economic recovery has followed an austerity approach, with budget reprioritisations, the report distinguishes between 'recovery' and 'stimulus'. Recovery refers to any economic interventions aimed at curbing the impacts of COVID-19. Stimulus refers to an additional or net increase in non-interest spending by government, aimed at stimulating the economy to curb the impacts of COVID-19.





The COVID-19 Rescue Package only represents a net increase in non-interest spending (or new government spending) for the financial year 2020/21 of R36 billion, or less than 1% of GDP (IEJ, 2020b). The critical point here is that it is **new government spending**, **rather than budget reprioritisations and tax reliefs**, that provide higher economic multipliers for recovery (DeLong et al., 2012; Hepburn et al., 2020). Most of the COVID-19 related expenditure is funded through the suspension of baseline allocations and reprioritisations, with further plans to reduce public spending over the next two years (2020–2022) by R230 billion (IEJ, 2020b). Table 6.2 summarises the original R500 billion Rescue Package and compares it to what has been delivered and how it was funded.

The COVID-19 Rescue Package does not necessarily represent an economic stimulus package with new spending (Isaacs, 2020). In terms of revenue, R130 billion is being funded from budget reprioritisations, which represents expenditure already planned for. The budget reprioritisation, therefore, does not lead to a net longterm benefit to the economy (Isaacs, 2020), especially if it results in underfunding for long-term capital expenditure elsewhere, such as public transport and other infrastructure. Even before the Pandemic, during the 2020 February Budget Speech, the Finance Minister announced that funding for public transport projects in Buffalo City, Mbombela and Msunduzi municipalities would be cut (NT, 2020). Reprioritisations of such funding for emergency COVID-19 relief is justified, however it does not amount to a COVID-19 'stimulus' package.

From an expenditure point of view, the support for businesses and households in the form of R70 billion tax relief and R200 million in loan guarantees, does not amount to additional or new government spending (IEJ, 2020b; Isaacs, 2020). While such measures do provide critical short-term support to households and businesses in the short-term, the long-term economic multipliers of such interventions are generally lower than increases in direct government spending (DeLong et al., 2012; Hepburn et al., 2020).

From the original R500 billion, only R230 billion is left for government spending – approximately 4.5% of GDP (IEJ, 2020b; Isaacs, 2020), and R130 billion of this is sourced from budget reallocations, and therefore does not represent a net increase in spending. Another R100 billion was sourced from the Unemployment Insurance Fund (UIF), which by December 2020, had paid an estimated R55.6 billion to approximately 1.1 million applicants²⁷ (IOL, 2020). Nonetheless, the UIF funds used for the COVID-19 Rescue Package do not necessarily imply additional fiscal burdens (IEJ, 2020b; Isaacs, 2020). The International Monetary Fund (IMF) approved a loan to South Africa of US\$4 billion (≈R69 billion) for additional COVID-19 support. It is a low-interest loan that respects South Africa's decisions on how best to utilise it, without the strict conditionalities of traditional IMF loans (EWN, 2020). However, related information of how this loan will contribute to different aspects of South Africa's COVID-19 Rescue Package, is not stipulated.

Table 6.2: Summary Analysis of South Africa's COVID-19 Rescue Package

COVID-19 Rescue Package		What was promised	What was received	Funding sources
1	Social security support	R50 billion	Cut to R41 billion	Only R25 billion in new spending, the rest sourced from budget reallocations.
2	Job protection and creation	R100 billion	Cut to R6 billion for 2020/2021	Mostly funded from budget reallocations, including existing funding for small business support and unemployment reduction.
3	Healthcare interventions	R20 billion	Increased to R21,5 billion	Only R2.9 billion in new funding, with the remainder coming from reprioritisation of existing spending.
4	Wage support	R40 billion	No indication of changes	Funded from Unemployment Insurance Fund (UIF) surplus, no new fiscal spending. Only 30% of workforce supported with 60% of budget used.
5	Municipality support	R20 billion	Allocation remains	R11 billion increase in local government funding; R9 billion in reallocation of existing municipal budget expenditure.
6	Tax relief	R70 billion	Current shortfall of R26 billion. Unclear what portion of this is actual COVID-19 related tax relief.	
7	Credit guarantee scheme	R200 billion	Remains in place but only about R12 billion accessed.	Guaranteed by National Treasury.
8	Tourism Equity Fund	R1.2 billion	Launched on 26 January 2021.	R540 million from Department of Tourism; R120 million from the Small Enterprise Finance Agency; and R594 million from South Africa's major banks.

(Source: Adapted from IEJ, 2020b; and Daniel, 2021.)

²⁷ Applicants refers to both businesses and individuals who applied for COVID-19 relief grants from the UIF.

6.5 South Africa's Economic Recovery and Reconstruction Plan (ERRP)

The ERRP also follows a three-phased approach:

- Phase 1: Engage and Preserve: Responding to the health impacts of COVID-19.
- Phase 2: Recovery and Reform: Restoring economic activity while also managing health risks.
- Phase 3: Reconstruct and Transform: Building a 'sustainable, resilient and inclusive economy' (RSA, 2020a, p. 3).

The ERRP will pursue an infrastructure-led economic reconstruction and recovery pathway, with aggressive investments in infrastructure as a means of stimulating various economic sectors.

To give effect to the Plan, **nine priority intervention** areas have been identified:

- Aggressive infrastructure investment;
- Employment-orientated strategic localisation, reindustrialisation, and export promotion;
- Energy security;
- Support for tourism recovery and growth;
- Gender equality and economic inclusion of women and youth;
- Green economy interventions;
- Mass public employment interventions;
- Strengthening food security; and
- Macro-economic interventions.

The Plan also identifies a number of 'key enablers' and 'structural reforms' that will support its implementation. These are summarised in Table 6.3 and Table 6.4.

While the Plan identifies 'green economy interventions' as one of the priority areas, there is certainly scope to implement such interventions across the other priority areas. For example:

- Energy security will require more renewable energy interventions, including renewable electricity generation, biofuels, and green hydrogen.
- Food security will also require interventions in terms of both climate change mitigation and adaptation, such as climate smart agriculture.

Therefore, green economy interventions should ideally be a cross-cutting element of the ERRP, rather than a standalone priority area. Despite this potential shortfall, it is promising to have green economy interventions included in the ERRP. The following provides an overview of those interventions, as described in the ERRP.

6.5.1 ERRP Green Economy Interventions

The ERRP acknowledges the co-benefits of a green economic transition in addressing South Africa's developmental challenges, while also driving economic competitiveness and supporting energy, food, and water security (RSA, 2020a).

It also acknowledges catalytic linkages with other sectors. For example, the ERRP speaks to how green economy interventions in agriculture can strengthen efforts towards resilient and drought-resistant crops, and in turn contribute to food security and the sector's competitiveness (RSA, 2020a). However, key enablers required to realise the transition to a green economy also need to be considered.

Improving energy and water-efficiency will be the focus of South Africa's green agenda under the ERRP. These efficiency interventions will be initiated by retrofitting public and private buildings, before being expanded to human settlements, clinics, and schools (RSA, 2020a). It is envisioned that energy-efficiency programmes will build local, labour-intensive industry and small businesses, and support skills development and income generation. The ERRP also speaks about ensuring a just transition. It specifically identifies retrofitting old coalbased power stations, such as in Mpumalanga, with solar power to save jobs and sustain livelihoods in at-risk regions (RSA, 2020a).

Key enablers	Structural reforms	
 Resource mobilisation 	 Modernising and reforming network industries and associated state- owned enterprises 	
 Regulatory changes, a supportive 		
policy environment and enabling conditions for ease of doing	 Re-orienting trade policies and pursuing greater regional integration to boost exports, employment, and innovation 	
business	 Lowering barriers to entry to make it easier for businesses to start, grow, 	
 Building a capable state 	and compete	
 Social compacting 	 Supporting labour-intensive sectors, such as tourism and agriculture, to achieve more inclusive growth 	
 Skills development 		
 Economic diplomacy and further integration into the African 	 Creating greater levels of economic inclusion, including through addressing high levels of economic concentration 	
continent	 Addressing the weak job-creating capacity of the economy; boosting education and skills development 	
	 Promoting greater beneficiation of raw materials 	
	 Addressing racial, gender, and geographical inequalities which hamper deeper economic growth and development 	

Table 6.3: Key Enablers Identified in the ERRP

(Source: RSA, 2020a, p. 4.)

6.5.2 Modelling the Potential Impacts of the ERRP

A report by Cambridge Econometrics and PAGE (Barbieri et al., 2021) modelled the potential socio-economic and environmental impacts of a 'conventional policies' scenario²⁸ currently in the ERRP, against a 'green push'²⁹ scenario. A green push scenario is expected to deliver almost 5% more GDP growth by 2030 relative to a conventional policies scenario. Unemployment is expected to be approximately 0.5% lower (by 2030) for a green push scenario relative to a conventional policies scenario. GHG emissions are estimated to be approximately 23% lower for a green push scenario relative to a conventional policies scenario (Barbieri et al., 2021). Therefore, implementing a more ambitious green recovery through the ERRP, could promote higher economic growth, job creation, and environmental sustainability, bringing GDP back to where it might have been in the absence of COVID-19, by 2030. Job losses in a low-carbon transition, while requiring careful management through a just transition, could be offset by new job creation in low-carbon sectors, with a net positive gain in jobs (Barbieri et al., 2021).

²⁸ The 'conventional policies' scenario is defined as, "R835 billion over 10 years which includes interventions such as infrastructure investment, localisation of production, subsidies for the tourism sector and food vouchers" (Barbieri et al., 2021).

²⁹ The 'green push' scenario is defined as, "a stronger push towards renewables than is envisaged in the ERRP: early decommissioning of coalbased power generation and an additional R300 bn of private financing to the power sector" (Barbieri et al., 2021).

The ERRP identifies other green economy 'high impact priority areas':



Biodiversity economy infrastructure roll-out, inclusive of protected areas.



Support for SMMEs and cooperatives to take advantage of opportunities in the green economy.



Implementation of exclusion applications for 48 sites for ash, gypsum, slag, and biomass beneficiation.



Support for small grower farmers through Public, Private Partnerships (PPPs) in forestry, including in state plantations.



Support for the Traditional Authorities Demonstration Project.



Integration of waste pickers and revitalisation of buy-back centres.



Section 18 industry waste management plans (Extended Producer Responsibility Regulations).



Intermediary solutions for aquaculture products, and revitalisation and upgrade of existing government hatcheries and research centres.

Photos: Shutterstock.com, Grootbos Foundation, Green Trust, South African Wase Pickers Association, WWF South Africa, City of Tshwane

6.6 Financing a Green Recovery

There are a number of ways for government to finance a green stimulus policy, from increased borrowing and debt to quantitative easing (QE). South Africa's current stimulus package is largely funded by National Budget reprioritisations instead of new spending and new borrowing (Willcox, 2020; IEJ, 2020a; IEJ, 2020b). Not responding to the crisis with sufficient new spending, risks putting the economy onto a dangerous downward spiral, with continued unemployment, low GDP growth,³⁰ and increasing debt risks.

6.6.1 Borrowing from the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and World Bank

In 2020, the IMF approved a US\$4 billion (≈R69 billion) loan to South Africa (EWN, 2020). This increased the country's dollar debt by 72%, to a total of US\$12.4 billion, and weakened its fiscal position. While it is acknowledged that South Africa can ill-afford to take on too much additional public debt to finance a green stimulus, it must be noted that the debt portfolio consists of little debt, denominated in foreign currency – only R334 billion out of R3.3 trillion (Willcox, 2020).

Therefore, despite the threat to the economy's fiscal position from borrowing from the IMF, and other institutions like the World Bank and BRICS Bank, South Africa has some breathing space in terms of its dollar debt level. In addition, South Africa's foreign exchange reserves of approximately US\$54 billion (as of February 2020) will easily cover the increase in dollar borrowing (Willcox, 2020).

6.6.2 Domestic Borrowing

South Africa has little room to increase domestic borrowing for financing a green stimulus strategy. In addition, long-term bond yields increased dramatically since the Pandemic began, to around 12% in early March 2020, eventually settling at approximately 10% (Willcox, 2020). The concern is that the cost of borrowing domestically would be very expensive in the long-run, and 2030 under a green push scenario:5% more GDP growth;0.5% lower unemployment; and23% lower GHG emissions.

should government announce an increase in domestic borrowing, long-term bond rates would increase even more (Willcox, 2020).

Short-term borrowing would be cheaper, especially if the SARB continues to decrease the repo rate. Selling short-term bonds to the private sector and SARB can potentially raise enough money to finance the tax relief outlined in the COVID-19 Rescue Package (IEJ, 2020a; Willcox, 2020).

While the point remains that there is not sufficient space to finance a green stimulus strategy from an increase in domestic borrowing alone, it's not to say that a diversified approach with some domestic borrowing is out of the question. Sustainable domestic borrowing using innovative mechanisms, such as green bonds or climate bonds, could supplement a green stimulus. This has the added benefit of directing finance into sustainable solutions and the resulting debt would at least be environmentally-sustainable, or green debt, rather than brown debt.

6.6.3 COVID-19 Solidarity Bonds

Government could potentially issue COVID-19 solidarity bonds to finance the green stimulus (Willcox, 2020; IEJ, 2020a). These bonds differ from normal bonds in that they could have a longer or shorter duration and are issued at cheaper rates with better terms than normal bonds.

According to an IEJ paper (2020a), if government decides to issue COVID-19 solidarity bonds, then the Public Investment Corporation (PIC) should purchase an initial R50 billion worth of such bonds, which can be used

³⁰ The debt-to-GDP ratio and national credit ratings (and therefore the cost of borrowing) are influenced by economic growth, amongst other variables. If economic growth does not increase, then the debt-to-GDP ratio will worsen without having taken on more public debt to finance an economic recovery. Therefore, austerity in a time of crisis also carries debt risks.

to support business rescues. The private sector should also play its part. If large investment and insurance companies, pension funds, and unit trusts spent just 2% of their assets on such a COVID-19 special bond, it could raise R140 billion for a green stimulus policy (IEJ, 2020a). However, special bonds still have the same disadvantages as normal bonds in that they increase domestic borrowing and debt levels, which in South Africa, are already very high (Willcox, 2020).

6.6.4 A Solidarity Wealth Tax

South Africa is one of the most unequal societies in the world, where the richest 10% of the population own

about 86% wealth. Therefore, implementing a solidarity wealth tax and even potentially increasing income taxes on those in the upper tax brackets would provide much needed additional financing (Chatterjee et al., 2020; Willcox, 2020).

The main advantage of a wealth tax or increasing income tax rates for high earners is that it would be progressive and impact a smaller number of taxpayers (Willcox, 2020). However, the disadvantage of any tax is that it will increase the contraction in demand in an already demand-constrained economy (Willcox, 2020). But the degree of impact on demand needs further investigation as one might assume that the rich spend their money on



imported luxury goods, and therefore such consumption does not contribute to South Africa's GDP.

In South Africa, the richest 10% of the population own about 86% of the wealth.

6.6.5 Quantitative Easing (QE)

Simply put, quantitative easing (QE) involves the purchasing of government bonds and other securities by a central bank, using the money it has for that purpose (Willcox, 2020). Central banks can either purchase bonds directly from government or in the secondary market. The choice is often determined by laws or regulations in a particular country. Economically, there is no difference, the impact is the same. Financing a stimulus policy through QE is essentially free, and is therefore a very attractive financing solution. In addition, QE tends to have a positive impact on government's debt portfolio, pushing bond yields down and improving the country's fiscal position (Willcox, 2020). QE can be paired with the roll-out of innovative sustainable financing mechanisms, such as issuing COVID-19 solidarity bonds, and a host of different green bonds linked to climate change, circular economy, and ecological infrastructure.

There are, however, valid concerns over the use of QE, mostly linked to the risk of hyperinflation. While South Africa's inflation rate was hovering at 3.2% (SARB, 2021) as of January 2021, and well within the SARB's inflation target, it would be prudent to build in contingency plans. For example, QE should be carried out in roughly R30 billion purchases each week, and if

IDEALLY, HOW BIG SHOULD A STIMULUS BE?

Any fiscal stimulus policy typically needs to offset most of the **output gap**³¹ resulting from a given crisis. This, in turn, should also encourage increased spending from the private sector to make up the remainder of what's needed, as measured by the fiscal multiplier (Willcox, 2020). The fiscal multiplier for South Africa is estimated at 1.68, implying that a **stimulus package of R1 billion will grow the economy by R1.68 billion and create 6 900 jobs** (Sibeko & Isaacs, 2020). A **stimulus package of R500 billion in new government spending (10% of GDP) would stimulate economic growth by over R800 billion with almost 3.5 million new jobs** (Sibeko & Isaacs, 2020).

The exact size of the output gap, and the size of the stimulus required, is also uncertain. While it is difficult to accurately know what the output gap will be, the risk of implementing an incorrectly sized stimulus policy is asymmetric. The consequences from implementing a stimulus policy that is too small are far worse than implementing one that is too big (Willcox, 2020). If the stimulus is too small or insufficient, the economy could remain demandconstrained for years, setting the economy on a dangerous downward spiral of reducing household wealth and increasing levels of unemployment, inequality, and poverty (Willcox, 2020). On the other hand, **if the stimulus policy is too large it would risk increasing inflation, and potentially even create debt risks**.

South Africa's GDP declined by 7.9% over the first three quarters in 2020, relative to the same time period in 2019 (SARB, 2020). However, the full impact of COVID-19 could reduce GDP by between 10% and 16%, with an output gap as high as 24% of GDP, according to some estimates (Willcox, 2020).

The COVID-19 Rescue Package of R500 billion, which is based on an output gap of R300 billion (5.7% of GDP) is potentially an insufficient recovery policy. This picture is made worse if one considers that the original R500 billion Rescue Package effectively only represents an increase in new non-interest spending of R36 billion, or less than 1% of GDP (IEJ, 2020b). If the output gap for the first three quarters of 2020 was 7.9% (compared to the same time period in 2019), then a stimulus of **new, non-interest government spending of about R410 billion is required** (IEJ, 2020a). This is just to get the economy back to where it was in 2019, never mind where it might have been in the absence of COVID-19.

31 The output gap is essentially the contraction of GDP as a result of economic slowdown.

inflationary pressure increases, then this amount can be reduced, stalled, or stopped altogether (Willcox, 2020). In the worst-case scenario, the SARB could sell bonds, effectively reversing the impact of QE, and reducing liquidity in the market. Alternatively, the SARB could start paying interest on private bank reserves to encourage banks to hold excess reserves, reducing the money supply once again. The USA Federal Reserve followed such a strategy to offset inflation from QE after the 2008 financial crisis (Willcox, 2020).

Several other countries have, or are using QE strategies, as summarised in Table 6.4. Generally, most countries only implement QE as a last resort when there is no more policy space to reduce interest rates, for example. However, countries such as Brazil, India, Philippines, Colombia, and Turkey, are using QE despite having policy space and a positive inflation rate. According to Gali (2019), fiscal multipliers tend to be larger when QE is implemented with positive inflation rates.

Lessons from Japan suggest that even after five years of QE, although profitable, companies were still overindebted and remained focused on reducing their debt levels (Willcox, 2020). This meant that QE had little impact on inflation, as most of the QE funding remained as excess reserves in the Bank of Japan. South Africa might well find itself in a similar position, with companies desperate to pay off debts, following the Pandemic. Therefore, QE could prove a valuable source of finance for a green stimulus, with potentially little impact on inflation (Willcox, 2020). However, this requires deeper analysis.

All potential funding sources for a green stimulus in South Africa need to be explored and used collectively to balance their advantages and disadvantages (Table 6.5). As with any well-balanced investment portfolio, the South African government should spread their funding risks across various mechanisms.

Table 6.4: Countries Implementing QuantitativeEasing (QE)

Country	Inflation rate (2019)	Current policy rate (equivalent to the repo rate in South Africa)
Australia	1.6	0.25
Brazil	3.7	3.0
Canada	1.9	0.25
Chile	2.3	0.5
Colombia	3.5	6.25
European Union (EU)	1.9	-0.5
Iceland	3.0	1.75
India	4.5	4.4
Israel	0.8	0.1
Japan	1.0	-0.1
New Zealand	1.6	1.0
Norway	2.2	0.25
Philippines	2.5	3.75
South Africa	3.2	3.5
South Korea	0.4	0.75
Sweden	1.7	0
Thailand	0.7	0.75
Turkey	15.2	8.75
United Kingdom (UK)	1.8	0.1
United States (US)	1.8	0-0.25

(Source: Willcox, 2020.)

The USA purchased US\$2.3 trillion of assets between March and December 2020, equivalent to the SARB purchasing R500 billion of assets (Willcox, 2020).

Table 6.5: Summary of the Advantages and Disadvantages of Potential Funding Sources for aGreen Stimulus

Potential funding source	Advantages	Disadvantages
Increased foreign borrowing	South Africa has substantial foreign exchange reserves to cover the increase in foreign debt.	It increases foreign debt and debt servicing costs, and there are potential conditionalities from IMF and World Bank.
Increased domestic borrowing	If this occurs through sustainable finance mechanisms, such as green bonds, it would target domestic debt into green rather than brown channels.	South Africa has little room for more domestic borrowing, and the cost of domestic debt would increase.
COVID-19 solidarity bonds	These bonds could generate significant finance for COVID-19.	Same disadvantages as domestic borrowing.
Solidarity wealth tax	This could generate significant additional tax revenue. As 10% of the population own about 86% of the wealth, a wealth tax could be considered more progressive than other tax increases.	Any tax increases the contraction in demand in an already demand-constrained economy.
Quantitative easing (QE)	QE is essentially free and tends to have a positive impact on government's debt portfolio, pushing bond yields down and improving the country's fiscal position. In addition, if it targets COVID-19 solidarity or green bonds, it can direct finance into sustainable channels.	There is a risk that QE can result in hyperinflation, if not managed appropriately.



6.7 Recommendations

6.7.1 Ideally Implement a Larger Economic Stimulus

The R500 billion COVID-19 Rescue Package, which is based on an output gap of R300 billion (5.7% of GDP), only represents an effective increase in new non-interest spending of R36 billion (less than 1% of GDP). This can be regarded as an insufficient stimulus policy to foster the level of growth required to address the impacts of COVID-19 and catalyse a just transition. Assuming an output gap of about 8% of GDP, South Africa would need a minimum economic stimulus (of new government spending) of approximately R410 billion (IEJ, 2020a), to respond appropriately to both the COVID-19 and socioeconomic crises.

A green economic stimulus policy can address South Africa's developmental and socio-economic challenges while simultaneously supporting an inclusive green economic transition, and decouple economic growth from environmental degradation. Such a green stimulus will not only provide long-term value generation and mitigate future disaster risks, but will also build a more resilient society and provide a variety of socio-economic co-benefits.

6.7.2 Mainstream Green Economy Interventions Throughout the ERRP

While the ERRP identifies green economy interventions as a key priority area, it is unclear how such interventions might be mainstreamed across other priority interventions. There is a risk that an infrastructureled recovery might overshadow any positive gains of isolated green economy interventions, if they are not mainstreamed across the broader ERRP. It is therefore recommended, that the ERRP identifies green interventions as a cross-cutting element for each and all the other priority interventions of the ERRP. To enhance the success of the ERRP, it is further recommended that green economy interventions are also included and aligned to Sectoral Master Plans and South Africa's Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC). Investment must be diverted away from fossil fuel infrastructure and towards green economy interventions, while sustainable public procurement (SPP) can support the greening of the recovery itself by attaching sustainable and inclusive purchasing requirements for public procurement.

6.7.3 Balance Different Funding Options to Finance a Green Stimulus Policy

There are several financing options available for funding a larger green stimulus policy. South Africa's debt-to-GDP ratio is in line with other developing economies, and there is some space to take on more debt without risking a sovereign debt crisis. South Africa has significant foreign exchange reserves that can be used to cover more foreign debt.

While taking on domestic debt is not always desirable, debt used for green ends builds resilience and long-term sustainability, as opposed to incurring debt for purposes which reinforce 'brown' path dependencies. Judicious domestic borrowing, using mechanisms such as green bonds or climate bonds, or solidarity bonds as under COVID-19 conditions, could support the coffers for a green stimulus.

Fossil fuel subsidies should also be redirected to subsidise a green recovery. QE is another option for raising finance and tends to have a positive impact on government's debt portfolio, pushing bond yields down and improving the country's fiscal position.

Key Takeaways

1. COVID-19 has caused significant health impacts.

- South Africa emerged from its third wave of COVID-19 infections, with a total of over 1.9 million cases and more than 60 000 deaths (Worldometer, 2021; Department of Health, 2021). As of 28 June 2021, the recovery rate in South Africa was lower than the global average (91%) at approximately 89% (Worldometer, 2021; Department of Health, 2021).
- 2. The Pandemic is widening socio-economic fault lines across South Africa.
- Both the Pandemic and the national lockdown have exposed various socio-economic inequalities, such as access to food and healthcare. GDP declined significantly in 2020 and remained stagnant during 2021, leading to an increase in unemployment, poverty, and inequality.
- 3. COVID-19 economic recovery policies should drive sustainable and inclusive development.
- Green recovery policies can support an inclusive and sustainable economic transition and address South Africa's developmental and socio-economic challenges, while simultaneously decoupling economic growth from environmental degradation. Brown or business-as-usual recovery policies risk locking the economy into an unsustainable development trajectory.
- 4. South Africa's R500 billion Rescue Package might not be enough.
- The Rescue Package and the budget reallocation only represent a net increase in non-interest spending (or new government spending) for the financial year 2020/21 of R36 billion, or less than 1% of GDP. A stimulus policy needs to at least match the majority of the output gap, which is estimated to be 7.9% lower in the first three quarters of 2020, relative to the same period in 2019.

- The long-term consequences of implementing a stimulus policy that is too small, could potentially have greater impacts than implementing one that is too big.
- 5. South Africa's ERRP is an infrastructure-led recovery pathway.
- The ERRP will pursue an infrastructure-led economic reconstruction and recovery pathway, with aggressive investments in infrastructure as a means of stimulating various economic sectors.
- The ERRP acknowledges the co-benefits of a green economic transition in addressing South Africa's developmental challenges, while also driving economic competitiveness and supporting energy, food, and water security.
- 6. Modelling the ERRP suggests that the recovery effort can be more ambitious.
- A more ambitious green recovery relative to the policies set out in the ERRP are estimated to deliver approximately 5% more GDP growth, 0.5% less unemployment, and 23% lower greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions by 2030.
- Therefore, an ambitious green recovery from COVID-19 can address South Africa's developmental needs, while supporting a transition to an inclusive low-carbon green economy.
- 7. Finance a green recovery with a balanced approach.
- All potential funding sources for a green recovery in South Africa, such as foreign and domestic borrowing, COVID-19 solidarity and green bonds, wealth taxes, and quantitative easing, need to be explored and used collectively to balance their advantages and disadvantages. As with any wellbalanced investment portfolio, the South African government could spread their funding risks across various mechanisms.



Conclusion

Summary

In summary, the following key enablers need to be addressed:

- Direct the economy toward a just and sustainable recovery, post-COVID-19.
- 'Unlock' innovative financing models to enable the transition.
- It's critical to create an effective enabling environment.
- MSMEs are important role players in the transition to an inclusive low-carbon economy.

Direct the Economy Toward a Just and Sustainable Recovery, Post-COVID-19

Considering the significant risk of climate change and the impacts of COVID-19, and how the Pandemic has deepened the structural fault lines within the South African economy and society, a just transition to an inclusive green economy is critical. Our economic responses to COVID-19 will either set us on a more inclusive and sustainable development pathway, or lock us into a fossil fuel-driven development pathway. While the latter might present short-term growth opportunities, in the medium- to long-term, it risks increasing the frequency and intensity of future disasters related to climate change and environmental degradation. This will not only push more planetary systems beyond their planetary boundaries, but also erode the value of nature upon which economic development is dependent. It is therefore critical that the ERRP directs the economy toward a just and sustainable recovery, post-COVID-19.

This needs to be supported by addressing challenges associated with the enabling environment for a lowcarbon, circular, and just transition in South Africa. Policies and measures across all spheres of government need to better align with low-carbon inclusive and circular imperatives to simultaneously address South Africa's development and environmental needs. Policy implementation also needs to be strengthened through inclusive stakeholder engagements, supporting tools and guidelines, and a centralised M&E framework.

'Unlock' Innovative Financing Models to Enable the Transition

Funding the transition to a low-carbon inclusive economy will need to draw on both public and private sources of finance; redirect finances away from harmful investments, such as fossil fuel subsidies; and develop and implement new, innovative financing models. Understanding how to 'unlock' such significant funding is therefore central to the green transition. The enabling environment for sustainable finance in South Africa needs to be strengthened to support the effective implementation of sustainable fiscal policy and market mechanisms. This not only includes the development of sustainable finance instruments, such as green bonds, but awareness-raising, expertise, and project pipeline support to improve project bankability.

It's Critical to Create an Effective Enabling Environment

Deepening emissions reductions across the economy and decoupling economic growth from environmental degradation will also require circular economy transitions across various sectors. Again, an effective enabling environment is critical to support the implementation of sustainable consumption and production practices, and behavioural change.

Sustainable public procurement has a particularly important role in this regard, in that it can drive demand for, and value of, secondary materials markets, which are critical for a circular economy. Multi-stakeholder collaboration within and across value chains is equally important, while effective M&E frameworks are also necessary, not just for policy implementation but for monitoring material availability and movement through a circular economy.



MSMEs are Important Role Players in a Just Transition

Small business support provides a unique opportunity to drive a just transition to a low-carbon and inclusive economy from the ground up. The role that small businesses play in the economy, in terms of supporting local economic development, innovation, social upliftment, and seizing on opportunities afforded by a green economy, make them critical bottom-up agents of change.

MSMEs are therefore, important role players in a just transition to a green economy, and need to be supported through an effective enabling environment and the ERRP.

Our Recovery Presents a Unique Opportunity to Catalyse the Just Transition

While South Africa has made significant progress towards transitioning to an inclusive and low-carbon economy, both in terms of the policies in place and action on the ground, it remains a carbon-intensive and unequal economy.

The COVID-19 Pandemic has presented a glimpse into the future impacts of climate disasters, and while its impacts have been devastating, the recovery presents a unique opportunity to catalyse the just transition to a low-carbon economy for the benefit of all South Africans.

A fossil fuel-driven development pathway risks increasing the frequency and intensity of future disasters related to climate change and environmental degradation.

References

Ács, Z., Szerb, L. & Lloyd, A., 2017. *The Global Entrepreneurship Index 2018*, Washington, D.C.: Global Entrepreneurship and Development Institute.

ADBG, 2020. NEPAD Infrastructure Project Preparation Facility (NEPAD-IPPF). Africa Development Bank Group. [Online] Available at: https://www.afdb.org/en/topics-and-sectors/ initiatives-partnerships/nepad-infrastructure-projectpreparation-facility-nepad-ippf. [Accessed 22 July 2020].

AFI, 2016. Denaraue Action Plan: The AFI network committment to gender and women's financial inclusion. Alliances for Financial Inclusion (AFI). [Online] Available at: https://www. afi-global.org/sites/default/files/publications/2016-09/ Denarau%20Action%20Plan.pdf. [Accessed 21 July 2020].

AFI, 2020a. *Maya Declaration*. Alliance for Financial Inclusion (AFI). [Online] Available at: https://www.afi-global.org/ maya-declaration:~:text=It%20represents%20the%20 world's%20first,and%20regularly%20share%20progress%20 updates.&text=The%20Maya%20Declaration%20was%20 launched,)%20in%20Riveria%20Maya%2C%20Mexico. [Accessed 21 July 2020].

AFI, 2020b. Sharm El Sheikh Accord: Financial Inclusion, Climate Change & Green Finance. Alliances for Financial Inclusion. [Online] Available at: https://www.afi-global.org/ publications/2638/Sharm-El-Sheikh-Accord-Financial-Inclusion-Climate-Change-Green-Finance. [Accessed 21 July 2020].

Akenji, L. & Bengtsson, M., 2014. Making Sustainable Consumption and Production the Core of Sustainable Development Goals. *Sustainability*, 6(2), pp. 513–529.

Alpert, G., 2020. COVID-19 government stimulus and financial relief guide. Here's what countries are doing to provide stimulus and relief. *Investopedia*. [Online] Available at: https://www. investopedia.com/government-stimulus-efforts-to-fight-the-covid-19-crisis-4799723. [Accessed 11 August 2020].

Andersen, M., 2017. Co-benefits of climate mitigation: Counting statistical lives or life-years? *Ecological Indicators*, 79, pp. 11–19.

Arp, R., 2020. Future proofing supply chains for climate resilience. WWF-SA. [Online] Available at: https://www.wwf.org. za/our_research/publications/?31641/Future-proofing-supplychains-for-climate-resilience. [Accessed 28 July 2020].

Arp, R. et al., 2018. *Cement sector: Life Cycle Optimisation Service*. WWF-SA. [Online] Available at: https://www.wwf.org. za/our_research/publications/?25461/Cement-Sector-Life-Cycle-Optimisation-Service. [Accessed 27 July 2020].

Arp, R. & Keen, S., 2020. Pricing greenhouse gas and air pollution externalities in South Africa. WWF-SA. [Online] Available at: https://wwfafrica.awsassets.panda.org/ downloads/pricing_ghg_and_air_pollution_externalities_in_ south_africa_policy_brief_28april2020.pdf?31121/Pricinggreenhouse-gas-and-air-pollution-externalities-in-South-Africa. [Accessed 20 July 20].

ASISA, n.d. ASISA Foundation. Overview. Association for Savings and Investment South Africa. [Online] Available at: https://www.asisa.org.za/foster-the-future/asisafoundation/. [Accessed 21 July 2020].

AU, 2020. Impacts of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) on the African Economy. The African Union. [Online] Available at: https://au.int/sites/default/files/ documents/38326-doc-covid-19_impact_on_african_economy. pdf. [Accessed 29 July 2020].

Auerbach, A. & Gorodnichenko, Y., 2012. Fiscal multipliers in recession and expansion. In: *NBER Chapters*. s.l.: National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc, pp. 63–98.

Baranes, A., 2017. Making the case for Ethical Banks – an Italian initiative. *Finance Watch*. [Online] Available at: https://www.finance-watch.org/making-the-casefor-ethical-banks-an-italian-initiative/. [Accessed 20 July 2020].

Barbieri, L. et al., 2021. *Modelling an inclusive green economic COVID-19 recovery programme for South Africa*, s.l.: Cambridge Econometrics.

Barigozzi, F. & Tedeschi, P., 2015. Credit markets with ethical banks and motivated borrowers. *Review of Finance*, 19(3), pp. 1281–1313.

Barnard, P. & De Villiers, M., 2012. *Biodiversity early warning* systems: South African citizen scientists monitoring change, Pretoria: South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI).

Bawakyillenuo, S., Adjotor, F. & Asante, F., 2015. *Ghana's Transition to a Green Economy: A stocktake report*, Vienna: United Nations Industria; Development Organisation.

Belén Sánchez, A., Martín, L., Montmasson-Clair, G. & du Plooy, P., 2013. Green Jobs and Related Policy Frameworks: An overview of South Africa, Madrid: Sustainlabour.

Belton, P., 2020. What happens to all the old wind turbines? [Online] Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/business-51325101:~:text=Between%20last%20September%20and%20 this,will%20be%20stacked%20and%20buried. [Accessed 27 August 2020].

Betti, F. & Hong, P., 2020. Coronavirus is disrupting global value chains. Here's how companies can respond. World Economic Forum. [Online] Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/02/how-coronavirus-disrupts-global-value-chains/. [Accessed 18 March 2020].

Betti, F. & Ni, J., 2020. *How China can rebuild global supply chain resilience after COVID-19.* World Economic Forum. [Online] Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/03/ coronavirus-and-global-supply-chains/. [Accessed 24 March 2020].

Blanchard, O. & Leigh, D., 2013. Growth forecast errors and fiscal multipliers. *IMF Working Papers*, 1.

Bole-Rentel, T., Fischer, G. & Tramberend, S., 2019. *Taking* off: Understanding the sustainable aviation biofuel potential in sub-Saharan Africa. WWF-SA. [Online] Available at: http:// awsassets.wwf.org.za/downloads/sustainable_biofuel_ potential_ssaf_summaryreport_finalized_v7_2_digital_pages. pdf. [Accessed 29 July 2020].

Bollen, J., 2015. The value of air pollution co-benefits of climate policies: Analysis with a global sector-trade CGE model called WorldScan. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 90, pp. 178–191.

Boulle, B., 2021. Green Bonds in South Africa: How Green Bonds Can Support South Africa's Energy Transition. Climate Bonds Initiative. [Online] Available at: https://www.climatebonds. net/files/reports/cbio_sa_energytrans_03d.pdf. [Accessed 14 August 2021]. Bowen, A., Fankhauser, S., Stern, N. & Zenghelis, D., 2009. *An outline of the case for a 'green' stimulus. Policy brief*, London: Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment.

Bradshaw, D. et al., 2020. *Report on weekly deaths in South Africa 1 January to 14 July 2020 (Week 28)*. Burden of Disease Research Unit, South African Medical Research Council. [Online] Available at: https://www.samrc.ac.za/sites/default/ files/files/2020-07-22/WeeklyDeaths14July2020_0.pdf. [Accessed 28 July 2020].

Bryan, B. et al., 2016. Designer policy for carbon and biodiversity co-benefits under global change. *Nature Climate Change*, 6(3), pp. 301–05.

Burns, D. & Worsley, S., 2015. *Navigating Complexity in International Development: Facilitating sustainable change at scale*, Rugby: Practical Action Publishing.

Burton, J., Lott, T. & Reenkamp, B., 2018. Sustaining carbon lock-in: Fossil fuel subsidies in South Africa. In: J. Skovgaard & H. van Asselt, eds. *The Politics of fossil fuel subsidies and their reform*. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press, pp. 229–245.

Butler, B., 2021. Citing competition from renewables, S&P warns oil and gas companies of downgrade. [Online] Available at: https://thebulletin.org/2021/02/citingcompetition-from-renewables-sp-warns-oil-and-gascompanies-of-downgrade/ [Accessed 2 February 2021].

Caboz, J., 2019. Take a look: South African farmers have built the first floating solar park in Africa. [Online] Available at: https://www.businessinsider.co.za/take-a-look-south-africanfarmers-have-built-the-first-floating-solar-park-in-africa-2019-3. [Accessed 26 January 2021].

Caldecott, B., Sartor, O. & Spencer, T., 2017. Lessons from previous 'coal transitions': High-level summary for decisionmakers, Paris and London: Institut du développement durable et des relations internationales and Climate Strategies.

Cassim, Z., Handjiski, B., Schubert, J. & Zouaoui, Y., 2020. *The \$10 trillion rescue: How governments can deliver impact.* McKinsey and Company. [Online] Available at: https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-andsocial-sector/our-insights/the-10-trillion-dollar-rescue-howgovernments-can-deliver-impact. [Accessed 11 August 2020]. CBI, 2020. Green Bonds Market. Climate Bonds Initiative. [Online] Available at: https://www.climatebonds.net/. [Accessed 22 July 2020].

CDP Worldwide, 2020. *About*. CDP Worldwide. [Online] Available at: https://www.cdp.net/en. [Accessed 22 July 2020].

Chadan, A., 2020. Solving the Problem of Renewable Energy Waste: A Circular Economy Approach to Sustainable Batteries. [Online] Available at: https://nextbillion.net/circular-economyapproach-to-sustainable-batteries/. [Accessed 27 August 2020].

Chatterjee, A., Gethin, A. & Czajka, L., 2020. Coronavirus: Why South Africa needs a wealth tax now. *Money Web*. [Online] Available at: https://www.moneyweb.co.za/news/economy/ coronavirus-why-south-africa-needs-a-wealth-tax-now/. [Accessed 11 August 2020].

City of Johannesburg, 2020. 2020/21 Tariffs Schedule. [Online] Available at: https://www.joburg.org.za/documents_/ Documents/TARIFFS/2020-21%20Tariffs/Tariffs-Schedule2020-21.pdf. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

Coalition for Green Capital, 2017. National green banks in developing countries: Scaling up private finance to achieve Paris climate goals. Coalition for Green Capital. [Online] Available at: http://coalitionforgreencapital.com/wp-content/ uploads/2017/07/Green-Banks-in-Emerging-Markets.pdf. [Accessed 21 July 2020].

Conservation International, 2020. *Impact of Coronavirus on nature*. Conservation International. [Online] Available at: https://www.conservation.org/stories/impact-of-covid-19-on-nature. [Accessed 18 August 2020].

Convergence, 2017. Seychelles debt conversion for marine conservation and climate adaptation. Convergence. [Online] Available at: https://assets.ctfassets.net/ bbfdx7vx8x8r/2T3BuO4NzGmmAUIc2U0CCg/9ad14934a965 c1ac1cfe58da01133449/Convergence__Seychelles_Debt_ Conversion_for_Marine_Conservation_and_Climate_ Adaptation_Case_Study__2017.pdf. [Accessed 21 July 2020].

COSATU, 2009. Final Draft Consolidated Resolutions to the COSATU Tenth National Congress. [Online] Available at: http://mediadon.co.za/wp-content/ uploads/2018/04/10th-National-Congress-Resolutions.pdf. [Accessed 9 August 2019]. COSATU, 2011. Congress of South African Trade Unions policy framework on climate change (19/11/2011). [Online] Available at: polity.org.za/article/cosatu-congress-ofsouth-african-trade-unions-policy-framework-on-climatechange-19112011-2011-11-19. [Accessed 15 August 2019].

COSATU, 2012. A just transition to a low-carbon and climateresilient economy: A call to action. [Online] Available at: agreenfund.org.za/wordpress/wp-content/ uploads/2017/05/Naledi_A-just-transition-to-a-climateresilient-economy.pdf. [Accessed 2019].

Cosgrove, W. & Loucks, D., 2015. Water management: Current and future challenges and research directions. *Water Resources Research*, 51(6), pp. 4823–4839.

CPLC, 2018. *What we do*. Carbon Pricing Leadership Coalition. [Online] Available at: https://www.carbonpricingleadership.org/ what-we-do. [Accessed 23 July 2020].

CRS, 2020. *Global Economic Effects of COVID-19.* Congressional Research Service. *R46270.* [Online] Available at: https://fas.org/sgp/crs/row/R46270.pdf. [Accessed 28 July 2020].

Daniel, L., 2021. SA's new Tourism Equity Fund: Here's how to apply for your share of R1.2 billion. *Business Insider*. [Online] Available at: https://www.businessinsider.co.za/how-to-applyfor-the-tourism-equity-fund-in-south-africa-2021-1. [Accessed 2 February 2021].

de Kock, L., Sadan, Z., Arp, R. & Upadhyaya, P., 2020. A circular economy response to plastic pollution: Current policy landscape and consumer perception. *South African Journal of Science*, 116(5–6), pp. 1–2.

DEA, 2016. South Africa's Green Fund. Financing the transition towards an inclusive green economy. Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA), Republic of South Africa. [Online] Available at: http://www.sagreenfund.org.za/wordpress/ wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Green-Fund-Impact-Study.pdf. [Accessed 21 July 2020].

DEA, 2017. Switch Africa Green: Review of Laws, Policies and Business Environment, Pretoria: Department of Environmental Affairs, Republic of South Africa.

DEA, DMR, SAMBF & SANBI, 2013. *Mining and biodiversity Guideline: Mainstreaming biodiversity into the mining sector*, Pretoria: Department of Environmental Affairs, Department of Mineral Resources, South African Mining and Biodiversity Forum, South African National Biodiversity Institute.
DeLong, J. & Summers, L., 2012. *Fiscal policy in a depressed economy*. Brookings Spring. [Online] Available at: https://www.brookings.edu/bpea-articles/fiscalpolicy-in-a-depressed-economy/. [Accessed 1 July 2020].

DeLong, J., Summers, L., Feldstein, M. & Ramey, V., 2012. Fiscal Policy in a Depressed Economy. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, DOI: 10.2307/23287218, pp. 233–297.

Dendrinou, V., Chrysoloras, N. & Buttler, M., 2020. *EU Clinches Massive Stimulus Deal to Bind Continent Together*. Bloomberg. [Online] Available at: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2020-07-21/eu-leaders-reach-deal-on-750-billion-eurovirus-recovery-fund. [Accessed 22 July 2020].

Department of Energy, 2015. *State of renewable energy in South Africa*. Pretoria: Department of Energy, Republic of South Africa.

Department of Health, 2021. COVID-19 Corona Virus South African Resource Portal. [Online] Available at: https:// sacoronavirus.co.za/. [Accessed 28 June 2021].

Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA), 2021. DBSA Green Bond Framework. DBSA. [Online] Available at: https:// www.dbsa.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/2021-03/ DBSA%20Green%20Bond%20Framework%20-%2022%20 January%202021.pdf. [Accessed 14 August 2021].

DFFE, 2020. "Driving Force for Change" pilot youth support initiative. Department of Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment (DFFE), Republic of South Africa. [Online] Available at: https://www.environment.gov.za/projectsprogrammes/ drivingforceforchange_youthpilot:~:text=Through%20this%20 pilot%20initiative%20we,and%20climate%20resilient%20 development%20pathway. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

Dobson, P. et al., 2020. Ecology and economics for pandemic prevention. *Science*, 369(6502), pp. 379–381.

Dodge Data & Analytics, 2016. World Green Building Trends 2016: Developing Markets Accelerate Global Green Growth, SmartMarket Report. Dodge Data & Analytics. [Online] Available at: https://www.worldgbc.org/news-media/world-greenbuilding-trends-016:~:text=The%20study%2C%20World%20 Green%20Building,currently%2C%20to%2037%20per%20cent. [Accessed 27 August 2020].

Dorband, I., Jakob, M., Kalkuhl, M. & Steckel, J., 2019. Poverty and distributional effects of carbon pricing in low- and middleincome countries – A global comparative analysis. *World Development*, 115, pp. 246–257. DPME, 2014. Twenty year review, South Africa 1994–2014. Background paper: income, poverty and inequality, Pretoria: Republic of South Africa. Department of Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation.

DPME, 2015a. *Implementation of the Social Economic Impact Assessment System*, Pretoria: The Presidency of the Republic of South Africa.

DPME, 2015b. *Guidelines for the Socio-Economic Impact Assessment System*, Pretoria: The Presidency of the Republic of South Africa.

Dreyer, H. et al., 2016. Consumers' understanding and use of textile eco-labels during pre-purchase decision making. *Journal of Consumer Science*, 1.

EBF, 2017. *Towards a green finance framework*. European Banking Federation. [Online] Available at: https://www.ebf. eu/ebf-media-centre/towards-a-green-finance-framework/. [Accessed 20 July 2020].

EITI, 2010. Why international financial institutions, export credit agencies, investment banks and insurers support *EITI*. Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative. [Online] Available at: https://eiti.org/files/documents/2010-06-25%20 Financial%20institutions%20support%20to%20EITI.pdf. [Accessed 21 July 2020].

Elliot, L., 2020. *IMF estimates global COVID cost at \$28tn in lost output.* [Online] Available at: https://www.theguardian. com/business/2020/oct/13/imf-covid-cost-world-economic-outlook. [Accessed 18 January 2021].

EMF, 2017. Concept: What is a circular economy? A framework for an economy that is restorative and regenerative by design. Ellen McArthur Foundation. [Online] Available at: https://www. ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/circular-economy/concept. [Accessed 24 July 2020].

EMF, 2019. Completing the picture: How the circular economy tackles climate change. Ellen MacArthur Foundation. [Online] Available at: https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/ assets/downloads/Completing_The_Picture_How_The_ Circular_Economy-_Tackles_Climate_Change_V3_26_ September.pdf. [Accessed 24 July 2020].

EP, 2020. *The Equator Principles (EPs)*. The Equator Principles Association. [Online] Available at: https://equator-principles. com/. [Accessed 22 July 2020].

Eskom, 2019. *Eskom Integrated Report 2019*. [Online] Available at: file:///C:/Users/rarp/Downloads/Eskom_2019_integrated_ report.pdf. [Accessed 20 August 2020].

ESMAP, 2020. Energy subsidy reform. Energy Sector Management Assistance Programme (ESMAP). [Online] Available at: https://www.esmap.org/energy_subsidy_reform. [Accessed 20 July 2020].

Etyang, O., 2020. COVID-19 pandemic and its potential impact on the health sector in the COMESA Region. Special Report. Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa. [Online] Available at: https://www.tralac.org/documents/resources/ covid-19/regional/3700-covid-19-pandemic-and-its-potentialimpact-on-the-health-sector-in-the-comesa-region-specialreport-may-2020/file.html. [Accessed 28 July 2020].

European Commission, 2020. *Climate Action: EU Emissions Trading System (EU ETS)*. European Commission. [Online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/ets_en. [Accessed 20 July 2020].

Evans, S., 2020. Daily global CO₂ emissions 'cut to 2006 levels' during height of coronavirus crisis. World Economic Forum. [Online] Available at: https://www.weforum.org/ agenda/2020/05/enviroment-coronavirus-covid19-pandemicemissions-co2-pollution/. [Accessed 29 July 2020].

EWN, 2020. IMF approves US\$4.3bn financial support to SA to deal with COVID-19 pandemic. *Eye Witness News*. [Online] Available at: https://ewn.co.za/2020/07/27/imf-approves-ususd4-3bn-financial-support-to-sa-to-deal-with-covid-19-pandemic [Accessed 30 August 2020].

Fakir, S., Bole-Rentel, T. & Chireshe, F., 2019. Future fuels and the coming ethanol revolution: Is Sasol facing technological redundancy? *Daily Maverick*. [Online] Available at: https:// www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2019-10-16-future-fuels-andthe-coming-ethanol-revolution-is-sasol-facing-technologicalredundancy/gsc.tab=0. [Accessed 29 July 2020].

FAO-UNEP, 2012. Agri-food task force on sustainable consumption and production (SCP). Third meeting 4–5 April 2012 – FOA headquarters, Rome. [Online] Available at: http:// www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/ags/docs/SFCP/ATF_ plenary_meeting_Report_.pdf. [Accessed 27 July 2020].

FCLT Global, 2020. *Our mission. Focusing Capital on the Long Term*. [Online] Available at: https://www.fcltglobal.org/mission/. [Accessed 23 July 2020].

Fleishman, B. et al., 2020. *No going back to normal: Imagining a just recovery in South Africa,* Johannesburg: 350Africa.org, in partnership with The Institute for Economic Justice (IEJ) and the Climate Justice Coalition.

Fulai, S. et al., 2015. Uncovering pathways towards an inclusive green economy. A summary for leaders, Niarobi, Kenya: United Nations Environment Programme.

Galí, J., 2019. The Effects of a Money-Financed Fiscal Stimulus. *The National Bureau of Economic Research*, Volume NBER Working Paper No. 26249.

Gallagher, J. et al., 2017. Adapting Stand-Alone Renewable Energy Technologies for the Circular Economy through Eco-Design and Recycling. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, 23(1), pp. 133–140.

Gardner, C., 2020. *Nature's comeback? No, the coronavirus pandemic threatens the world's wildlife*. World Economic Forum. [Online] Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/nature-s-comeback-no-the-coronavirus-pandemic-threatens-the-world-s-wildlife. [Accessed 29 July 2020].

GBCSA, 2017. About GBCSA, Green Star Certification. Green Building Council of South Africa (GBCSA). [Online] Available at: https://gbcsa.org.za/certify/green-star-sa/. [Accessed 21 January 2021].

GEC, 2017. The Santa Cruz Declaration on Local Green Enterprise. Green Economy Coalition (GEC). [Online] Available at: https://www.greeneconomycoalition.org/ news-analysis/the-santa-cruz-declaration-on-local-greenenterprises. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

GEC, 2019. Principles, priorities and pathways for inclusive green economies: Economic transformation. Green Economy Coalition (GEC). [Online] Available at: https://www. greeneconomycoalition.org/assets/reports/GEC-Reports/ Principles-priorities-pathways-inclusive-green-economies-web. pdf. [Accessed 17 August 2020].

GEDI, 2021. *Global Enrepreneurship Index*. [Online] Available at: https://thegedi.org/global-entrepreneurship-and-development-index/. [Accessed 25 January 2021].

GEN, 2020. Linking a world of environmentally preferable products and services. Global Ecolabelling Network (GEN). [Online] Available at: https://globalecolabelling.net/. [Accessed 26 July 2020]. Gidley, J., 2016. Understanding the breadth of futures studies through a dialogue with climate change. *World Future Review*, 8(1), pp. 24–38.

Gidley, J. F. J., Smith, J. & Thomsen, D. S. T., 2009. Participatory futures methods: Towards adaptability and resilience in climate-vulnerable communities. *Environmental Policy and Governance*, 19(6), pp. 427–440.

Gilder, A. & Rumble, O., 2020. *Implications of the COVID-19 Pandemic for Global Climate Change Responses*. South African Institute of International Affairs (SAIIA). [Online] Available at: https://saiia.org.za/research/implications-of-the-covid-19pandemic-for-global-climate-change-responses/. [Accessed 24 August 2020].

Godinho, C., 2019. Conceiving of a just [energy] transition in South Africa (Draft), s.l.: s.n.

GRI, 2020. About sustainability reporting. Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). [Online] Available at: https://www. globalreporting.org/information/sustainability-reporting/ Pages/default.aspx. [Accessed 26 July 2020].

GRI, n.d. *About GRI*. Global Reporting Initiative. [Online] Available at: https://www.globalreporting.org/information/ about-gri/Pages/default.aspx. [Accessed 22 July 2020].

Groepe, F., 2015. *The role of small business in the economy.* South African Reserve Bank (SARB). [Online] Available at: https://www.resbank.co.za/Lists/Speeches/ Attachments/452/Role%20of%20small%20business%20 2015%20.pdf. [Accessed 25 August 2020].

Gulati, M., 2018. Financial Instruments used by Governments for Climate Change Mitigation. WWF-SA. [Online] Available at: https://wwfafrica.awsassets.panda.org/ downloads/wwf_2018_financial_instruments_used_by_ governments_for_climate_change_mitigation.pdf?26723/ financial-instruments-used-by-governments-for-climatechange-mitigation. [Accessed 25 August 2020].

Gulati, M., Naude, L. & Upadhyaya, P., 2018. *Barriers to Greening the South African Economy*. WWF-SA. [Online] Available at: https://wwfafrica.awsassets.panda.org/downloads/barriers_ ot_greening_the_south_african_economy.pdf?26442/Barriersto-greening-the-South-African-economy. [Accessed 24 August 2020]. Hallegatte, S. & Hammer, H., 2020. *Thinking ahead: For a sustainable recovery from COVID-19 (Coronavirus)*. World Bank Blog. [Online] Available at: https://blogs.worldbank.org/ climatechange/thinking-ahead-sustainable-recovery-covid-19-coronavirus. [Accessed 17 June 2020].

Hedden, S. & Cilliers, J., 2014. Parched prospects – the emerging water crisis in South Africa. *Institute for Security Studies Papers*, 2014(11), p. 16.

Hepburn, C. et al., 2020. Will COVID-19 fiscal recovery packages accelerate or retard progress on climate change? *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 36(S1), pp. 1–48.

Hood, C., 2013. *Managing interactions between carbon pricing and existing policies*, Paris: International Energy Agency.

Hood, C. & Guelff, C., 2013. *Integrating carbon pricing with existing energy policies: Issues for South Africa, Paris:* International Energy Agency.

Houser, T., Mohan, S. & Heilmayr, R., 2009. A green global recovery? Assessing U.S. economic stimulus and prospects for international coordination. Policy brief No. PB09-3, Washington, D.C.: World Resources Institute.

lacobuta, G. et al., 2018. National climate change mitigation legislation, strategy and targets: A global update. *Climate Policy*, 18(9), pp. 1114–1132.

IDFC, 2019. *Mission and vision. International Development Finance Club.* [Online] Available at: https://www.idfc.org/ mission-vision/. [Accessed 23 July 2020].

IEA and IIP, 2012. *Energy management programme for industry*, Paris: Institute for Industrial Productivity.

IEA, 2014. *Energy Technology Perspectives 2014*. International Energy Agency (IEA). [Online] Available at: https://www.iea.org/ reports/energy-technology-perspectives-2014. [Accessed 25 August 2020].

IEA, 2015. World Energy Outlook: Special briefing for COP21. International Energy Agency. [Online] Available at: http:// climateknowledge.org/figures/Rood_Climate_Change_ AOSS480_Documents/IEA_COP21_Paris_Briefing_ IntEnerAgen_2015.pdf. [Accessed 17 July 2020].

IEJ, 2020a. An emergency rescue package for South Africa in response to COVID-19. 17 April – Summary of submission to Government, Johannesburg: Institute for Economic Justice (IEJ). IEJ, 2020b. The new budget betrays the President's R500 billion COVID-19 rescue package, Johannesburg: Institute for Economic Justice.

IFC, 2020. Sustainable Banking Network. International Finance Corporation (IFC). [Online] Available at: https://www.ifc. org/wps/wcm/connect/topics_ext_content/ifc_external_ corporate_site/sustainability-at-ifc/company-resources/ sustainable-finance/sbn. [Accessed 21 July 2020].

IFC, 2021. New IFC Initiative Helps Banks in Mexico, Philippines, South Africa, Egypt Scale Climate Finance. International Finance Corporation. [Online] Available at: https://pressroom.ifc.org/all/ pages/PressDetail.aspx?ID=26162. [Accessed 6 March 2021].

IIRC, n.d. *What? The tool for better reporting*. The International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC). [Online] Available at: https://integratedreporting.org/what-the-tool-for-betterreporting/. [Accessed 22 July 2020].

ILO, 2010a. Effects of non-contributory social transfers in developing countries: a compendium, Geneva: International Labour Organisation.

ILO, 2010b. *Skills for green jobs in South Africa*, Geneva: International Labour Office.

ILO, 2011. Promoting decent work in a green economy. ILO background note to "Towards a green economy: Pathways to Sustainable Development and Poverty Eradication", UNEP, 2011, Geneva: International Labour Organization.

ILO, 2017a. Gender, labour and a just transition towards environmentally sustainable economies and societies for all. International Labour Organization (ILO). [Online] Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/ClimateChange/ GenderResponsive/ILO.pdf. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

ILO, 2017b. Enabling Environment for Sustainable Enterprises in Guyana, s.l.: International Labour Organization.

ILO, 2018. World employment and social outlook 2018: greening with jobs. International Labour Organization. [Online] Available at: https://www.ilo.org/weso-greening/documents/ WESO_Greening_EN_web2.pdf. [Accessed 24 July 2020].

IMF, 2014. World Economic Outlook October 2014. Chapter 3: Is it time for an infrastructure push? The macroeconomic effects of public investment. [Online] Available at: https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2014/02/. [Accessed 3 July 2020].

IMF, 2020a. *Policy responses to COVID-19.* [Online] Available at: https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/imf-and-covid19/Policy-Responses-to-COVID-19U. [Accessed 7 August 2020].

IMF, 2020b. *The IMF's response to COVID-19*. International Monetary Fund (IMF). [Online] Available at: https://www.imf. org/en/About/FAQ/imf-response-to-covid-19Q5. [Accessed 24 August 2020].

IMF, 2021. World Outlook Report Update. Policy support and vaccines expected to lift activity. [Online] Available at: https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2021/01/26/2021-world-economic-outlook-update. [Accessed 7 March 2021].

IOL, 2012. Social dialogue for sustainable development: A review of national and regional experiences. International Labour Office, Geneva: International Labour Office.

IOL, 2020. UIF to pay billions in outstanding COVID-19 TERS benefits. *Independent Online* (IOL). [Online] Available at: https://www.iol.co.za/news/politics/uif-to-pay-billions-inoutstanding-covid-19-ters-benefits-6fee8762-34d2-4743-83ac-07ef696b7111. [Accessed 22 January 2021].

IPCC, 2013. *Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis*. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. In: T. Q. D. Stocker, et al. eds. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

IPCC, 2018. Summary for policymakers. In: V. e. a. Masson-Delmotte, ed. Global warming of 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. s.l.:In Press.

Isaacs, G., 2020. COVID-19: Unpacking President Ramaphosa's rescue package. *Ground Up*. [Online] Available at: https://www.groundup.org.za/article/unpacking-president-ramaphosas-rescue-package/. [Accessed 29 August 2020].

Joshi, Y. & Rahman, Z., 2015. Factors Affecting Green Purchase Behaviour and Future Research Directions. *International Strategic Management Review*, 3(1–2), pp. 128–143.

Jouni Korhonen, J., Honkasalo, A. & Seppala, J., 2018. Circular Economy: The Concept and its Limitations. *Ecological Economics*, 143, pp. 37–46.

Karlsson, M., Alfredsson, E. & Westling, N., 2020. Climate policy co-benefits: a review. *Climate Policy*, 20(3), pp. 292–316.

Kateman, B., 2020. Carbon labels are finally coming to the food and beverage industry. *Forbes*. [Online] Available at: https://www.forbes.com/sites/briankateman/2020/07/20/ carbon-labels-are-finally-coming-to-the-food-and-beverage-industry/2d37779c7c03. [Accessed 26 July 2020].

Kauffmann, C., Less, C. & Teichmann, D., 2012. Corporate greenhouse gas emission reporting: A stocktaking of government schemes, OECD Working Papers on International Investment, s.l.: OECD.

Kay, A., 2018. Will platinum be impacted by electric cars? *Investing News Network (INN)*. [Online] Available at: https:// investingnews.com/daily/resource-investing/preciousmetals-investing/platinum-investing/platinum-electric-cars/. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

Kentikelenis, A. et al., 2020. Softening the blow of the pandemic: will the International Monetary Fund and World Bank make things worse? *The Lancet Global Health*, DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30135–2.

Kharas, H. & McArthur, J., 2016. *Links in the chain of sustainable finance: Accelerating private investments for the SDGs, including climate action.* The Brookings Insitution. [Online] Available at: https://www.brookings.edu/research/links-in-the-chain-of-sustainable-finance-accelerating-private-investments-for-the-sdgs-including-climate-action/. [Accessed 17 July 2020].

Kickbusch, I. et al., 2020. COVID-19: how a virus is turning the world upside down. *The BMJ*. [Online] Available at: https://www.bmj.com/content/369/bmj.m1336. [Accessed 24 August 2020].

Kokudo, N. & Sugiyama, H., 2020. Call for international cooperation and collaboration to effectively tackle the COVID-19 pandemic. *Global Health and Medicine*.

LABELWISE, 2018. *LABELWISE*. [Online] Available at: belabelwise.co.za. [Accessed 23 May 2018].

Letete, T., 2015. South Africa's climate change response M&E system framework: High-level summary, Pretoria: Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA), Republic of South Africa.

Letzig, J., 2020. The economic toll of the coronavirus – from iPhones to solar panels to tourism. [Online] Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/02/economic-tollcoronavirus-manufacturing-tourism-china-asia/. [Accessed 18 March 2020]. Lewis, S. & Maslin, M., 2015. Defining the Anthropocene. *Nature*, 519, pp. 171–180.

Lorentzen, H., Benfield, T., Stisen, S. & Rahbek, C., 2020. COVID-19 is possibly a consequence of the anthropogenic biodiversity crisis and climate change. *Danish Medical Journal*, 67(5).

Maguire, G., 2020. Eskom a black mark for exporters facing carbon barriers. *Business Day*. [Online] Available at: https:// www.businesslive.co.za/bd/opinion/2020-02-25-eskom-ablack-mark-for-exporters-facing-carbon-barriers/. [Accessed 20 March 2020].

Mahase, E., 2020. COVID-19: Trump halts WHO funding in move labelled 'petulant' and 'short sighted'. *The BMJ*. [Online] Available at: https://www.bmj.com/content/369/bmj.m1502. [Accessed 24 August 2020].

Makgetla, N., Maseko, N., Montmasson-Clair, G. & Patel, M., 2019. National Employment Vulnerability Assessment: Analysis of potential climate-change related impacts and vulnerable groups. TIPS. [Online] Available at: https://www.tips.org.za/ images/National_Employment_Vulnerability_Assessment_ Analysis_of_potential_climate-change_related_impacts_and_ vulnerable_groups.pdf. [Accessed 3 February 2021].

Marinkovic, R., 2019. Are SMMEs left behind in a just transition? International Organisation of Employers. [Online] Available at: https://www.ioe-emp.org/news/ details/1568122062-are-smes-left-behind-in-a-just-transition. [Accessed 27 August 2020].

Marks, J. & Hidden, K., 2017. SMMEs and the Green Economy: Muddy Waters and Murky Futures. An investigation into the sustainable practices of small medium and micro manufacturing enterprises in South Africa's Gauteng Province, Johannesburg: J.P. Morgan and Gordon Institute of Business Science.

Martin, C., 2020. *Wind Turbine Blades Can't Be Recycled, So They're Piling Up in Landfills*. [Online] Available at: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/features/2020-02-05/wind-turbine-blades-can-t-be-recycled-so-they-re-piling-up-in-landfills. [Accessed 27 August 2020].

McCarthy, A., Dellink, R. & Bibas, R., 2018. *The macroeconomics of the circular economy transition: A critical review of modelling approaches*. OECD Environment Working Papers, No. 130, OECD publishing, Paris. [Online] Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/af983f9a-en. [Accessed 24 July 2020].

Meyfroidt, P., Chowdhury, R., De Bremond, A. & Ellis, E.C., 2018. Middle-range theories of land system change. *Global Environmental Change*, 53(1), pp. 52–67.

Ming-Wen, H., 2010. SMMEs and Economic Growth: Entrepreneurship or Employment. *ICIC Express Letters*, 4, pp. 2275–2280.

Mohamed, N., 2018. Inclusive sustainability transitions. In: N. Mohamed, ed. *Sustainability Transitions in South Africa*. Oxon and New York: Routledge, pp. 58–79.

Montmasson-Clair, G., 2013. *Tracking climate finance inflows to South Africa*. Paper prepared for the Climate Change Expert Group (CCXG) Global Forum, Paris. [Online] Available at: https:// www.oecd.org/env/cc/Tracking%20climate%20finance%20 inflows%20to%20South%20Africa.pdf. [Accessed 25 August 2020].

Montmasson-Clair, G., 2016. *Designing policy frameworks for a climate-compatible industrial development transition in South Africa*, Pretoria: Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies (TIPS) and Department of Trade and Industry (DTI).

Montmasson-Clair, G., 2017. *Governance for South Africa's Sustainability Transition: A critical review*, Pretoria and London: Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies (TIPS) and Green Economy Coalition.

Montmasson-Clair, G., 2018. Sustainability transitions and employment in South Africa: A multi-dimensional approach. In: N. Mohamed, ed. *Sustainability Transitions in South Africa*. Oxon and New York: Routledge, pp. 58–79.

Montmasson-Clair, G., 2019. *Rethinking strategies and policies for a green economy*. Concept document to inform the 2019 Partnership for Action on the Green Economy (PAGE), Cape Town: PAGE.

Montmasson-Clair, G., 2020. A case for renewable energy in South Africa's post-lockdown economic recovery stimulus package, Pretoria: Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies.

Montmasson-Clair, G. & Mudombi, S., 2019. *Economic inclusion in the green economy*. Concept document to inform the 2019 Partnership for Action on the Green Economy (PAGE) Conference, Cape Town: PAGE. Montmasson-Clair, G., Ryan, G., Smith, L. & Schoon, F., 2014. Setting South Africa on a Green Growth Path: A Benchmarking Exercise on Climate Change Mitigation Measures and Industrial Development, Pretoria: Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) and Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies.

Moodley, N., 2018. Hydrogen fuel cell vehicles set to drive platinum demand. *Platinum Outlook, SA Mining*. Business Media Mags. [Online] Available at: https:// businessmediamags.co.za/mining/sa-mining/platinumoutlook/:~:text=Hydrogen%20fuel%20cell%20vehicles%20 set%20to%20drive%20platinum%20demand.&text=If%20 the%20global%20automotive%20industry,(WPIC)%20CE0%20 Paul%20Wilson. [Accessed 4 February 2021].

Mourougane, A. et al., 2016. *Can an increase in public investment sustainability lift economic growth?* OECD Economics Department Working Papers, 1351.

Mudombi, S., 2018. *Nature in South Africa's transition to sustainability: A stocktake*, Pretoria and London: Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies (TIPS).

Mukonza, C. & Nhamo, G., 2016. Institutional and regulatory framework for biodiesel production: International perspectives and lessons for South Africa. *African Journal of Science, Technology, Innovation and Development*, 8, pp. 1–11.

Musyoki, A., 2012. The Emerging Policy for Green Economy and Social Development in Limpopo, South Africa (Occasional Paper Eight), Social Dimensions of Green Economy and Sustainable Development, s.l.: United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD).

Naidoo, S. & Goldstuck, A., 2016. *Experience and Lessons from South Africa: An Initial Review*. United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). [Online] Available at: http://unepinquiry. org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Experience_and_Lessons_ from_South_Africa.pdf. [Accessed 25 August 2020].

NBI, 2013. Barriers to private sector access to climate finance in South Africa, Johannesburg: National Business Institute (NBI).

Nicholls, S. & Vermaak, M., 2015. *It's the economy, stupid: Framing a conversation on the green economy*, Johannesburg: National Business Initiative (NBI). NOAA, 2019. NOAA's greenhouse gas index up 41 percent since 1990. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). [Online] Available at: https://research.noaa.gov/article/ ArtMID/587/ArticleID/2359/NOAA%E2%80%99s-greenhousegas-index-up-41-percent-since-1990. [Accessed 26 November 2019].

NRCAN, 2014. ecoENERGY Retrofit – homes program. Natural Resources Canada (NRCAN), Government of Canada. [Online] Available at: https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/energy-efficiency/ energy-efficiency-homes/what-energy-efficient-home/ ecoenergy-retrofit-homes-program/5003. [Accessed 25 July 2020].

NT, 2014. Review of green economy and climate finance: Overview of South Africa's key national initiatives. National Treasury, Republic of South Africa. [Online] Available at: https://www.gtac.gov.za/Whatsupeditions/Edition_2_2014_ files_/Review-of-Green-Economy-and-Climate-Finance.pdf. [Accessed 20 July 2020].

NT, 2020. 2020 Budget Speech. National Treasury (NT). Republic of South Africa. [Online] Available at: http://www. treasury.gov.za/documents/national%20budget/2020/speech/ speech.pdf. [Accessed 30 August 2020].

NT, 2020a. Media Statement: Calls for public comment on the draft technical paper on financing a sustainable economy. National Treasury (NT), Republic of South Africa. [Online] Available at: http://www.treasury.gov.za/comm_media/ press/2020/20200515%20Media%20Statement%20-%20 Financing%20A%20Sustainable%20Economy.pdf. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

NT, 2020b. Financing a Sustainable Economy Technical Paper Draft. National Treasury (NT), Republic of South Africa. [Online] Available at: http://www.treasury.gov.za/publications/other/ Sustainability%20technical%20paper%202020.pdf. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

NT, 2021. Draft Green Finance Taxonomy Working Draft Version 1.5. National Treasury (NT), Republic of South Africa. [Online] Available at: http://www.treasury.gov.za/public%20 comments/GreenFinance2021/Draft%20Green%20Finance%20 Taxonomy.pdf. [Accessed 14 August 2021].

Ntulie, N. & Semelane, S., 2019. *Closing the loop: sustainable consumption and production and the circular economy*. Concept document to inform the 2019 Partnership for Action on the Green Economy (PAGE) Conference, Cape Town: PAGE.

Nulkar, G., 2014. SMMEs and environmental performance – A framework for green business strategies. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 133, p. 130–140.

ODI, 2020. Country Fiscal and Monetary policy response tracker. Overseas Development Institute (ODI). [Online] Available at: https://set.odi.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/ Country-fiscal-and-monetary-policy-responses-to-coronavirus_ as-of-2-April2020.pdf. [Accessed 11 August 2020].

OECD, 2015. Environmental Policy Toolkit for Greening SMEs in EU Eastern Partnership Countries, Greening Economies in the European Union's Eastern Neighbourhood (EaP GREEN) programme, s.l.: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

OECD, 2018. Declaration on strengthening SMEs and entrepreneurship for productivity and inclusive growth, OECD Ministerial Conference on SMEs, Mexico City: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

OECD, 2020. Making the green recovery work for jobs, income and growth. OECD policy responses to COVID-19. [Online] Available at: https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policyresponses/making-the-green-recovery-work-for-jobs-incomeand-growth-a505f3e7/. [Accessed 21 January 2021].

Omondi, I., Rao, E., Karimov, A. & Baltenweck, I., 2017. Processor Linkages and Farm Household Productivity: Evidence from Dairy Hubs in East Africa. *Agribusiness*, 33, p. 586–599.

One Planet, n.d. *The One Planet Network – who we are. One Planet, handle with care.* [Online] Available at: https://www.oneplanetnetwork.org/who-we-are. [Accessed 25 July 2020].

PAGE, 2014. Mongolia's transition to a green economy: A stocktaking report. [Online] Available at: https://www.un-page. org/files/public/mongolia_green_economy_eg_full_nov12_ web.pdf. [Accessed 25 August 2020].

PAGE, 2016. Brazil: Building green economy infrastructure while maintaining natural resources and biodiversity. United Nations Partnership for Action on the Green Economy. [Online] Available at: http://www.un-page.org/brazil-building-greeneconomyinfrastructure-whilst-maintaining-natural-resourcesand-biodiversity. [Accessed 16 July 2020].

PAGE, 2017a. Green economy Inventory for South Africa: An overview, Pretoria: Partnership for Action on Green Economy (PAGE), DEA, ILO and UN Environment Programme.

PAGE, 2017b. *Kyrgyz Republic*. [Online] Available at: https://2017.page-annual-report.org/kyrgyz-republic/. [Accessed 25 July 2020].

PAGE, 2017c. The Green Economy Progress Measurement Framework – Methodology. PAGE. [Online] Available at: https:// www.un-page.org/files/public/general/gep_methodology.pdf. [Accessed 6 March 2021].

PAGE, 2019a. Advancing inclusive and sustainable economies: A report on the 2019 PAGE Ministerial Conference. Partnership for Action on the Green Economy (PAGE). Report commissioned by Department of Environmental Affairs, Republic of South Africa through GIZ. [Online] Available at: https://www.environment. gov.za/sites/default/files/reports/page-conference-report2019.pdf. [Accessed 15 May 2020].

PAGE, 2019b. Third PAGE Ministerial Conference: Event greening and carbon footprint report, Cape Town: PAGE.

PAGE, 2019c. Advancing inclusive and sustainable economies: Cape Town Action Pathways towards 2030. Third Ministerial Conference of the Partnership for Action on Green Economy (PAGE), 10 to 11 January 2019, Cape Town South Africa: PAGE.

PAGE, n.d. *About PAGE*. [Online] Available at: https://www.un-page.org/about/who-we-are. [Accessed 9 July 2020].

PAGE, n.d. *South Africa*. Partnership for Action on Green Economy (PAGE). [Online] Available at: https://www.un-page. org/countries/page-countries/south-africa. [Accessed 20 August 2020].

Page, J. & Söderbom, M., 2015. *Is Small Beautiful? Small Enterprise, Aid and Employment in Africa* (Unpublished Revised Draft), Helsinki: United Nations University World Institute for Development Economics Research.

Palma, J., 2016. *Do nations just get the inequality they deserve? The Palma Ratio Re-examined*, Cambridge, UK: University of Cambridge.

Paris21, 2017. Mongolia uses ADAPT to map indicators on sustainable development vision 2030 with SDGs. [Online] Available at: https://paris21.org/news-center/news/mongoliauses-adapt-map-indicators-sustainable-development-vision-2030-sdgs. [Accessed 15 July 2020].

PDC, n.d. *About*. Portfolio Decarbonisation Coalition. [Online] Available at: https://unepfi.org/pdc/about/. [Accessed 23 July 2020]. PICC, 2020. Strategic Integrated Projects. Presidential Infrastructure Coordinating Commission Council (PICC), Department of Public Works and Infrastructure. Government Notice No. 812, 24 July 2020, Pretoria: Republic of South Africa.

Potugal-Pereira, J., Doll, C., Suwa, A. & Puppim de Oliveira, J., 2013. The sustainable mobility-congestion nexus: A cobenefits approach to finding win-win solutions. *Transport and Communications Bulletin for Asia and the Pacific*, 82.

PRI, 2020. What are the Principles for Responsible Investment? Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI). [Online] Available at: https://www.unpri.org/pri/an-introductionto-responsible-investment/what-are-the-principles-forresponsible-investment. [Accessed 22 July 2020].

Project 90, 2018a. *The role of ownership in a just energy transition*. [Online] Available at: https://90by2030.org.za/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Just-Energy-Transition-low-res.pdf. [Accessed 25 August 2020].

Project 90, 2018b. Just energy transition: Community ownership, jobs and the future of renewable energy systems. [Online] Available at: https://90by2030.org.za/wp-content/ uploads/2019/01/3.-Reflection-Paper_Proof-3_18Dec2018_ HighRes.pdf.[Accessed 25 August 2020].

Project 90, 2018c. Ownership in the Renewable Energy Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme (REI4P). [Online] Available at: https://90by2030.org.za/wp-content/ uploads/2019/03/REI4P-Hi-Res.pdf. [Accessed 25 August 2020].

Quam, V., Rocklov, J., Quam, M. & Lucas, R., 2017. Assessing greenhouse gas and health co-benefits: A structures review of lifestyle-related climate change mitigation strategies. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(5), p. 468.

Ramey, V., 2019. Ten years after the financial crisis: What have we learned from the renaissance in fiscal research? *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 33(2), pp. 89–114.

Reinaud, J. & Goldberg, A., 2012. *Ten key messages for effective policy packages: Sharing best practices in industrial energy efficiency policies*, Washington, D.C.: Institute for Industrial Productivity.

Rennkamp, B., Burton, J. & Naudé, L., 2018. *Redirecting fossil fuel subsidies to fund sustainable development*. [Online] Available at: https://wwfafrica.awsassets.panda.org/ downloads/wwf_2018_redirecting_fossil_fuel_subsidies_to_ fund_sus_dev.pdf?26802/redirecting-fossil-fuel-subsidies-tofund-sustainable-development. [Accessed 30 August 2020].

Reuters, 2019. Sweden's central bank dumps Australian bonds over high emissions. *The Guardian*. [Online] Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/nov/15/ swedens-central-bank-dumps-australian-bonds-over-highemissions. [Accessed 20 March 2020].

Rimmer, S., 2017. Gender-smart procurement policies for driving change. Chatham House. The Royal Institute of International Affairs. [Online] Available at: https://www.chathamhouse.org/ sites/default/files/publications/research/Gender-smart%20 Procurement%20-%2020.12.2017.pdf. [Accessed 21 July 2020].

RSA, 2011a. National Development Plan 2030. Our future – make it work. National Planning Commission, Republic of South Africa (RSA). [Online] Available at: https://www.gov.za/sites/ default/files/gcis_document/201409/ndp-2030-our-futuremake-it-workr.pdf. [Accessed 7 July 2020].

RSA, 2011b. National Strategy for Sustainable Development and Action Plan (NSSD 1). Department of Environmental Affrairs, Republic of South Africa. [Online] Available at: https:// www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/201409/ sustainabledevelopmentactionplanstrategy0.pdf. [Accessed 7 July 2020].

RSA, 2011. *Green Economy Accord*. Economic Development Department, Republic of South Africa. [Online] Available at: http://www.economic.gov.za/communications/publications/ green-economy-accord. [Accessed 8 July 2020].

RSA, 2018. National Climate Change Adaptation Strategy, Pretoria: Department of Environmental Affairs, Republic of South Africa.

RSA, 2018. The Presidential Jobs Summit Framework Agreement. National Economic Development and Labour Council (NEDLAC), Republic of South Africa. [Online] Available at: http://nedlac.org.za/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/ PRESIDENTIAL-JOBS-SUMMIT-FRAMEWORK-AGREEMENT-4-October-2018.pdf. [Accessed 8 July 2020]. RSA, 2019. Act No. 15 of 2019:Carbon Tax Act, 2019. Government Gazette. [Online] Available at: https://www.gov. za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/201905/4248323-5act15of2019carbontaxact.pdf. [Accessed 20 July 2020].

RSA, 2020a. *The South African Economic Reconstruction and Recovery Plan*, Pretoria: Republic of South Africa.

RSA, 2020b. President Cyril Ramaphosa appoints Presidential Climate Change Coordinating Commission. South African Government, Republic of South Africa. [Online] Available at: https://www.gov.za/speeches/president-cyril-ramaphosaappoints-presidential-climate-change-coordinatingcommission%C2%A0-17:~:text=President%20Cyril%20 Ramaphosa%20has%20appointed,effect%20from%2017%20 December%202020.&text=The%20Commission%20is%20 tasked%2. [Accessed 20 January 2021].

RSB, 2019. Solaris oil to pave the way for scaling up RSBcertified sustainable local fuel supply in South Africa. Roundtable on Sustainable Biomaterials (RSB). [Online] Available at: https://rsb.org/2019/11/29/solaris-oil-to-pave-theway-for-scaling-up-rsb-certified-sustainable-local-fuel-supplyin-south-africa/. [Accessed 29 July 2020].

SAFTU, 2018. Declaration of the Working-Class Summit, 21–22 July 2018, Soweto. [Online] Available at: saftu.org.za/ declaration-of-the-working-class-summit-21-22-july-2018soweto. [Accessed 15 August 2019].

SAMRC, 2021. *Report on Weekly Deaths in South Africa*. South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC). [Online] Available at: https://www.samrc.ac.za/reports/report-weeklydeaths-south-africa. [Accessed 7 March 2021].

SARB, 2020. *Quarterly Bulletin*. December 2020. [Online] Available at: https://www.resbank.co.za/content/dam/ sarb/publications/quarterly-bulletins/quarterly-bulletinpublications/2020/qb-dec-2020/01 Full Quarterly Bulletin.pdf. [Accessed 19 January 2021].

SARB, 2021. *Rates, CPI*. South African Reserve Bank (SARB). [Online] Available at: https://www.resbank.co.za/Pages/ default.aspx. [Accessed 7 March 2021].

SASB, 2018. *Mission*. Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB). [Online] Available at: https://www.sasb.org/ governance/. [Accessed 22 July 2020]. SBN, 2018. Country progress report. Addendum to SBN Global Progress Report: Brazil. Sustainable Banking Network (SBN) and International Finance Corporation (IFC). [Online] Available at: http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/ en/521651520939306402/pdf/124225-WP-BR-SBN-Country-Progress-Report-Brazil-PUBLIC.pdf. [Accessed 20 July 2020].

Schafer, M., Jaeger-Erben, M. & dos Santos, A., 2011. Leapfrogging on sustainable consumption? An explorative survey of consumption habits and orientations in Southern Brazil. *Journal of Consumption Policy*, 34, pp. 175–196.

Scholtz, L. et al., 2020. Deep Transition: Delving into social and economic justice in transitions to a climate-responsive economy. Report to the Lewis Foundation. s.l.:Unpublished.

SEED, 2014. SEED South Africa Symposium 2014 Summary Report, s.l.: SEED.

SEED, 2015. Shaping Sustainable Development through Ecoentrepreneurship, Berlin: SEED.

SEED, 2018. Unique Quality Product Enterprise. Empowering marginalised women in Ghana through reviving the cultivation of indigenous crops, Berlin: SEED.

Seeliger, L. & Turok, I., 2016. The Green Economy Accord: Launchpad for a green transition? In: M. Swilling, J. Musango & J. Wakeford, eds. *Greening the South African Economy: Scoping the issues, challenges and opportunities*. Cape Town: UCT Press.

Shaibani, M., 2020. Solar panel recycling: Turning ticking time bombs into opportunities. [Online] Available at: https://www. pv-magazine.com/2020/05/27/solar-panel-recycling-turningticking-time-bombs-into-opportunities/. [Accessed 27 August 2020].

Sibeko, B. & Isaacs, G., 2020. A fiscal stimulus for South Africa, Johannesburg: Institute for Economic Justice.

Sierra, W., 2016. Uruguay: Revolution Rather than Energy Transition? The Heinrich Böll Foundation. [Online] Available at: https://us.boell.org/en/2016/06/20/uruguayrevolution-rather-energy-transition. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

Smit, S., 2015. Towards an "inclusive green economy" for South Africa: Engaging with the informal economy, Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University.

Smit, S. & Musango, J., 2015. Exploring the connections between green economy and informal economy in South Africa. *South African Journal of Science*, 111(10–12), pp. 1–10. Somanathan, E. et al., 2014. National and sub-national policies and institutions. In: O. Edenhofer, et al. eds. *Climate change 2014: Mitigation of climate change*. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, USA: Cambridge University Press, pp. 1141– 1205.

Sonnichsen, A. & Clement, J., 2020. Review of green and sustainable public procurement: Towards circular public procurement. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 245.

SSE, 2019. About the SSE initiative. Sustainable Stock Exchanges Initiative (SSE). [Online] Available at: https:// sseinitiative.org/about/. [Accessed 22 July 2020].

Stafford, W. & Faccer, K., 2014. *Steering towards a Green Economy: A reference guide*, GWDMS StelGen 13604 v2: Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR).

Stats SA, 2016. *Community Survey 2016.Statistical Release*, P0301, Pretoria: Statistics South Africa.

Stats SA, 2017. Poverty trends in South Africa: An examination of absolute poverty between 2006 and 2015, Pretoria: Statistics South Africa. Report No. 03-10-06.

Stats SA, 2019a. Inequality Trends in South Africa. A multidimensional diagnostic of inequality. Statistics South Africa. [Online] Available at: http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/Report-03-10-19/Report-03-10-192017.pdf. [Accessed 20 August 2020].

Stats SA, 2019b. *Quarterly Labour Force Survey: Quarter 3:* 2019. Statistics South Africa. [Online] Available at: http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0211/P02113rdQuarter2019.pdf. [Accessed 20 August 2020].

Stats SA, 2020. *Quarterly Labour Force Survey, Quarter 4: 2020.* Statistics South Africa. [Online] Available at: http://www. statssa.gov.za/publications/P0211/P02114thQuarter2020.pdf. [Accessed 7 March 2021].

Stats SA, 2020. *Quarterly Labour Force Survey. Quarter 1: 2020.* Statistical release P0211. Statistics South Africa (Stats SA). [Online] Available at: http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/ P0211/P02111stQuarter2020.pdf. [Accessed 25 August 2020]. Stavins, R. et al., 2014. International Cooperation: Agreements and Instruments. In: O. Edenhofer, et al. eds. *Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change*. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.

Steele, W., Alizadeh, T., Eslami-Andargoli, L. & Serrao-Neumann, S., 2014. *Planning across borders in a climate of change*. London, UK: Routledge.

Steffen, W. et al., 2015a. The trajectory of the Anthropocene: The Great Acceleration. *The Anthropocene Review*, 2(1), pp. 81–98.

Steffen, W. et al., 2015b. Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, 347(6223), p. 736.

Stiglitz, J., 2020. Four priorities for Pandemic Relief Efforts. Roosevelt Institute.

Sunchem International, 2020. *About Sunchem*. [Online] Available at: https://www.sunchem.nl/about-sunchem/. [Accessed 29 July 2020].

Tanaka, K., 2011. Review of policies and measures for energy efficiency in industry sector. *Energy Policy*, 39(10), pp. 6532–6550.

Testa, F., Annunziata, E., Iraldo, F. & Frey, M., 2016. Drawbacks and opportunities of green public procurement: an effective tool for sustainable production. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 112, pp. 1839–1900.

The Innovation Hub, n.d. *Climate Innovation Centre South Africa*. [Online] Available at: https://www.theinnovationhub.com/ business-incubators/climate-innovation-centre-south-africa-6. [Accessed 26 August 2020]..

The Lab, 2020. *Shovel-ready climate finance projects*. The Climate Finance Lab. [Online] Available at: https://www. climatefinancelab.org/. [Accessed 22 July 2020].

The Paris Club, n.d. *About us. The Paris Club.* [Online] Available at: https://clubdeparis.org/. [Accessed 25 August 2020].

The Presidency, 2020. From the desk of the President, Monday 24 August 2020. [Online] Available at: http://www. thepresidency.gov.za/newsletters/desk-president%2Cmonday%2C-24-august-2020. [Accessed 29 August 2020]. TIPS, 2013. Trade and climate change: Exploring the impact on South African Business. Summary of the Round Table discussion. Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies. [Online] Available at: http://www.tips.org.za/files/trade_and_climate_ change_roundtable_summary_23_october_2013.pdf. [Accessed 14 January 2020].

TIPS, 2017a. *SEIAS Review* (Draft Report), Pretoria: Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies (TIPS).

TIPS, 2017b. The Real Economy Bulletin. Special Edition: The State of Small Business in South Africa, Pretoria: Trade & Industrial Policy Strategies.

TIPS, 2020a. The SJRP Toolbox: Summary for policy makers. [Online] Available at: https://www.tips.org.za/images/ TIPS_for_DEFF-dtic_-_SJRP_-_Summary_for_Policy_Makers_ May_2020.pdf. [Accessed 3 February 2021].

TIPS, 2020b. *COVID-19: Reconstruction post lockdown*. TIPS Development Dialogue, 4 June 2020. Pretoria: Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies (TIPS).

TIPS, 2020c. The economy and the pandemic. 13–26 July. Tracking the trends and analysing the COVID-19 pandemic and responses, Pretoria: Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies (TIPS).

Troëng, S., Barbier, E. & Rodríguez, C., 2020. *The COVID-19* pandemic is not a break for nature – let's make sure there is one after the crisis. World Economic Forum. [Online] Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/05/covid-19coronavirus-pandemic-nature-environment-green-stimulusbiodiversity/. [Accessed 28 July 2020].

Tsioumani, E., 2020. *Re-imagining the Post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework in the COVID-19 Era*. International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD). [Online] Available at: https://sdg.iisd.org/commentary/policy-briefs/re-imagining-the-post-2020-global-biodiversity-framework-in-the-covid-19-era/. [Accessed 24 August 2020].

UN, 2015a. *The Sustainable Development Agenda*. United Nations. [Online] Available at: https://www.un.org/ga/search/ view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/70/1&Lang=E. [Accessed 7 July 2020].

UN, 2015b. Addis Ababa Action Agenda of the Third International Conference on Financing for Development, New York: United Nations. UN, 2017. Progress towards the Sustainable Development Goals. Report of the Secretary-General. United Nations Economic and Social Council. [Online] Available at: http://www.un.org/ga/ search/view_doc.asp?symbol=E/2017/66&Lang=E. [Accessed 27 July 2020].

UNCC, 2020. The Clean Development Mechanism. United Nations Climate Change. [Online] Available at: https://unfccc. int/process-and-meetings/the-kyoto-protocol/mechanismsunder-the-kyoto-protocol/the-clean-development-mechanism. [Accessed 20 July 2020].

UNCTAD, 2014. World Investment Report. Investing in the SDGs: An Action Plan, New York and Geneva: United Nations Conference on Trade and Development.

UNDESA, 2005. Johannesburg Plan of Implementation. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA). [Online] Available at: https://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/ documents/WSSD_POI_PD/English/POIToc.htm. [Accessed 24 July 2020].

UNDESA, 2012. A guidebook to the green economy. Issue 3: exploring green economy policies and international experience with national strategies. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affarirs (UN-DESA). [Online] Available at: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/ documents/738GE%20Publication.pdf. [Accessed 20 July 2020].

UNDESA, 2014. The 10 Year Framework of Programmes on Sustainable Consumption and Production Patterns (10YFP). United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA). [Online] Available at: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/index. php?page=view&type=400&nr=1444&menu=35. [Accessed 24 July 2020].

UNDG, 2015. The World We Want. Dialogues on the implementation of the post-2015 development agenda. United Nations Development Group. [Online] Available at: https://www. un.org/millenniumgoals/pdf/UNDG%202nd%20dialogues.pdf. [Accessed 25 July 2020].

UNDP, 2017. Development finance assessment and integrated financing solutions. Achieving the SDGs in the era of the Addis Ababa Action Agenda. United Nations Development Programme. [Online] Available at: https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/search. html?q=Development+Finance+Assessment+and+Integrated+ Financing+Solutions. [Accessed 20 July 2020]. UNECA, 2018. 2018 Africa sustainable development report: Towards a transformed and resilient continent. United Nations Economic Commission for Africa (UNECA). [Online] Available at: https://www.uneca.org/sites/default/files/PublicationFiles/ asdr_2018_en_web.pdf. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

UNEP FI, n.d. *Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures*. UNEP Finance Initiative. [Online] Available at: https://www.unepfi.org/climate-change/tcfd/:~:text=The%20 Task%20Force%20on%20Climate,in%20providing%20 information%20to%20stakeholders. [Accessed 22 July 2020].

UNEP, 2011. Towards a green economy: Pathways to sustainable development and poverty reduction, Paris: United Nations Environment Programme.

UNEP, 2014. Green Economy Assessment Study – SENEGAL. United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). [Online] Available at: https://www.greengrowthknowledge.org/ sites/default/files/downloads/resource/Green_Economy_ Assessment_Study_Senegal_UNEP.pdf. [Accessed 29 August 2020].

UNEP, 2015. Sustainable consumption and production: A handbook for policymakers. United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). [Online] Available at: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/ documents/1951Sustainable%20Consumption.pdf. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

UN Environment Programme, 2018. *Guyana launches GSDS Inter-Ministerial and Multi-Stakeholder Advisory Committee and hosts UN Regional Director for "Green Conversations"*, Georgetown: UN Environment Programme.

UNEP, 2020. COVID-19 and the nature trade-off paradigm. Interview with Pushpam Kumar, United Nations Environment Programme, Chief Environmental Economist. [Online] Available at: https://www.unenvironment.org/news-and-stories/story/ covid-19-and-nature-trade-paradigm. [Accessed 18 August 2020].

UNEP-WCMC, 2012. A Three Year Investigation into the Triple Bottom Line Performance of Small and Micro Social and Environmental Enterprises in Developing Countries: Part 1: Survey Results for 1337 SMMEs, s.l.: SEED Initiative and the International Institute for Sustainable Development. UNFCCC, 2016. Adoption of the Paris Agreement. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. [Online] Available at: https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2015/cop21/ eng/10a01.pdf. [Accessed 7 July 2020].

UNGC, n.d. We are driving change across all aspects of corporate sustainability. United Nations Global Compact. [Online] Available at: https://www.unglobalcompact.org/whatis-gc/our-work/. [Accessed 2020 July 2020].

UNSD, 1992. Agenda 21. United Nations Conference on Environment and Development. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 3–14 June 1992. United Nations Sustainable Development (UNSD). [Online] Available at: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/ documents/Agenda21.pdf. [Accessed 24 July 2020].

WCG, 2015. Sustainable public procurement policy update. An overview to inform implementation in Western Cape Government, Cape Town: Western Cape Government (WCG).

WEF, 2019. The Global Competitiveness Report 2019. World Economic Forum (WEF). [Online] Available at: http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_ TheGlobalCompetitivenessReport2019.pdf. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

WEF, 2020a. New Nature Economy Report II: The Future of Nature, Geneva, Switzerland: World Economic Forum.

WEF, 2020b. *Challenges and Opportunities in the Post-COVID-19 World*, Geneva, Switzerland: World Economic Forum.

WHO, 2020. COVID-19 significantly impacts health services for noncommunicable diseases. World Health Organisation (WHO). [Online] Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/ detail/01-06-2020-covid-19-significantly-impacts-healthservices-for-noncommunicable-diseases. [Accessed 28 July 2020].

Willcox, O., 2020. *Macroeconomic response to COVID-19*, Pretoria: Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies (TIPS).

World Bank, 2012. Green infrastructure finance: Framework report. World Bank Studies, Washington D.C.: The World Bank.

World Bank, 2013. From Brown Growth to Green: the Economic Benefits of Climate Action. The World Bank. [Online] Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/ feature/2013/06/25/growing-green-europe-and-central-asia. [Accessed 18 August 2020]. World Bank, 2014a. *CO*₂ *emissions (metric tons per capita)* – *South Africa, China, World, Nigeria, United States, European Union, Sub-Saharan Africa.* The World Bank. [Online] Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/EN.ATM.CO2E. PC?end=2014&locations=ZA-CN-1W-NG-US-EU-ZG&name_ desc=false&start=2014&view=bar. [Accessed 20 August 2020].

World Bank, 2014b. Building Competitive Green Industries: The Climate and Clean Technology Opportunity for Developing Countries, Washington, D.C.: International Bank for Reconstruction and Development and The World Bank.

World Bank, 2017. Benchmarking public procurement. Assessing public procurement regulatory systems in 180 economies. The World Bank. [Online] Available at: http://documents1.worldbank. org/curated/en/121001523554026106/Benchmarking-Public-Procurement-2017-Assessing-Public-Procurement-Regulatory-Systems-in-180-Economies.pdf. [Accessed 21 July 2020].

World Bank, 2020a. *The Global Economic Outlook during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Changed World*. The World Bank. [Online] Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/ feature/2020/06/08/the-global-economic-outlook-during-thecovid-19-pandemic-a-changed-world. [Accessed 28 July 2020].

World Bank, 2020b. *Carbon Pricing Dashboard*. The World Bank. [Online] Available at: https://carbonpricingdashboard. worldbank.org/map_data. [Accessed 31 August 2020].

World Bank, 2021. GDP per capita (current US\$) – United States, China, South Africa, Nigeria, European Union, Sub-Saharan Africa, World. The World Bank. [Online] Available at: https:// data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD?locations=US-CN-ZA-NG-EU-ZG-1W. [Accessed 1 February 2021].

Worldometer, 2021. *COVID-19 Coronavirus Pandemic*. Worldometer. [Online] Available at: https://www.worldometers. info/coronavirus/. [Accessed 28 June 2021].

Wüstemann, H. et al., 2017. Synergies and trade-offs between nature conservation and climate policy: Insights from the "Natural Capital Germany – TEEB DE" study. *Ecosystem Services*, 24, pp. 187–199.

WWF-SA, 2016. *Water: Facts and Futures*, Cape Town: World Wide Fund for Nature South Africa.

WWF, 2018a. *Living Planet Report – 2018*, Gland, Switzerland: WWF. Grooten, M. and Almond, R.E.A. (Eds).

WWF-SA, 2018b. *The Water Files. Communicating in a time of water crisis,* Cape Town: World Wide Fund for Nature South Africa.

WWF, 2020a. Africa in the context of COVID-19. Economic measures for a green and just recovery. Messages for governments and pan-African organisations, Gland, Switzerland: World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF).

WWF-SA, 2020b. Green Outcomes Fund call to small green businesses and fund managers. [Online] Available at: https:// www.wwf.org.za/our_news/news/?31543/Green-Outcomes-Fund-call-to-small-green-businesses-and-fund-managers. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

WWF-SA, 2020c. *Prescient Living Planet Fund*. [Online] Available at: https://dtnac4dfluyw8.cloudfront.net/downloads/ prescient_living_planet_fund_with_disclaimer_march_2020. pdf. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

WWF-SA, n.d. *The Sustainable Landscape Finance Coalition*. WWF-SA and the Wilderness Foundation. [Online] Available at: https://dtnac4dfluyw8.cloudfront.net/downloads/landscape_ finance_coalition_1_pager.pdf. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

WWF-SA, n.d. WWF-SA and Six Capitals ESG Advisory announce strategic collaboration to provide environmental, social and governance (ESG) guidance & tools for the South African investment industry. [Online] Available at: https:// dtnac4dfluyw8.cloudfront.net/downloads/wwf_sa__six_ capitals_announcement_on_esg_collaboration__2_pdf. [Accessed 26 August 2020].

Zenghelis, D. et al., 2020. *Valuing wealth, building prosperity.* Wealth Economy first year report to LetterOne, Cambridge: Bennett Institute for Public Policy.

Zenizeni Sustainable Finance, 2019. *Show me the money: How do we unlock green finance*. Concept document to inform the 2019 Partnership for Action on the Green Economy (PAGE) Conference, Cape Town: PAGE.

Zikhali, P., Gulati, M. & Ngwenya, P., 2016. Financing the green economy. In: M. Swelling, J. Wakeford & J. Musango, eds. *Greening the South African Economy. Scoping issues, challenges and opportunities.* s.l.:UCT Press.





Department of Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment

National office: Environment House, Cnr. Steve Biko and Soutpansberg Road, 473 Steve Biko, Arcadia, Pretoria, 0083 South Africa

Tel: +27 86 111 2468 E-mail: callcentre@environment.gov.za

https://www.environment.gov.za/



forestry, fisheries & the environment Department: Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA







Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety

of the Federal Republic of Germany